
 

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of 

this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.  

 

This announcement is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe 

for securities. This announcement does not constitute or form a part of any offer or solicitation to purchase or subscribe for securities 

in the United States. The securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 

“Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction, and may not be offered or sold 

within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 

Securities Act. Accordingly, the Bonds are being offered and sold only outside the United States in offshore transactions in compliance 

with Regulation S under the Securities Act. This announcement and the information contained herein are not for distribution, directly 

or indirectly, in or into the United States. No public offer of the securities referred to herein is being or will be made in the United 

States. 

 

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein have been published for information purposes only as required by the 

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and do not constitute an offer to sell nor 

a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. Neither this announcement nor anything referred to herein (including the listing 

document) forms the basis for any contract or commitment whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, the publication of this 

announcement and the listing document referred to herein shall not be deemed to be an offer of securities made pursuant to a prospectus 

issued by or on behalf of the issuer for the purposes of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 

32) of Hong Kong nor shall it constitute an advertisement, invitation or document containing an invitation to the public to enter into 

or offer to enter into an agreement to acquire, dispose of, subscribe for or underwrite securities for the purposes of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong. 

 

 

HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED  

(華信藥業（香港）有限公司) 

 (incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) 

U.S.$60,000,000 2.6 per cent. Credit Enhanced Bonds due 2024 (the “Bonds”) 

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by  

  

TAIZHOU HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL INVESTMENT CO., LTD. 

(泰州華信藥業投資有限公司) 

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability) 

with the benefit of an irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit issued by  

BANK OF JIANGSU CO., LTD. TAIZHOU BRANCH 

(Stock Code: 40571) 

 

PUBLICATION OF THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 

 

This announcement is issued pursuant to Rule 37.39A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange”). 

 

Please refer to the information memorandum dated 27 January 2021 (the “Information 

Memorandum”) appended herein in relation to the issuance of the Bonds. As disclosed in the 

Information Memorandum, the Bonds were intended for purchase by professional investors only (as 

defined in Chapter 37 of the Listing Rules) (“Professional Investors”) and will be listed on the Hong 

Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. 

 



 

Notice to Hong Kong Investors: Each of Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (華信

藥業（香港）有限公司) (the “Issuer”) and Taizhou Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. 

(泰州華信藥業投資有限公司) (the “Guarantor”) confirms that the Bonds are intended for purchase 

by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. 

Accordingly, each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Bonds are not appropriate as an 

investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved. 

 

The Information Memorandum does not constitute a prospectus, notice, circular, brochure or 

advertisement offering to sell any securities to the public in any jurisdiction, nor is it an invitation to 

the public to make offers to subscribe for or purchase any securities, nor is it circulated to invite offers 

by the public to subscribe for or purchase any securities.  

 

The Information Memorandum must not be regarded as an inducement to subscribe for or purchase 

any securities of the Issuer and the Guarantor, and no such inducement is intended. No investment 

decision should be made based on the information contained in the Information Memorandum. 

 

Hong Kong, 1 February 2021 

 

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Issuer are Ms. Wu Zhilan and Mr. Hang 

Xiang. 

 

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Guarantor are Mr. Zhang Youfeng, Mr. Yang 

Bin, Mr. Hang Xiang, Mr. Wang Jianhui, and Ms. Wu Zhilan. 



IMPORTANT NOTICE 

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES. THIS PRIVATE PLACEMENT IS 
AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE ADDRESSEES OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES. 

IMPORTANT: You must read the following disclaimer before continuing. The following disclaimer applies to the attached information 
memorandum (the “Information Memorandum”). You are advised to read this disclaimer carefully before accessing, reading or making 
any other use of the attached Information Memorandum. In accessing the attached Information Memorandum, you agree to be bound by the 
following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them from time to time, each time you receive any information as a result of 
such access. In order to be eligible to view the attached Information Memorandum or make an investment decision with respect to the 
securities, investors must be outside the United States. 

Confirmation of Your Representation: This Information Memorandum is being sent to you at your request and by accepting the e-mail and 
accessing the attached Information Memorandum, you shall be deemed to represent to Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited 
(the “Issuer”), Taizhou Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. (the “Guarantor” or the “Company”), Guoyuan Capital (Hong Kong) 
Limited, China Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited, Zhongtai International Securities Limited, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. 
Hong Kong Branch, Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, Fosun Hani Securities Limited, Dongxing 
Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Central Wealth Securities Investment Limited  (collectively, the “Placing Agents”) that (1) 
you and any customers you represent are outside the United States and that the e-mail address that you gave us and to which this e-mail has 
been delivered is not located in the United States, its territories or possessions, and (2) you consent to the delivery of the attached 
Information Memorandum and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission. 

The attached Information Memorandum has been made available to you in electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via 
this medium may be altered or changed during the process of transmission and, consequently, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing 
Agents, the Trustee or the Agents (as defined in the attached Information Memorandum) or any of their respective affiliates, directors, 
officers, employees, representatives, agents, advisers or any person who controls any of them accepts any liability or responsibility 
whatsoever in respect of any discrepancies between the document distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available 
to you upon request from the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Placing Agents. 

Restrictions: The attached Information Memorandum is being furnished in connection with an offering in offshore transactions to persons 
outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) solely for the 
purpose of enabling a prospective investor to consider the purchase of the securities described herein. 

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE 
UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT 
BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE 
OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD 
WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT 
SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL 
SECURITIES LAWS. THE OFFERING IS MADE SOLELY OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN OFFSHORE 
TRANSACTIONS IN RELIANCE OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. 

You are reminded that you have accessed the attached Information Memorandum on the basis that you are a person into whose possession 
the attached Information Memorandum may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located 
and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver this document, electronically or otherwise, to any other person. If you have gained access 
to this transmission contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you are not allowed to purchase any of the securities described in the attached 
Information Memorandum. 

Actions that You May Not Take: If you receive this document by e-mail, you should not reply by e-mail to this document, and you may not 
purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the “Reply” function on your 
e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected. 

YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED TO AND YOU MAY NOT FORWARD OR DELIVER THE ATTACHED INFORMATION 
MEMORANDUM, ELECTRONICALLY OR OTHERWISE, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR REPRODUCE SUCH 
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR 
REPRODUCTION OF THE ATTACHED INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. 
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE 
APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. 

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (the “SFA”) - In connection with 
Section 309B of the SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the 
Issuer has determined the classification of the Bonds as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and 
Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-
N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). 

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. If you receive this document by e-mail, your use of this e-mail 
is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



 

 

INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DATED 27 JANUARY 2021 STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 

HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED 
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) 

U.S.$ 60,000,000 2.6 per cent. Credit Enhanced Bonds due 2024 
unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by  

 
TAIZHOU HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL INVESTMENT CO., LTD. 

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability) 
with the benefit of an irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit issued by  

BANK OF JIANGSU CO., LTD. TAIZHOU BRANCH 
Issue Price: 100.0 per cent. 

The 2.6 per cent. credit enhanced bonds in the aggregate principal amount of U.S.$ 60,000,000 (the “Bonds”) will be issued by Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (the 
“Issuer”) and will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed (the “Guarantee”) by Taizhou Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. (the “Guarantor” or the “Company”), a 
company incorporated under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Issuer is a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.  
Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds will have the benefit of an irrevocable standby letter of credit (the “Standby Letter of Credit”) denominated in U.S. dollars and 
issued by the Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Taizhou Branch (the “LC Bank”). See “Appendix A – Form of Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit” for the form of the Standby Letter of Credit. 
The Bonds will be issued through a private placement. 
The Bonds will constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among 
themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law, at all times rank at least equally with all its other 
present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. 
The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including 29 January 2021 (the “Issue Date”) at the rate of 2.6 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in 
arrear on 29 January and 29 July in each year, commencing on 29 July 2021.  
All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without 
withholding or deduction for or on account of, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by Hong Kong 
or the PRC to the extent described in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Taxation”. 
The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and 
future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. The Guarantor will enter into a deed of guarantee (the “Deed of Guarantee”) with Citicorp International Limited (the “Trustee”) on or 
around the Issue Date.  
The Guarantor will register or cause to be registered with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange or its local branch (“SAFE”), the Deed of Guarantee within 15 Registration 
Business Days (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds (the “Conditions”)) after the Issue Date, in accordance with the Foreign Exchange Administration Rules on Cross-
Border Guarantees (跨境擔保外匯管理規定), use its reasonable endeavours to complete the Cross-border Security Registration and obtain a registration certificate from SAFE (or any 
other document evidencing the completion of registration issued by SAFE) on or before the Registration Deadline and comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in relation to 
the Guarantee. 
Pursuant to the Notice on Promoting the Reform of the Filing and Registration System for Issuance of Foreign Debt by Enterprises (國家發展改革委關於推進企業發行外債備案登記

制管理改革的通知) (the “NDRC Notice”) promulgated by National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its local counterparts (the “NDRC”) on 14 September 2015 
which came into effect on the same day, the Guarantor has registered the issuance of the Bonds with the NDRC and obtained a certificate from the NDRC on 23 October 2020 evidencing 
such registration. Pursuant to the NDRC Notice, the Guarantor will file or cause to be filed with the NDRC the requisite information and documents within the prescribed time period 
after the Issue Date. 
Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at their principal amount on 29 January 2024 (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds may be redeemed 
at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, at their principal amount (together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption, if (i) the Issuer 
satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that the it (or, if the Guarantee were called, the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay Additional Tax Amounts 
(as defined in the Conditions) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or the PRC or, in each case, any political subdivision or any authority 
thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including but not limited to any decision by a court of 
competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes effective on or after 27 January 2021, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case 
may be) taking reasonable measures available to it. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons”. At any time following the 
occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined in the Conditions), the holder of any Bond will have the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only 
of that holder’s Bonds on the Put Settlement Date (as defined in the Conditions) at 100 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued interest up to but excluding such Put 
Settlement Date. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Change of Control”. Upon the occurrence of a No Registration Event (as defined 
in the Conditions), the holder of any Bond will have the right, at such holder's option, to require the Issuer to redeem on the No Registration Event redemption date (as defined in the 
Conditions) all, but not some only, of that holder’s Bonds at 100 per cent. of their principal amount together with accrued interest up to, but excluding, the No Registration Event 
redemption date.  See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Relevant Event”. 
The Bonds will be issued in the specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. 
Investing in the Bonds involves risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the Bonds. Investors 
should be aware that the risks in relation to the guaranteed bonds structure with a letter of credit supported by the LC Bank and that there are various other risks relating to the bonds, the 
Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective subsidiaries and the LC Bank, their business and their jurisdictions of operations which investors should familiarise themselves with before 
making an investment in the Bonds. 
The Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and 
may not be offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Bonds 
and the Guarantee are being offered in offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. For a description of these and certain further 
restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds, the Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit and the distribution of this Information Memorandum, see “Placement and Sale”. 
Application will be made to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Bonds by way of debt 
issues to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (“Professional Investors”) 
only. This document is for distribution to Professional Investors only. Notice to Hong Kong Investors: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Bonds are intended for 
purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that the Bonds are 
not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved. 
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this document, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a 
statement limiting distribution of this document to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this document. Listing of the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Bonds, the Issuer, the Guarantor or the quality of disclosure in this document. Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness 
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.  
The Bonds will be represented by beneficial interests in a global certificate (the “Global Certificate”) in registered form, which will be registered in the name of a nominee for, and shall 
be deposited on or about the Issue Date with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”). Beneficial interests in the 
Global Certificate will be shown on, and transfer thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream. Except in the limited circumstances as described 
herein, certificates for Bonds will not be issued in exchange for interests in the Global Certificate. 

Placing Agents 
Guoyuan Capital China Industrial Securities 

International 
Zhongtai International Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. 

Hong Kong Branch  

Shanghai Pudong 
Development Bank Hong 

Kong Branch  

Fosun Hani  Dongxing Securities (Hong 
Kong) 

Central Wealth Securities 
Investment 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL, OR A 
SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, ANY SECURITIES IN ANY JURISDICTION TO ANY PERSON 
TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE THE OFFER OR SOLICITATION IN SUCH JURISDICTION. 
NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM NOR ANY SALE MADE 
HEREUNDER SHALL UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES IMPLY THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE 
IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR OR ANY OF THE GUARANTOR’S OTHER 
SUBSIDIARIES (COLLECTIVELY, THE “GROUP”) OR THAT THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS 
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS CORRECT AS OF ANY DATE SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE 
HEREOF. 

This document includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer and the 
Guarantor. The Issuer and the Guarantor accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained 
in this document and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief 
there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading. Investors are 
advised to read and understand the contents of the Information Memorandum before investing. If in doubt, 
investors should consult their advisers. 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in 
this Information Memorandum and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that (i) this Information 
Memorandum contains all information with respect to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group and the Bonds, the 
Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the 
Bonds (including all information required by applicable laws and the information which, according to the 
particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of 
Credit, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group and of the rights attaching to 
the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit), (ii) the statements contained in this Information 
Memorandum relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter 
of Credit are in every material particular true and accurate and not misleading, (iii) the opinions and intentions 
expressed in this Information Memorandum are, with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group, honestly 
and reasonably held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable 
assumptions, (iv) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds, the 
Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering 
of the Bonds, make any statement, opinion or intention expressed in this Information Memorandum misleading; 
(v) all reasonable enquiries have been made by the Issuer and the Guarantor to ascertain such facts and to verify 
the accuracy of all such information and statements in this Information Memorandum; (vi) this Information 
Memorandum does not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary 
to make the statements herein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 
and (vii) the statistical, industry and market-related data and forward looking statements included in this 
Information Memorandum, are based on or derived or extracted from sources which the Issuer believes to be 
accurate and reliable in all material respects. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the information included in this Information Memorandum regarding Bank of 
Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Taizhou Branch is for information purposes only and is based on, or derived or extracted from, 
among other sources, publicly available information. The Issuer and the Guarantor have taken reasonable care in 
the compilation and reproduction of the information. However, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing 
Agents (as defined below), the Trustee and the Agents (in each case as defined herein) or their respective 
affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives, agents or advisers has independently verified such 
information. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made or given by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the 
Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents or their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, 
representatives, agents or advisers as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of such information. 
Accordingly, such information should not be unduly relied upon. 

This Information Memorandum has been prepared by the Issuer and the Guarantor solely for use in connection 
with the proposed offering of the Bonds, giving of the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit described in 
this Information Memorandum. The distribution of this Information Memorandum, the offering of the Bonds and 
the giving of the Guarantee in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this 
Information Memorandum comes are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor, Guoyuan Capital (Hong Kong) 
Limited, China Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited, Zhongtai International Securities Limited, 



 

ii 

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong 
Branch, Fosun Hani Securities Limited, Dongxing Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Central 
Wealth Securities Investment Limited  (together the “Placing Agents”) to inform themselves about and to 
observe any such restrictions. No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Bonds, giving of the 
Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit or the distribution of this Information Memorandum or any offering 
or publicity material relating to the Bonds in any jurisdiction where action would be required for such purposes. 
There are restrictions on the placement and sale of the Bonds and the Guarantor giving the Guarantee, and the 
circulation of documents relating thereto, in certain jurisdictions and to persons connected therewith. For a 
description of certain further restrictions on offers, sales and resales of the Bonds and distribution of this 
Information Memorandum, see “Placement and Sale”. By purchasing the Bonds, investors represent and agree to 
all of those provisions contained in that section of this Information Memorandum. This Information 
Memorandum is personal to each offeree and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public 
generally to subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, Bonds. Distribution of this Information Memorandum to any 
other person other than the prospective investor and any person retained to advise such prospective investor with 
respect to its purchase is unauthorised. Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this Information 
Memorandum, agrees to the foregoing and to make no photocopies of this Information Memorandum or any 
documents referred to in this Information Memorandum. 

No person has been or is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or 
not consistent with this Information Memorandum or any information supplied by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the 
Group, the LC Bank or such other information as is in the public domain and, if given or made, such information 
or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the 
LC Bank, the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents (as defined in the Conditions) or their respective 
affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers. Neither the delivery of this 
Information Memorandum nor any offering, sale or delivery made in connection with the issue of the Bonds 
shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation that there has been no change or development 
reasonably likely to involve a change in the affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group or the LC Bank or any 
of them since the date hereof or create any implication that the information contained herein is correct as at any 
date subsequent to the date hereof. This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer of, or an 
invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents or any of 
their respective affiliates, directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or adviser to subscribe for or 
purchase the Bonds and may not be used for the purpose of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any 
jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful. 

None of the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents (as defined in the Conditions), or any person who controls 
any of them, or their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, advisers and affiliates has 
separately verified the information contained in this Information Memorandum. None of the Placing Agents, the 
Trustee or the Agents, or any person who controls any of them, or any director, officer, employee, agent, 
representative, adviser or affiliate of any such person, makes any representation, warranty or undertaking, 
express or implied, or accepts any responsibility or liability, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any 
of the information contained in this Information Memorandum or any information supplied in connection with 
the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit. Each person receiving this Information Memorandum 
acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents, or any person 
who controls any of them, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, 
adviser or affiliates in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its investment 
decision, and each such person must rely on its own examination of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the LC 
Bank, the Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit and the terms of the offering and the merits and risks involved 
in investing in the Bonds. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection 
with an investment in the Bonds. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents, or any person who 
controls any of them, or any director, officer, employee, agent, representative, adviser or affiliate of any such 
person, accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Information Memorandum or for any other statement 
made or purported to be made by a Placing Agent, the Trustee or an Agent, or any person who controls any of 
them, or any director, officer, employee, agent, adviser, representative or affiliate of any such person or on its 
behalf, in connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the LC Bank, the issue and offering of the 
Bonds, the giving of the Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit. Each of the Placing Agents, the Trustee and 
the Agents, and any person who controls any of them, and the directors, officers, employees, agents, 
representatives, advisers and affiliates of such persons accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising 
in tort or contract or otherwise which it might otherwise have in respect of this Information Memorandum or any 
such statement. None of the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents, or any person who controls any of them, 
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or any director, officer, employee, agent, representative, advisers or affiliate of any such person, undertakes to 
review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group or the LC Bank during the life of 
the arrangements contemplated by this Information Memorandum nor to advise any investor or potential investor 
in the Bonds of any information coming to the attention of the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents, or any 
person who controls any of them, or any director, officer, employee, agent, representative, advisers or affiliate of 
any such person. 

This Information Memorandum may not be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation by anyone in any 
jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make 
such an offer or solicitation. This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer or an invitation to 
subscribe for or to purchase any Bonds, is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation, and 
should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the LC Bank, the Placing 
Agents, the Trustee, the Agents, or any person who controls any of them, or any of their respective affiliates, 
directors, employees, agents, representatives, officers or advisers that any recipient of this Information 
Memorandum should subscribe for or purchase any Bonds. Each recipient of this Information Memorandum 
shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the 
Issuer and the Guarantor with its own tax, legal and business advisers as it deems necessary. 

This Information Memorandum is provided solely for the purpose of enabling the recipient to consider 
purchasing the Bonds. The investors or prospective investors should read this Information Memorandum 
carefully before making a decision regarding whether or not to purchase the Bonds. This Information 
Memorandum cannot be used for any other purpose and any information in this Information Memorandum 
cannot be disclosed to any other person. This Information Memorandum is personal to each prospective investor 
and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public generally to purchase or otherwise acquire 
the Bonds. 

This Information Memorandum summarises certain material documents and other information, and the Issuer, 
the Guarantor, the LC Bank and the Placing Agents refer the recipient of this Information Memorandum to them 
for a more complete understanding of what is contained in this Information Memorandum. None of the Issuer, 
the Guarantor, the Group, the LC Bank, the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents, or any person who 
controls any of them, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, advisers or 
affiliates are making any representations regarding the legality of an investment in the Bonds under any law or 
regulation. The recipient of this Information Memorandum should not consider any information in this 
Information Memorandum to be legal, business or tax advice. Any investor or prospective investor should 
consult his/her/its own attorney, business adviser and tax adviser for legal, business and tax advice regarding an 
investment in the Bonds. 

The contents of this Information Memorandum have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in the 
People’s Republic of China, Hong Kong or elsewhere. Investors are advised to exercise caution in relation to the 
offer. If any investor is in any doubt about any of the contents of this Information Memorandum, that investor 
should obtain independent professional advice. 

Industry and Market Data  

Market data and certain industry forecasts used throughout this Information Memorandum have been obtained 
based on, among other sources, internal surveys, market research, publicly available information and industry 
publications. Industry publications generally state that the information that they contain has been obtained from 
sources believed by the Issuer and Guarantor to be reliable and accurate but that the accuracy and completeness 
of that information is not guaranteed. Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research, while 
believed to be reliable, have not been independently verified, and none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC Bank, 
the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents or their respective affiliates, directors, employees, representatives, 
agents, officers or advisers makes any representation as to the correctness, accuracy or completeness of that 
information complied within or outside the PRC. In addition, third-party information providers may have 
obtained information from market participants and such information may not have been independently verified. 
Accordingly, such information should not be unduly relied upon. 



 

iv 

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS, CONVENTIONS AND CURRENCY PRESENTATION 

In this information memorandum (“Information Memorandum”), unless otherwise specified or the context 
otherwise requires, all references to the “PRC”, “China” and “mainland China” are to the People’s Republic of 
China (excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and 
Taiwan), and all references to the “United States” and “U.S.” are to the United States of America, all references 
to “Hong Kong” are to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China; all 
references to “CNY”, “Renminbi” and “RMB” are to the lawful currency of the PRC, and all references to 
“USD”, “U.S.$” and “U.S. dollars” are to the lawful currency of the United States of America. 

Historical amounts translated into Renminbi have been translated at historical rates of exchange. Such 
translations should not be construed as representations that the amounts referred to herein could have been or 
could be converted into Renminbi at those rates or any other rate at all. No representation is made that the 
Renminbi amounts referred to in this Information Memorandum could have been or could be converted into U.S. 
dollars at any particular rate or at all. 

In this Information Memorandum, where information has been presented in thousands or millions of units, 
amounts may have been rounded up or down. Accordingly, totals of columns or rows of numbers in tables may 
not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items and actual numbers may differ from those contained 
herein due to rounding. References to information in billions of units are to the equivalent of a thousand million 
units. 

In this Information Memorandum, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to: 

• the “Group”, the “Company”, the “Guarantor” and words of similar import refers to Taizhou Huaxin 
Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. (泰州華信藥業投資有限公司 ) itself, or its consolidated 
subsidiaries, as the context requires; 

• the “Issuer” refers to Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (華信藥業（香港）有限公司), 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor; 

• “Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals” refers to lists of pharmaceutical products promulgated by 
the MOH or the provincial government authorities to promote fair prices for equal access by the general 
public to essential medicines. The term refers to both national and provincial catalogues of essential 
pharmaceuticals; 

• “cu.m.” refers to cubic metre; 

• “GFA” refers to gross floor area; 

• “Insurance Catalogues” refers to a compilation of pharmaceutical products under the basic medical 
insurance, work-related injury insurance and maternity insurance of the PRC as determined by the PRC 
central or provincial government authorities, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time 
to time. The term refers to both the national and provincial insurance catalogues; 

• “Notice” refers to the Notice in relation to the Clarification on the Primary Responsibilities of Taizhou 
Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. issued by the Management Committee in 2007 (Tai Yi Gao 
[2007] No.48); 

• “Management Committee” refers to the Management Committee of Taizhou Medical High-tech 
Industry Development District; 

• “MOFCOM” refers to the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC; 

• “MOH” refers to the Ministry of Health of the PRC; 

• “NDRC” refers to the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC; 

• “NHFPC” refers to the National Health and Family Planning Commission; 
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• “PBOC” refers to the People’s Bank of China, the central bank of the PRC; 

• the “PRC government” refers to the central government of China and its political subdivisions, including 
provincial, municipal and other regional or local government entities, and instrumentalities thereof, or 
where the context requires, any of them; 

• “SAFE” refers to the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC or its competent local 
counterpart; 

• “SASAC” refers to the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the PRC; 

• “SAT” refers to the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC; 

• “sq.m.” refers to square metre; 

• “Taizhou Medical Zone” refers to the Taizhou Medical High-tech Industrial Development Zone; 

• “Taizhou Municipal Government” refers to the People’s Government of Taizhou, Jiangsu Province; 

• “Taizhou SASAC” refers to the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of 
Taizhou, Jiangsu Province; and 

• “TEU” refers to twenty-feet equivalent units. 

The English names of the PRC nationals, entities, departments, facilities, laws, regulations, certificates, titles and 
the like are translations of their Chinese names and are included for identification purposes only. In the event of 
any inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails. 
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THE ISSUE 

The following summary contains some basic information about the Bonds. Some of the terms described below 
are subject to important limitations and exceptions. Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of 
the Bonds” shall have the same meanings in this summary. For a more complete description of the terms and 
conditions of the Bonds, see “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds”. 

Issuer ........................................  Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited 

Guarantor ................................  Taizhou Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. (泰州華信藥業投資

有限公司) 

LC Bank ...................................  Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Taizhou Branch 

Issue ..........................................  U.S.$60,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2.6 per cent. Credit 
Enhanced Bonds due 2024. 

Issue Price ................................  100.0 per cent. of the principal amount of the Bonds. 

Form and Denomination ........  The Bonds will be issued in the specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 
and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. 

Interest .....................................  The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and 
including 29 January 2021 at the rate of 2.6 per cent. per annum, payable 
semi-annually in arrear on 29 January and 29 July in each year, 
commencing on 29 July 2021. 

Issue Date .................................  29 January 2021. 

Maturity Date ..........................  29 January 2024. 

Use of Proceeds ........................  See “Use of Proceeds”. 

Standby Letter of Credit ........  The Bonds will have the benefit of the Standby Letter of Credit issued in 
favour of the Trustee, on behalf of itself and the holders of the Bonds, by 
the LC Bank. The Standby Letter of Credit shall be drawable by the 
Trustee as beneficiary under the Standby Letter of Credit on behalf of 
itself and the holders of the Bonds upon the presentation of a demand by 
authenticated SWIFT (or by such method of communication otherwise 
permitted under the Standby Letter of Credit) sent by or on behalf of the 
Trustee to the LC Bank in accordance with the Standby Letter of Credit 
(the “Demand”) stating that (i) the Issuer has failed to comply with 
Condition 4(b) in relation to pre-funding the amount that is required to be 
pre-funded under the Conditions and/or failed to provide the Required 
Confirmations (as defined in the Conditions) in accordance with 
Condition 4(b); or (ii) an Event of Default (as defined in the Conditions) 
has occurred and the Trustee has given notice to the Issuer that the Bonds 
are immediately due and payable in accordance with the Conditions; or 
(iii) the Issuer has failed to pay the fees, costs, expenses and/or other 
amounts it is obligated to pay under the Conditions or in connection with 
the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or any other 
transaction documents relating to the Bonds when due and such failure has 
continued for a period of seven days from the date of the Trustee 
delivering its demand therefor to the Issuer. 

Only one drawing under the Standby Letter of Credit is permitted.  

Such drawing on the Standby Letter of Credit will be payable in U.S. 
dollars to or to the order of the Trustee at the time and to the account 
specified in the Demand presented to the LC Bank. Payment received by 
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the Trustee in respect of the Demand will be deposited into the LC 
Proceeds Account. 

The payment made under the Standby Letter of Credit in respect of any 
amount payable under the Conditions or in connection with the Bonds, the 
Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and/or the Trust Deed shall, to the 
extent of the drawing paid to or to the order of the Trustee, satisfy the 
obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of such amount 
payable under the Conditions or in connection with the Bonds, the Agency 
Agreement, the Guarantee and/or the Trust Deed. 

The LC Bank’s aggregate liability under the Standby Letter of Credit shall 
be expressed and payable in U.S. dollars and shall not in any 
circumstances exceed U.S.$61,780,000 (the “Maximum Limit”), an 
amount representing only (i) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
plus interest payable for one interest period (being six months) in 
accordance with these Conditions and (ii) U.S.$1,000,000 being the 
maximum amount payable under the Standby Letter of Credit for any fees, 
costs, expenses, indemnity payments and all other amounts payable by the 
Issuer under or in connection with the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency 
Agreement and/or any other transaction documents relating to the Bonds. 
The Standby Letter of Credit expires at 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 28 
February 2024 (the “Expiry Time”). 

See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Standby Letter of Credit and 
Pre-funding – Standby Letter of Credit”, and “Appendix A – Form of 
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit”. 

Pre-funding ..............................  In order to provide for the payment of any amount in respect of the Bonds 
(other than the amounts payable under Condition 7(d)) (the “Relevant 
Amount”)) as the same shall become due, the Issuer shall, in accordance 
with the Agency Agreement, by no later than the day falling eight 
Business Days prior to the due date for such payment under the 
Conditions (the “Pre-funding Date”): 

(i) unconditionally pay or procure to be paid the Relevant Amount into 
the Pre-funding Account; and 

(ii) deliver to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent by facsimile 
(x) a Payment and Solvency Certificate signed by any Authorised 
Signatory of the Issuer, and (y) a copy of the irrevocable payment 
instruction from the Issuer to the Pre-funding Account Bank 
requesting the Pre-funding Account Bank to pay the Relevant 
Amount which was paid into the Pre-funding Account on the Pre-
funding Date in full to the Principal Paying Agent by no later than 
10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Business Day immediately 
preceding the due date for such payment (together, the “Required 
Confirmations”). 

The Pre-funding Account Bank shall notify the Trustee and the Principal 
Paying Agent forthwith upon the failure by the Issuer to pay the Relevant 
Amount into the Pre-funding Account in accordance with the Conditions. 
If the Relevant Amount has not been paid into the Pre-funding Account in 
full, or the Trustee does not receive the Required Confirmations, in each 
case by 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Business Day immediately 
following the Pre-funding Date (a “Pre-funding Failure”), the Trustee 
shall: 

(A) as soon as reasonably practicable notify the LC Bank and the LC 
Proceeds Account Bank by facsimile or by SWIFT of the 
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occurrence of the Pre-funding Failure; and 

(B) prior to 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on the second Business Day 
following the Pre-funding Date, (x) give notice substantially in the 
form set out in the Trust Deed (the “Pre-funding Failure Notice”) 
to the Bondholders of (I) the Pre-funding Failure and (II) the 
redemption of the Bonds in accordance with Condition 7(d) to 
occur as a result of the Pre-funding Failure; and (y) issue a Demand 
to the LC Bank for the principal amount in respect of all the Bonds 
then outstanding, together with interest accrued to but excluding 
the Mandatory Redemption Date (as defined in Condition 7(d)) and 
all fees, costs, expenses, indemnity payments and all other amounts 
payable by the Issuer under or in connection with the Bonds, the 
Agency Agreement, the Trust Deed and/or any other transaction 
documents relating to the Bonds, provided that, subject to and in 
accordance with the Standby Letter of Credit, the Trustee need not 
physically present the Demand under the Standby Letter of Credit 
to the LC Bank and shall be entitled to submit the Demand by 
authenticated SWIFT (or, in certain limited circumstances set out in 
the Standby Letter of Credit, by way of such other means as 
permitted under the Standby Letter of Credit) to the LC Bank. 

Following receipt by the LC Bank of such Demand by 6:00 p.m. (Hong 
Kong time) on a Business Day falling on or after the Issue Date and on or 
before the Expiry Time, the LC Bank shall by 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong 
time) on the fourth Business Day immediately following such Business 
Day (or, if such Demand is received by the LC Bank after 6:00 p.m. 
(Hong Kong time) on a Business Day, the fifth Business Day after the 
Business Day on which the LC Bank receives such Demand), pay to or to 
the order of the Trustee the amount in U.S. dollars specified in the 
Demand to the LC Proceeds Account. 

See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Standby Letter of Credit and 
Pre-funding – Pre-funding”, and “Appendix A – Form of Irrevocable 
Standby Letter of Credit”. 

Status of the Bonds .................  The Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured 
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without 
any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer 
under the Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by 
applicable law, at all times rank at least equally with all its other present 
and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. 

Status of the Guarantee ..........  The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such 
exceptions as may be provided by applicable law at all times rank at least 
equally with all its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated 
obligations. 

Events of Default .....................  Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, as further described in 
“Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Events of Default”, in respect of the 
Issuer and the LC Bank, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so 
requested in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in aggregate 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an 
Extraordinary Resolution, shall (provided in any such case that the Trustee 
shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its 
satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer and the Guarantor that the Bonds are 
due and payable at their principal amount together (if applicable) with 
accrued but unpaid interest. 

Cross-Default .......................  The Bonds are subject to a cross-default provision in relation to the Issuer, 
the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries and a cross-default in 
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relation to the LC Bank or any of its Subsidiaries as further described in 
Condition 10(a)(iii) (Cross-Default) and Condition 10(b)(i) (Cross-
Default) of the Conditions, respectively. 

Taxation ...................................  All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor in respect of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made 
free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account 
of, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever 
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within Hong 
Kong or the PRC or any political subdivision or authority therein or 
thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is 
required by law, as further described in Condition 9. 

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer or, as the case 
may be, the Guarantor by or within the PRC at a rate up to and including 
the aggregate rate applicable on 27 January 2021 (the “Applicable 
Rate”), the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will increase the 
amounts paid by it to the extent required, so that the net amount received 
by Bondholders equals the amounts which would otherwise have been 
receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been required. 

If the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor is required to make a 
deduction or withholding (i) by or within the PRC in excess of the 
Applicable Rate or (ii) by or within Hong Kong, the Issuer or, as the case 
may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts (“Additional 
Tax Amounts”) as will result in receipt by the Bondholders of such 
amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or 
deduction been required, except that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be 
payable in respect of any Bond. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – 
Taxation”. 

Final Redemption ....................  Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will 
be redeemed at their principal amount on the Maturity Date. 

Redemption for Taxation 
Reasons ............................  The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not 

in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ 
notice (a “Tax Redemption Notice”) to the Bondholders in accordance 
with Condition 17 and in writing to the Trustee and the Principal Paying 
Agent (which shall be irrevocable), at their principal amount (together 
with interest accrued up to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption), 
if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such 
notice that (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay Additional Tax 
Amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 9 as a result of any 
change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or the 
PRC or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having 
power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of 
such laws or regulations (including but not limited to any decision by a 
court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes 
effective on or after 27 January 2021, and (ii) such obligation cannot be 
avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, as further 
described in Condition 7(b). 

Redemption for Relevant 
Event ................................  Following the occurrence of a Relevant Event, the holder of any Bond will 

have the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all, 
but not some only, of such holder’s Bonds on the Put Settlement Date (as 
defined in Condition 7(c)) at 100 per cent. of their principal amount, 
together with interest accrued up to, but excluding, the Put Settlement 
Date. See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Redemption and 
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Purchase – Redemption for Relevant Event”. 

Mandatory Redemption upon 
Pre-funding Failure .........  The Bonds shall be redeemed at their principal amount on the Interest 

Payment Date immediately falling after the date the Pre-funding Failure 
Notice is given to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 4(b) (the 
“Mandatory Redemption Date”), together with interest accrued up to, 
but excluding, the Mandatory Redemption Date, as further described in 
Condition 7(d). 

Clearing Systems .....................  The Bonds will be evidenced by beneficial interests in the Global 
Certificate, which will be registered in the name of a nominee of, and 
deposited on the Issue Date with, a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream. Beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will be shown 
on and transfers whereof will be effected only through records maintained 
by Euroclear and Clearstream. Except as described herein, certificates for 
the Bonds will not be issued in exchange for beneficial interests in the 
Global Certificate. 

ISIN ..........................................  XS2281979554. 

Common Code .........................  228197955. 

Legal Entity Identifier ............  30030085UOD266TW8E23. 

Governing Law and 
Jurisdiction ......................  Hong Kong law 

Trustee......................................  Citicorp International Limited. 

Registrar, Principal Paying 
Agent and Transfer 
Agent ................................  Citibank, N.A., London Branch. 

Pre-funding Account Bank 
and LC Proceeds 
Account Bank ..................  Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch. 

Listing ......................................  Application will be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the 
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Bonds by way of debt issues to 
Professional Investors only. 

Risk Factors .............................  For a discussion of certain factors that should be considered in evaluating 
an investment in the Bonds, see “Risk Factors”. 
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SUMMARY OF PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS ON EACH SCHEDULED DUE DATE UNDER THE BONDS 
The following diagram sets forth a summary of the pre-funding arrangements under the Bonds and the drawing arrangements in respect of the Standby Letter of Credit on each 
scheduled due date under the Bonds. The following diagram is not intended to be comprehensive. This diagram should be read in conjunction with “Terms and Conditions of 
the Bonds”, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement referred therein and “Appendix A – Form of Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit”. Words and expressions defined in the 
“Terms and Conditions of the Bonds” shall have the same meaning in this summary. 

 
Notes: 
(1) The Required Confirmations consist of: (x) a Payment and Solvency Certificate signed by any Authorised Signatory of the Issuer; and (y) a copy of the irrevocable payment instruction from the Issuer to the Pre-

funding Account Bank requesting the Pre-funding Account Bank to pay the Relevant Amount which was paid into the Pre-funding Account on the Pre-funding Date in full to the Principal Paying Agent by no later 
than 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Business Day immediately preceding the due date for such payment. 

(2) The confirmation from the Pre-funding Account Bank to each of the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent shall be by way of authenticated SWIFT or other means of communication as the Trustee and the Principal 
Paying Agent may agree with the Pre-funding Account Bank. 

(3) The Trustee need not physically present the Demand under the Standby Letter of Credit to the LC Bank and shall be entitled to submit the Demand by authenticated SWIFT (or, in certain limited circumstances set out 
in the Standby Letter of Credit, by way of such other means as permitted under the Standby Letter of Credit) to the LC Bank.  

T-8 Business Days 
Pre-funding Date 

One Business Day following the Pre-funding Date 
Pre-funding Failure Notification 

By 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time): 
On the Business Day immediately following the date of 
receipt of the Relevant Amount into the Pre-funding Account, 
the Pre-funding Account Bank to confirm receipt of the 
Relevant Amount to each of the Trustee and the Principal 
Paying Agent(2) 

OR 
If the Relevant Amount has not been paid into the Pre-
funding Account in full, or the Trustee does not receive the 
Required Confirmations, in each case by 10:00 a.m. (Hong 
Kong time) on the Business Day immediately following the 
Pre-funding Date (each event, a “Pre-funding Failure”), the 
Trustee shall as soon as reasonably practicable notify the LC 
Bank and the LC Proceeds Account Bank by facsimile or by 
SWIFT of the occurrence of the Pre-funding Failure.  

 The Issuer to unconditionally pay or 
procure to be paid the Relevant Amount 
into the Pre-funding Account 

 The Issuer to deliver to the Trustee and 
the Principal Paying Agent by facsimile 
the Required Confirmations(1) 

 By 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time): LC Bank to pay 
to or to the order of the Trustee the amount in U.S. 
dollars specified in the Demand immediately after 
receipt by the LC Bank of the Demand provided that 
the Demand has been received by 6:00 p.m. (Hong 
Kong time) on the date of Demand. 

 By 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time): LC 
Bank to pay to or to the order of the 
Trustee the amount in U.S. dollars 
specified in the Demand to the LC 
Proceeds Account following receipt by 
the LC Bank of the Demand if the 
Demand is received after 6:00 p.m. 
(Hong Kong time) on the date of 
Demand. 

 

By 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time):  

 In the case where the Issuer has paid the Relevant Amount into the 
Pre-funding Account, the Pre-funding Account Bank to pay the U.S. 
dollars amount deposited in full to the Principal Paying Agent; or 

 In the case where the LC Bank pays to or to the order of the Trustee 
the amount of U.S. dollars specified in the Demand, the LC Proceeds 
Account Bank to pay the U.S. dollars amount deposited in full to the 
Principal Paying Agent 

 Principal Paying Agent to pay 
U.S. dollar funds into Euroclear 
and Clearstream for same day 
value on the Bond Payment 
Date for the benefit of the 
Bondholders 
 

Fifth Business Days following the day 
that the Demand is received 
SBLC Transfer Date 
Confirmation to Principal Paying Agent 

T-1 Business Days 
Payment to Principal 
Paying Agent 

T Bond 
Payment Date 

Fourth Business Days following the 
day that the Demand is received 
SBLC Transfer Date  
Confirmation to Principal Paying 
Agent By 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time): 

If a Pre-funding Failure event occurs, the Trustee 
shall by no later than 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) 
on the second Business Day following the Pre-
funding Date, (x) give Pre-funding Failure Notice 
to the Bondholders of (I) the Pre-funding Failure 
and (II) the redemption of the Bonds to occur as a 
result of the Pre-funding Failure; and (y) issue a 
Demand to the LC Bank.

(3) 

Standby Letter of 
Credit Demand Date 
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RISK FACTORS 

Prior to making an investment decision, prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk 
factors, along with the other matters set out in this Information Memorandum. PRC laws and regulations may 
differ from the laws and regulations in other countries. Additional risks not described below or not currently 
known to the Issuer or the Guarantor or that it currently deems immaterial may also adversely affect the 
Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations or the value of the Bonds. The Issuer and the 
Guarantor believe that the risk factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the 
Bonds, but the inability of the Issuer and the Guarantor to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in 
connection with any Bonds or the Guarantee may occur for reasons which may not be considered as significant 
risks by the Issuer or the Guarantor based on information currently available to it or which it may not currently 
be able to anticipate. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer or the 
Guarantor is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. 

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor represents that the statements below regarding the risk factors of holding 
any Bonds are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in 
this Information Memorandum and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision. 

This Information Memorandum also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. 
The Group’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as 
a result of certain factors, including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Information 
Memorandum. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 

Risks relating to the Group’s Sales and Distribution of Pharmaceutical Products 

The Group is subject to extensive and changing legal and regulatory requirements in the PRC 
pharmaceutical industry, and any violation of the relevant laws, rules and regulations or promulgation of new 
laws, rules and regulations may impose significant compliance burdens on the Group. 

The pharmaceutical industry in China is subject to extensive government regulation and supervision as well as 
monitoring by various government authorities. In particular, the current regulatory framework addresses all 
aspects of a pharmaceutical company’s operations. Any serious violation of the relevant laws, rules and 
regulations may constitute a criminal offence under certain circumstances. Certain other laws, rules and 
regulations may affect the pricing, demand and distribution of the products sold by the Group, such as those 
relating to procurement, prescription and dispensing of essential and other drugs by hospitals and other medical 
institutions, retail pharmacy, government funding for private healthcare and medical services, and the inclusion 
of products in the National List of Essential Drugs promulgated by the MOH, currently known as NHFPC. In 
addition, pharmaceutical distribution and pharmaceutical retail industries in China are each subject to extensive 
and changing government regulations and supervision. Any unfavorable regulatory changes in these industries 
may also increase the Group’s compliance burden and materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, 
profitability and prospects. 

According to Law of the People’s Republic of China against Unfair Competition (中華人民共和國反不正當競

爭法) issued by Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on 2 September 1993 with effect from 1 
December 1993, business operators may not, whether by means of commercials or otherwise, make false 
advertisements such as those relating to the quality, use or performance of their products in such a way that may 
confuse and mislead consumers. Enterprises found to be in breach of such regulations may be subject to 
penalties. PRC regulations that govern advertisements for medicine restrict the inclusion in such advertisements 
the cure rate or effect of the relevant product, comparison of effects and safety with other medicines, as well as 
the quoting of the opinion of any medical scientific research entity, medical practitioners and industry experts in 
commercials. Breach of such regulations by any business operator may lead to fines. If the Group were to 
include any information about its products in their product packaging in breach of the applicable law and 
regulations in the PRC, the Group may be subject to monetary penalties, which may negatively impact its 
financial performance. Any such non-compliance may damage the Group’s reputation with institutional 
customers, such as pharmaceutical distributors or hospitals, or individual retail customers. 

In December 2016, the PRC government launched the “two-invoice” system (兩票制) in drug distribution on a 
trial basis in all the comprehensive healthcare reform pilot provinces and public hospital reform pilot cities, 
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which include Jiangsu Province. The system has been fully implemented in public medical institutions across the 
country in 2018. The two-invoice system generally requires a drug manufacturer to only invoice once to its 
distributor followed by the distributor issuing a second invoice to the end customer public medical institution 
(except for anesthetics and Class 1 psychotropic drugs). The system also encourages manufacturers to directly 
settle the payment of drug products with public medical institutions and to directly settle the payment of 
distributions with distributors. While the implications remain uncertain, should such pilot program become 
mandatory nationwide, given that a portion of the Group’s business is conducted through procurement from 
other distributors, the Group has adjusted its business model in response to the “two-invoice” system. In 
response to the implementation of the “two-invoice system”, the Group has been gradually transforming its 
business focus to developing third-party logistics services business for pharmaceutical companies and medical 
equipment manufacturers. The Group also established pharmacies in hospitals to mitigate the impact of the 
implementation of the “two-invoice system”. However, there is no assurance that the Group can complete the 
adjustment to its business modes or transformation of business focus as planned, which could result in a material 
and adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s growth relies in part on the continuing expansion and reforms of the PRC healthcare industry, 
the anticipated growth of which may not be timely achieved, or at all. 

The PRC healthcare industry has undergone various stages of reform in recent years. The PRC government 
promulgated rules and regulations and announced plans aimed at promoting the reforms of the PRC healthcare 
industry. These reforms were generally referred to as the “healthcare reform plans” in China. These initiatives 
taken, or to be taken, by the PRC government under the ongoing healthcare reform plans, are expected to 
significantly contribute to the growth of the PRC healthcare industry. However, there can be no assurance that 
the healthcare reform plans would benefit the Group’s business, or that the relevant PRC government authorities 
would continue to introduce policies in line with the reform plans that are favorable to the Group’s business. 

The continuing expansion and reform of the PRC healthcare industry are subject to factors beyond the Group’s 
control. The reform process may turn out to be significantly more time-consuming or costly than expected due to 
implementation difficulties or changing circumstances. As it is not clear whether the anticipated results or targets 
of the PRC healthcare reform plans could be timely achieved, or at all, the Group’s business decisions which are 
premised on the success of these healthcare reform plans may prove to be inappropriate in hindsight. As such, 
this may have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

There is uncertainty regarding the impact of the new guiding pharmaceutical pricing mechanism on the 
pricing of the products sold by the Group. 

It is typical in China for selling prices of pharmaceutical products to decline over the course of the products’ 
lifecycle as a result of, among other things, price control policies of the PRC government or increased 
competition from substitute products. Prior to 1 June 2015, all of the pharmaceutical products in the Group’s 
portfolio were subject to government price controls in the form of periodically-adjusted price ceilings imposed 
by the national and regional offices of the Pricing Bureau of the NHFPC, the NDRC and other authorities. Price 
ceilings on pharmaceutical products, as in effect before 1 June 2015, set the maximum prices at which 
pharmaceutical products which were fully or partially covered under the national insurance system at both the 
provincial and national level could be sold to patients at hospitals and pharmacies. These price ceilings were 
determined by the government based on factors such as profit margins that the relevant government authorities 
deem reasonable, product type, quality, production costs, prices of substitute pharmaceutical products and the 
extent of the suppliers’ compliance with the applicable standards of good manufacturing practise. 

In October 2014, the NDRC issued a consultation paper to local bureaus of commodity prices indicating that the 
then-existing price controls over certain pharmaceuticals, including plasma-based pharmaceuticals, might be 
relaxed. In May 2015, the NDRC issued a Notice on Publishing and Circulating the Opinions on Facilitating the 
Pharmaceutical Pricing Reform (關於印發推進藥品價格改革意見的通知) which announced that, starting from 
1 June 2015, the price ceilings imposed on most pharmaceutical products, including each pharmaceutical product 
in the Group’s portfolio, would be abolished, and these products would be subject to a more market-based 
guiding pricing mechanism to be formulated by medical insurance bureaus and other relevant authorities. 
Accordingly, price ceilings were lifted on 1 June 2015. 

There is uncertainty regarding how prices will be determined in this new regulatory environment. As at the date 
of this Information Memorandum, the new guiding pricing mechanism announced in the Notice on Publishing 
and Circulating the Opinions on Facilitating the Pharmaceutical Pricing Reform had not been completely 
formulated or established nationwide. Although as at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Group has 
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not observed any price changes in response to the lifting of price ceilings, it cannot predict the future effect on 
the selling prices of pharmaceutical products, and in particular, the future effect on the prices of the products 
sold by the Group. As the mechanism is intended to provide for prices based on free market forces, competitive 
pressure may force the Group to lower prices to below those that existed when price ceilings were in effect. If 
prices are lower under the new mechanism, the Group’s profit margins may be adversely affected. If prices are 
higher under the new mechanism, demand for the products sold by the Group may decrease and the Group may 
find it difficult to fulfil its contracted sales targets or otherwise achieve growth. In addition, there is uncertainty 
regarding how the new pricing mechanism will be enforced, or how rigorous enforcement will be. Moreover, in 
the future, if the PRC government were to revisit its regulations in respect of the imposition of price controls and 
to change its approach again in a way unfavourable to the Group, there may be a material adverse effect on the 
business and financial results of the Group. Thus, the uncertainty about the future pricing of the pharmaceutical 
products sold by the Group could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and 
prospects. 

If the Insurance Catalogues or Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceutical are amended to exclude the products 
currently in the Group’s portfolio, or if products the Group add to its portfolio in the future are not included 
in the Insurance Catalogues or Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals, the Group’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. 

As of the date of this Information Memorandum, most of the products in the Group’s portfolio are listed in the 
Insurance Catalogues. Insurance Catalogues are a compilation of lists of pharmaceutical products issued at the 
national and provincial level for which patients may seek partial or complete reimbursement under the 
government’s various insurance programmes, and Provincial Insurance Catalogues include provincial 
adjustments to the National Insurance Catalogue. For this reason, patients usually favour pharmaceuticals 
contained in the Insurance Catalogues over other pharmaceuticals. Thus, inclusion in the Insurance Catalogues is 
critical to the success of the products in its portfolio, and any exclusion from the Insurance Catalogues of any of 
the products in the Group’s portfolio would materially and adversely affect their sales volumes. 

All of the products sold by the Group are included in the Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals. The 
Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals list those pharmaceuticals which hospitals and healthcare institutions 
must keep in inventory. The various Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals used in the areas to which the 
Group’s distributes and sells pharmaceutical products must continue to list such products sold by the Group or 
the Group may lose its revenue from sales to hospitals and medical institutions in such areas. Since the current 
Catalogues of Essential Pharmaceuticals has been implemented in Jiangsu Province for ten years, there is no 
assurance that in the current catalogues will not be adjusted in the future. If so, any removal of any products that 
the Group sells from the catalogue may adversely affect the Group’s business prospect and financial condition. 

The Group faces competition in collective tender process from other competitors. 

Public hospitals in the PRC implement collective tender processes for all drugs except for decoction pieces (i.e., 
processed Chinese herbs which can be used in prescribed formulas for preparing Chinese medicines). If the 
Group is unable to win new purchase contracts through the collective tender processes, the Group will lose 
market share to its competitors, and the Group’s revenue and profitability could be adversely affected. Further, 
the Group may face current and potential competitors with greater financial, sales and other resources than the 
Group does. 

Pursuant to the Guiding Opinions on Enhancing Centralised Procurement of Pharmaceutical Products by Public 
Hospitals issued by the General Office of the State Council (國務院辦公廳關於完善公立醫院藥品集中採購工

作的指導意見 ) in February 2015 and the Notice on Implementing the Guiding Opinions on Enhancing 
Centralised Procurement of Pharmaceutical Products by Public Hospitals issued by the NHFPC (國家衛生計生

委關於落實完善公立醫院藥品集中採購工作指導意見的通知) in June 2015, all drugs (except for decoction 
pieces) used by public hospitals in China shall be procured through a provincial centralised drug procurement 
online platform. However, there are uncertainties as to when a province will commence its centralised drug 
procurement process, and when the new prices will come into effect pursuant to the completion of a centralised 
tender process. In addition, drug prices face further downward pressure because the price of a drug in one 
province may be required to match the lower price of the same drug in another province pursuant to the 
centralised tender process of the latter province, and hospitals are permitted to further negotiate drug prices it 
intends to procure following the provincial centralised tender process. The uncertain timeline in relation to the 
centralised tender process and potential drug price cuts could materially and adversely affect the Group’s 
business, results of operations and prospects. 
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The Group’s business depends heavily on the consistent supply of certain pharmaceutical products. Should 
the supply of pharmaceutical products decrease or the cost of those products otherwise fluctuate, the Group’s 
business would be adversely affected. 

The Group does not manufacture pharmaceutical products and focuses its pharmaceutical business substantially 
on sales and distribution which relies on the consistent supply of pharmaceutical products. The Group’s 
pharmaceutical sale and distribution business to great extent relies upon obtaining sufficient quantities of high 
quality pharmaceutical products at acceptable prices and in a timely manner. Any substantial fluctuations in the 
procurement cost of such pharmaceutical products may adversely affect the Group’s revenue and profitability. 
For example, increases in the procurement cost of pharmaceutical products may increase the Group’s cost of 
sales, have a negative impact on the sale income and thereby affect the profit margins. A sustained decrease in 
the prices of pharmaceutical products may affect the Group’s sales income and profitability, market sentiment 
and demand for the products that the Group sells may decline, as the Group’s customers may choose to delay the 
purchase or procurement of such products in anticipation of further decreases in prices. 

In addition, the Group may be reliant on certain suppliers to supply the pharmaceutical products required for its 
business. Should any of the Group’s suppliers fail to supply sufficient quantities of pharmaceutical products of 
an acceptable quality or in a timely manner, the Group may be unable to obtain them elsewhere. Consequently, 
the Group may be forced to obtain pharmaceutical products from different suppliers at higher prices or the Group 
may not be able to secure suppliers of similar quality. Any interruption in the Group’s supply of pharmaceutical 
products could delay its production and delivery schedules, which may result in the loss of customers and 
revenue. 

The profitability of direct sales to hospitals depends on various external factors which are out of the control of 
the Group and may decrease. 

The profitability of direct sales to hospitals is limited by factors including reforms of China’s medical system, 
price declines, and adoption of restrictive policies. Since the profit-making model in direct sale to hospitals is 
rather limited, and the logistics costs have been increasing, the Group is under pressure to generate profits from 
its direct sale to hospitals. The Group’s profitability in its direct sale business is affected by some external factors 
not controlled by the Group. For example, the amount of the products available for direct sale is not controlled 
by the Group but by the upstream manufacturers, the hospitals’ sales of pharmaceuticals are market-driven 
which may result in fluctuation in order size as well as changes in the products in demand, the hospitals have the 
discretion to choose the manufacturers to cooperate with and sales of pharmaceutical products are subject to 
national policy changes. There can be no assurance that the profitability of direct sales to hospitals will improve 
or maintain at the current level. 

Failure to manage the Group’s inventory turnover under the business mode of direct sale to hospitals may 
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Under the business mode of direct sale to hospitals, the payment cycle from the Group’s customers is 
approximately 90 days on average. Together with the inventory turnover of approximately 30 days on average, 
the total payment cycle is approximately 120 days. On the other hand, suppliers normally require payment within 
60 days. Therefore, there is a payment gap or cash return period of around 60 days, which could result in a 
period of negative cash flows from the direct sale to hospitals. The volatile economic environment and fast-
evolving demands and preferences of the Group’s customers have made accurate projection of inventory levels 
increasingly challenging. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to maintain proper inventory 
levels for its operations. If the Group fails to manage its inventory turnover effectively, frequent occurrences of 
negative cash flows from the direct sale to hospitals may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

The Group’s ability to market the products it sells successfully depends, in part, upon the acceptance of the 
products by its customers. 

The Group’s ability to successfully market the products it sells depends, in part, on the acceptance of such 
products by independent third parties, including wholesalers, distributors, physicians, hospitals, pharmacies, 
GPOS, government representatives and other retailers, as well as patients. The Group relies to a significant 
extent on the reputation and market acceptability of the products or brands. Unanticipated side effects or 
unfavourable publicity concerning any such products or brands, could have an adverse effect on its ability to 
achieve acceptance by prescribing physicians, managed care providers, pharmacies and other retailers, customers 
and patients. 
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Market acceptability of the products depends upon a variety of factor, many of which are beyond the Group’s 
control, including: 

 acceptance by payers, physicians, pharmacists and end-customers of each product as a safe and effective 
treatment; 

 whether a physician is receptive to its product and how quickly the physician adopts such product as an 
accepted treatment; 

 the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments, including numerous generic drug products; 

 the safety and efficacy of the product; 

 the effectiveness of its sales force; 

 the product’s perceived advantages and disadvantages relative to competing products or treatments; and 

 the prevalence and severity of side effects. 

If the products sold by the Group are approved by the regulatory authorities but do not achieve an adequate level 
of acceptance by its customers, the Group may be unable to generate any or sufficient revenue from the sale and 
distribution of these products. Failure to maintain significant market acceptance could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s marketing activities are critical to its success, and if the Group fails to enhance its marketing 
capabilities or maintain adequate spending on marketing activities, the Group’s market share could be 
adversely affected. 

The success and lifespan of the products sold and distributed by the Group are dependent on the Group’s efforts 
in marketing these finished products. The Group’s marketing professionals regularly visit hospitals, clinics and 
pharmacies to explain the therapeutic value of the Group’s pharmaceutical products and to keep health care 
professionals up-to-date as to any developments relating to such products. The Group organises in-person 
product presentations and seminars for physicians and other health care professionals and participate in trade 
shows to generate market awareness of the Group’s existing and new finished products. These various marketing 
activities are critical to the success of the Group. However, there can be no assurance that the Group’s current 
and planned spending on marketing activities will be adequate to support the Group’s future growth. Any factors 
adversely affecting the Group’s ability to enhance its marketing capabilities or the Group’s ability to maintain 
adequate spending on marketing activities could have an adverse effect on the market share and reputation of the 
products sold and distributed by the Group, which may result in decreased demand for such products and the 
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 

The Group’s sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products business segment is heavily focused on a 
single geographical region and the Group may be unsuccessful in expanding this business segment. 

The Group’s sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products business segment is primarily focused on Jiangsu 
Province and thereby, is more susceptible to adverse changes in this area, including changes in general economic 
conditions and the regulatory environment. Due to the limited geographical coverage of the Group’s operations, 
adverse changes in its target area could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group contemplates on diversifying its sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products business segment 
by developing additional business lines such as provision of financing services to pharmaceutical companies. 
The Group may consider acquiring a financial leasing company and seek to expand its sale and distribution of 
pharmaceutical products business in overseas markets through cross-border e-commerce platforms, such as 
setting up flagship shops on Tianmao.com and Taobao.com. The Group’s ability to successfully implement its 
expansion plans is dependent upon various factors, such as market conditions and availability of suitable 
acquisition target, some of which are out of its control. Any failure or delays in carrying out the expansion plans 
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and prospects. 
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Changes in technology may render the Group’s current products obsolete or require the Group to make 
substantial capital investments. 

The pharmaceutical industry is continually evolving due to technological advances and scientific discoveries. 
These changes result in frequent introduction of new products and significant price competition. If the 
pharmaceutical products that the Group sells or distributes become obsolete, its business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, the facilities and machinery currently used by the 
Group for sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products may become obsolete. The cost of upgrading its 
facilities could be significant, which could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

If the Group is unable to maintain stable relationships with its key customers or experience a significant loss 
of its key customers, the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially 
and adversely affected. 

The Group relies on certain key customers for a significant amount of its sales of pharmaceutical 
products. ’There is no assurance that the Group’s key customers will not breach these agreements. In case of 
serious breach by the key customers, the Group need to look for new customers. In addition, the current key 
customers may leave the Group’s network for reasons beyond the Group’s control. Finding new customers 
involves a significant investment of time and resources, and new customers may not be able to purchase the 
Group’s product offerings at the same or similar volumes as its current key customers. Thus, the Group’s failure 
to maintain stable relationships with its key customers may have a significant adverse effect on its revenues, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group relies on the sale of a number of key products for the majority of its revenue. If the supply and 
market prices of the key products are adversely affected, the Group’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 

The Group relies on the sale of a number of key products for the majority of its revenue from the sales of 
pharmaceutical products business. Since the pharmaceutical industry is in a period of robust innovation. New 
products are frequently being introduced are being developed. It is possible that such innovations will render 
obsolete the key products for which the Group currently heavily relies on, which may affect the Group’s viability 
and competitiveness. For more information, please refer to “Description of the Group”. 

If the supply and market prices of these key products are adversely affected by factors out of the Group’s control, 
such as heightened or new regulatory restrictions and strict storage requirements, or any shortages, fluctuations 
or shocks in the supply of the raw materials of these key products, the Group’s financial performance and results 
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 

Incidents that cast doubts over the quality or safety of pharmaceutical products may materially and adversely 
affect the Group’s business. 

Incidents that cast doubt over the quality or safety of pharmaceutical products manufactured, distributed or sold 
by other participants in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly the PRC pharmaceutical industry, including the 
Group’s competitors, have been, and may continue to be, subject to widespread media attention. Such incidents 
may damage the reputation of not only the parties involved, but also the pharmaceutical industry in general, even 
if such parties or incidents have no relation to the Group or its management, employees, suppliers or distributors. 
Such negative publicity may indirectly and adversely affect the Group’s reputation and business operations. In 
addition, incidents not related to product quality or safety, or other negative publicity or scandals implicating the 
Group or its employees, regardless of merit, may also have an adverse impact on the Group and its reputation 
and corporate image. 

The Group is susceptible to product liability claims and product recalls which may adversely affect its 
reputation and could result in significant expenses. 

From time to time, the pharmaceutical industry has experienced difficulties in obtaining the desired product 
liability insurance coverage, and product liability insurance may become prohibitively expensive in the future. 
The Group faces the risk of losses resulting from, and the adverse publicity associated with, product liability 
lawsuits, whether or not such claims are valid. Even unsuccessful product liability claims would likely require 
the Group to expend financial resources on litigation, divert management’s time, adversely affect its goodwill 
and impair the marketability of the products it sells. In addition, the Group cannot be certain that its product 
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liability insurance will, in fact, be sufficient to cover such claims or that the Group will be able to maintain 
adequate insurance coverage in the future at acceptable costs. Further, the Group may not have insurance 
coverage in, or may not have vendor extension coverage from, its strategic partners’ insurance policies in the 
countries to which the Group export the products. 

The Group is also exposed to risks inherent in marketing, distributing and selling pharmaceutical and healthcare 
products in the PRC and other jurisdictions where the products are marketed and sold. In recent years, 
pharmaceuticals manufactured by several companies have caused illness or even the deaths of end-users, 
sometimes because they were manufactured using incorrect chemicals and other times because they became 
contaminated. The companies involved were subject to substantial monetary fines and received substantial 
negative press coverage as a result. 

In addition, any defects in the products that the Group sells or distributes could require the Group to undertake 
product recalls. This could require the Group to expend considerable resources and time to go through a series of 
complicated product recall procedures in correcting the problems, which could adversely affect the demand for 
such products. Such product recalls may cause the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition 
to suffer. 

Any product liability claims against the Group or recalls could result in the incurrence of substantial costs and/or 
reputational damage. Improperly manufactured or contaminated products distributed and sold by the Group 
could lead to direct financial losses for the Group and may tarnish its brand. 

The Group has not been the subject of any material product liability claims. However, there can be no assurance 
that the Group will not be subject to similar claims in the future, which may materially and adversely affect the 
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group. 

Risks relating to the Group’s Leasing, Sales of Real Properties, Land Transfer and Construction 
Management Businesses. 

The Group’s business is significantly influenced by central and local government policy. 

The Taizhou SASAC is the largest shareholder of the Company, which is also closely supervised by the Taizhou 
Municipal Government. In addition, the Group is an important investment, financing and operating platform for 
the development of Taizhou Medical Zone and many of the Group’s projects depend heavily on government 
funding. 

Accordingly, the Taizhou Municipal Government and the Management Committee of Taizhou Medical High-
tech Industry Development District (the “Management Committee”) are in a position to influence the Group’s 
major business decisions and strategies significantly, including the scope of its activities, investment decisions 
and dividend policy. The policies of the Taizhou Municipal Government and the Management Committee on 
public spending and urban planning and development have had and will continue to have a significant impact on 
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

The Taizhou Municipal Government and the Management Committee are in turn influenced by the policies and 
directions of the central PRC government, which may be formulated due to changes in the PRC economic, 
political and social environment, or projections of population and employment growth. For example, in response 
to concerns over the increase in property investments, the PRC government has, over a number of years, 
introduced various policies and measures to curtail property developments. Such measures may limit property 
developers’ access to capital resources, reduce market demand for their properties and increase their operating 
costs in complying with these measures. There can be no assurance that the PRC government will not adopt 
additional and more stringent measures to further slowdown property development in China which may in result 
in a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The central PRC government and the Taizhou Municipal Government may have interests that are different from 
the interests of the Group. There can be no assurance that the central PRC government, the Taizhou Municipal 
Government or the Management Committee would always take actions that are in the Group’s best interests. It is 
possible that the government will unilaterally require the Group to make decisions or modify the scope of its 
activities, or impose new obligations on the Group which may not necessarily be in the Group’s best interests. 

Any amendment, modification or repeal of existing policies of the central PRC government, the Taizhou 
Municipal Government or the Management Committee could result in a modification of the existing regulatory 
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regime affecting the Group’s businesses which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
business financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, the controlling relationship between 
the Group and its controlling shareholder, namely the Taizhou SASAC does not necessarily correlate to, or 
provide any assurance as to the Group’s financial condition. 

The Group’s business requires substantial capital and any failure to obtain the capital needed on acceptable 
terms may adversely affect its expansion plans and growth prospects. 

The Group requires significant capital to fund every step of its land transfer business and construction 
management business: completing primary land development, acquiring land use rights, conducting real estate 
developments and carrying the Group’s construction management. The Group may need to continue incurring 
significant capital expenditure in the future. Any increase in capital expenditure may place significant stress on 
the Group’s cash flows and financial condition. 

In relation to debt financing, the Group’s ability to arrange adequate financing for its land transfer and 
construction management projects on terms that will allow the Group to achieve a favourable return on 
investment may depend on a number of factors, including, among others, general economic conditions, the 
Group’s financial strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions, the value of 
security pledged and the monetary policies in the PRC. In recent years, the PRC government has implemented a 
number of measures to prevent the PRC economy, and the property market in particular, from overheating, 
including policy initiatives aimed at using taxation, bank credit and land policies to regulate housing demand. 
Such regulations may limit the amount commercial banks can make available for lending to the Group and may 
thereby adversely affect the Group’s ability to obtain financing from, or renew existing credit facilities granted 
by, financial institutions. 

There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to continue to obtain sufficient proceeds to fund the 
Group’s current and future property developments. Any difficulties in selling its developed land, including future 
changes to PRC laws and regulations governing the sale of developed land and the change in development 
agenda and strategy of the local government, could extend the time required to recover the Group’s capital 
outlay and could thereby require the Group to seek alternative means to finance the Group’s land transfer and 
construction management projects at commercially acceptable costs and/or defer planned expenditures, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group may not be able to complete its land transfer and construction management projects on time or at 
all. 

Land transfer and construction management involves many steps and a long development cycle, and requires 
substantial capital expenditure prior to, and during, the construction period. Unpredictability in each step of the 
development cycle, such as approval, development and sale steps, may put significant stress on the Group’s 
ability to manage its land transfer and construction management projects. The progress and costs of land transfer 
and construction management projects may be materially and adversely affected by many factors, including: 

 delays in obtaining necessary licences, permits or approvals from PRC government agencies or authorities; 

 changes in property market conditions; 

 changes in PRC government policies, regulations and/or measures; 

 relocation of existing residents and/or demolition of existing structures; 

 shortages or increased costs of materials, equipment, contractors and skilled labour; 

 labour disputes; 

 construction accidents; 

 natural disasters or catastrophes; and 

 adverse weather conditions. 
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There can be no assurance that the Group will not experience construction delays or failure to complete a land 
transfer and construction management project according to its planned schedule or budget as a result of the 
above or any other factors, or that the Group will not be subject to any liabilities for any such delays. Any such 
event could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s revenue from sale of real properties may not be sufficient to cover its costs and expenses in the 
construction of real properties. 

Pre-sales constitute the most important source of operating cash flows of the Group’s sales of real properties 
business segment during the project development stage. PRC laws allow for pre-selling urban commercial 
properties before their completion upon satisfaction of certain requirements and require the developer to use the 
pre-sales proceeds to develop the projects pre-sold. The amount and timing of cash inflows from pre-sales are 
affected by a number of factors including demand for the Group’s projects subject to pre-sales and the number of 
property available for pre-sale. The Group has limited number of projects under development and there is no 
assurance that market demand for the projects available for pre-sales remains strong and stable. If the Group’s 
proceeds from pre-sales of real properties are not sufficient to cover its costs in connection with construction of 
the real properties and sales expenses for the same period, the Group will rely upon external financing, which 
will affect its ability to finance and expand its property developments. Failure to obtain the necessary financing 
could delay or prevent completion of projects, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. ’There is no assurance that the Group will be able to 
achieve positive operating cash flow in its sales of real properties business. 

The Group faces contractual and legal risks relating to the pre-sales of urban commercial properties. 

The Group faces contractual risks relating to the pre-sale of urban commercial properties. For example, if the 
Group fails to meet the completion deadline stated in pre-sale contracts, purchasers of pre-sold units have the 
contractual right to claim damages. If the Group still fails to deliver the properties to the purchasers within the 
grace period stipulated in the contract the purchasers have right of termination. The Group also faces the risk that 
the development of its real properties may not be completed and the risk that changes in laws and regulations in 
relation to the pre-sales of properties may adversely affect its business, cash flow, financial condition and results 
of operation. 

The Group’s land transfer and construction management business is subject to changes in government 
policies, zoning and design plans and land use rights sales plans with respect to land transfer and 
construction management in Taizhou or the Taizhou Medical Zone. 

Government authorities may, without prior notice to, or consent from, the Group, implement changes to existing 
policies and plans for land transfer and construction management in the Taizhou Medical Zone, or implement 
new policies or plans, which may adversely affect the Group’s operations and/or require the Group to adjust its 
development plans. The Taizhou Municipal Resources Administrative Bureau (泰州市國土資源管理局) may 
adjust the timing of the land use rights sales, the number of the land parcels put up for sale and the land parcels 
to be prioritised for sale without consulting the Group or obtaining the Group’s consent. 

Although the Group may have creditor’s rights against the local governments for costs it has incurred for the 
clearing and levelling of land as well as the construction of ancillary urban infrastructure, if for any reason the 
local government decides not to sell a certain piece of land developed by the Group, there can be no assurance 
that the Group would be able to bring a successful claim, if at all, against the local governments. 

All of the Group’s land transfer and construction management projects are based in a single geographical 
region. 

All of the Group’s current and anticipated land transfer and construction management projects and properties for 
leasing are located in Taizhou Medical Zone. Any material region-wide adverse events may negatively impact 
the demand for land in Taizhou Medical Zone, which would in turn affect land sales, revenue including rental 
income and profitability of the Group. Such adverse events include changes in economic conditions and the 
regulatory environment, changes in the government’s development plans and policies in Taizhou, slow-down in 
the property sector, decrease in investor confidence within the region, significant natural disasters and man-made 
incidents. Due to the limited geographical coverage of its operations, the Group may not be able to effectively 
manage any potential losses arising from these adverse events, which may materially and adversely affect the 
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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The Group faces risks associated with contracting with public authorities and entities 

Designated by the Taizhou Municipal Government to take a leading role in the development, construction and 
management of the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Group collaborates with various governmental authorities and 
their controlled entities in Taizhou. Although the Group believes it currently maintains good, constructive 
working relationships with those governmental authorities and entities relevant to its businesses, there can be no 
assurance that these relationships will continue to be maintained in good terms in the future. Local governments 
and the government-controlled entities with which the Group collaborates may have economic or business 
interests or consideration that are inconsistent with those of the Group; (ii) take actions contrary to the Group’s 
requests, policies or objectives; (iii) be unable or unwilling to fulfil their obligations; (iv) have financial 
difficulties; or (v) have disputes with the Group as to the scope of their responsibilities and obligations. If there 
are disagreements between the Group companies and the local governments, there can be no assurance that the 
Group is able to successfully resolve them in a timely manner. Disputes with public bodies may last for 
considerably longer periods of time than for those that occur with private sector counterparties, and payments 
from the public bodies may be delayed as a result. Any of these and other factors may materially and adversely 
affect the business relationships between the Group and the local governments and the governmental entities, 
which may in turn materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations 
and prospects. 

The Group’s reliance on independent contractors for completion of its projects may result in challenges in 
quality control, and substantial costs and delays. 

The Group engages independent contractors to provide various services in relation to its land transfer and 
construction management activities, such as construction and engineering services. The independent contractors 
are selected through a bidding process. The Group assesses and selects its project contractors based on their 
reputation for reliability, timeliness, quality, track record and strength of references. The Group oversees 
development progress for its projects once a contract begins and implements standardised processes with which 
contractors are required to comply. However, there can be no assurance that the Group’s contractors will at all 
times provide satisfactory services that meet the Group’s quality standards, or act in compliance with applicable 
laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the independent contractors may undertake projects from other 
developers, engage in higher-risk undertakings or encounter financial or other difficulties, which may delay the 
completion of the Group’s property projects or impose additional costs on the Group. Furthermore, if the Group 
needs to terminate the engagement of a contractor, the Group may not be able to find a replacement contractor 
on suitable terms, if at all, and the timetable for completing projects could be affected. Any such events could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group may fail to lease its properties or maintain the current level of occupancy rate which may 
negatively impact the Group’s financial position and results of operation. 

The Group derives rental income by leasing properties and service platform owned by itself. There can be no 
assurance that the Group could successfully lease its properties and maintain the current level of occupancy rate 
and in case the Group fails to lease a substantial portion of such properties, the Group may be subject to a 
material cash outflow which could materially and adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial 
position. Further, for those properties the Group successfully leased, there can be no assurance that the tenants 
will not default in paying rents. If a significant number of tenants default on their rental payments, the Group’s 
business, results of operations and financial position could be materially and adversely affected. 

The Group guarantees a substantial amount of bank loans of its subsidiaries, third-party state-owned 
enterprise and other enterprises in the Taizhou Medical Zone, which may negatively impact the Group’s 
financial position if the Group is required to honour the guarantees. 

The Group provides guarantees over loans given by domestic banks to its subsidiaries, other state-owned 
enterprises and other enterprises in the Taizhou Medical Zone. In line with industry practice, the Group does not 
conduct independent credit reviews of third-party state-owned enterprises and other enterprises in the Taizhou 
Medical Zone to which it provides guarantees but rely on the credit reviews conducted by the banks. As at 30 
June 2020, the Group did not encounter any incidents of default which required the Company to perform its 
obligations under the guarantees. There can be no assurance that defaults will not occur in the future, in which 
case the Group’s business, results of operations and financial position could be materially and adversely affected. 
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The Group’s actual development costs of a property development project may deviate from its initial 
estimations due to fluctuations in cost of labour, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on its 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Group estimates the relevant total development costs which comprise, among other things, land premium, 
construction and other development costs, capitalised borrowing costs, etc. at the beginning of a property 
development project. The Group has also developed operating procedures to monitor the progress of 
development works to ensure minimal deviation from the pre-approved budgets. However, the Group’s total 
development costs are subject to numerous factors which may be beyond its control. 

The Group’s construction costs have also been affected by rising labour costs in the PRC in recent years, and it 
expects labour costs in the PRC to continue to increase in the future. Furthermore, the PRC property market is 
significantly affected by the policy and regulatory measures introduced by the PRC government from time to 
time which may affect various aspects of its property development operations, including but not limited to the 
Group’s cost of financing as well as the schedule of development of its property projects, which in turn may 
result in deviation from its initial estimated development costs. 

If the actual development costs of the Group’s projects deviate materially from its initial estimation, the Group’s 
business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected. 

Other Business Related Risks 

The Group’s operational cash flow may fluctuate and may be volatile. 

The Group’s operating cash flows are primarily derived from the payment it receives in its operations of sales 
and distribution of pharmaceutical products, leasing business, land transfer, construction management and sales 
of real properties. The Group had historically experienced net operating cash outflow. Such operating cash 
outflows were primarily due to the credit terms for the payments from the end customers of the Group’s sales of 
pharmaceutical products and the Taizhou municipal government as well as the Group’s substantial capital 
expenditure for acquiring land use rights through government auctions, tendering and listing to sale. 

Currently, the Group substantially relies upon external financing through bank loans and bond issuances, as well 
as from government subsidies the Management Committee to generate sufficient cash to financing its business 
operations. ’If the Group is unable to raise sufficient financing in a timely manner or on favourable terms or if 
the government delays or suspends the payment of government subsidies, the Group’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations and the Group’s ability to perform its payment obligations under the Bonds 
will be materially and adversely affected. For more details, see “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Bonds, the 
Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit – The Group’s governmental subsidies may be unstable”. 

Accounts receivable may affect the Group’s liquidity and restrict the Group’s business activities. 

The Group’s accounts receivables mainly consist of payments to be made by the customers of sales and 
distribution of pharmaceutical products as well as the local government to cover the cost and expenses of the 
Group in conducting land transfer and construction management. Any substantial write-off may materially and 
adversely affected, the Group’s liquidity, business, financial condition or results of operations. ’ 

The Group maintains a substantial level of indebtedness which may mature. 

The Group maintains a substantial level of indebtedness to finance its land transfer business and construction 
management business operations. Given the capital intensive nature of the land transfer business and 
construction management business, the Group expects to continue to maintain a high level of indebtedness in the 
future in line with its business growth. With a substantial portion of indebtedness maturing in the near future, if 
the Group is unable to generate sufficient cash from operations to make scheduled payments in connection with 
its debt and other fixed payment obligations as they become due, it may need to renegotiate the terms and 
conditions of such obligations or obtain replacement debt financing. There can be no assurance that such 
renegotiation efforts would be successful or timely or that the Group would be able to refinance its obligations 
on acceptable terms or at all. 
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If financial institutions decline to lend additional funds to the Group or to refinance its existing loans when they 
mature as a result of its credit risk and it fails to raise financing through other means, there could be a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If the Group or any of its subsidiaries is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in their debt 
agreements, there could be a default under the terms of these agreements which could cause repayment of the 
Bonds to be accelerated. 

If the Group is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in its current or future debt and other 
agreements, there could be a default under the terms of such agreements. In the event of a default under such 
agreements, the holders of the debt could terminate their commitments to lend to the Group or the relevant 
subsidiaries, accelerate the debt and declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or terminate the agreements, 
as the case may be. Some of the financing arrangements entered into by the Group or its subsidiaries contain 
cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. As a result, a default under one debt agreement may cause the 
acceleration of not only such debt but also other debt, including the Bonds, or result in a default under other debt 
agreements. If any of these events occur, there is no assurance that the Group’s assets and cash flow would be 
sufficient to repay in full all of such indebtedness, or that the Group would be able to find alternative financing 
on acceptable terms or at all. 

The Group’s governmental subsidies may be unstable. 

The Group has received government subsidies over the years. The Group’s governmental subsidies mainly 
include (a) subsidy for Greening Improvement of Hailing South Road, Housing and Construction Bureau of 
Taizhou Medical High-tech Zone, Comprehensive Supporting District (泰州醫藥高新區住建局會展交易區、

綜合配套區海陵南路綠化提升補助) granted by Housing Construction Bureau of Taizhou Medical High-tech 
Zone, (b) central government grants for the transformation of urban shantytowns (城市棚戶區改造中央補助資

金) granted by Finance Bureau of Taizhou Medical Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone, (c) the central 
government’s special fund for urban affordable housing projects in 2019, the second phase of the affordable 
resettlement housing on the south side of Kangju (2019 年度中央財政城鎮保障性安居工程專項資金康居南

側地塊保障性安置房二期) granted by Finance Bureau of Taizhou Medical Hi-tech Industrial Development 
Zone, (d) provincial-level affordable housing project construction guidance funds in 2019 (Phase II of the 
affordable resettlement housing on the south side of Kangju) (2019 年度省级保障性安居工程建设引导资金

（康居南侧地块保障性安置房二期）) granted by Finance Bureau of Taizhou Medical Hi-tech Industrial 
Development Zone, (e) greening subsidy for Gulou South Road, Housing and Urban-rural Construction Bureau, 
Taizhou Medical High-tech Zone (泰州醫藥高新區住建局康健醫療區、綜合配套區鼓樓南路綠化補助) 
granted by Housing Construction Bureau of Taizhou Medical High-tech Zone, (f) subsidies for pre-investment of 
project land in Kangjian Medical District (康健醫療區項目用地前期投入補助) granted by the Management 
Committee, and (g) subsidies for energy construction project (能源建設項目) granted by the Management 
Committee. The subsidies allocated to the Group by the Finance Bureau of Taizhou Medical High-tech Industry 
Development District are classified as categorical policy subsidies, and is significantly affected by the Taizhou 
Municipal Government’s temporary policies with respect to the area(s) of sales and distribution of 
pharmaceutical products. The governmental subsidies received by the Group may vary from year to year in 
amount. As a result, the Group is subject to the risk of fluctuation in operational income due to the unstable 
nature of governmental subsidies, as well as the fact that these amounts are a significant proportion of the 
Group’s overall operating income. Change in the amount and policy regarding governmental subsidies may 
materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group’s business operations and prospects are dependent on the level of economic development in the 
Taizhou Medical Zone and policies of relevant local governments. 

The Group’s business is heavily affected by the level of economic development of the Taizhou Medical Zone 
and Taizhou City. The Taizhou Municipal Government’s policies in connection with urban development, 
particularly those concerning the Taizhou Medical Zone, have a significant impact on the Group’s business 
operations and growth prospects. 

Key factors affecting the development of the Taizhou Medical Zone are the economic conditions and prospects 
in Jiangsu Province and in the PRC generally. In recent years, there has been a slowdown in the growth of the 
PRC’s GDP and this has raised market concerns that the historic rapid growth of the economy of the PRC may 
not be sustainable. According to the National Statistics Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth rate of China’s 
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GDP in 2015 slowed down to 6.9 per cent. on a year-on-year basis compared to 6.8 per cent. in 2017, and it 
further decreased to 6.6 per cent. in 2018 on a year-on-year basis, representing the slowest growth in the past 28 
years. According to the Jiangsu Provincial Statistics Bureau, the Taizhou City’s GDP increased from 
RMB474,453 million in 2017 to RMB513,336 million in 2019. However, the annual growth rate of the Taizhou 
City’s GDP slowed down from 8.2% for the year 2017 to 6.4% for the year 2019. There can be no assurance that 
the economic development in Taizhou City will maintain its historical growth rates, if at all, and it is unclear 
how the economic development in Taizhou City will be affected by a perceivable slowdown in the growth of the 
PRC economy in general. Any continuing slowdown in the economic growth in Taizhou City may affect the 
Taizhou Municipal Government’s development plan for the Taizhou Medical Zone, decrease the demand for the 
Group’s businesses and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects. 

The development and growth potential of the Group’s businesses are also affected by the robustness of the 
support provided to Taizhou Medical Zone by the relevant government authorities. The Taizhou Municipal 
Government’s policies and development priorities relating to the development of the Taizhou Medical Zone have 
a significant impact on the attractiveness and competitiveness of the Taizhou Medical Zone to the enterprises 
that are engaged in the regional pharmaceutical market. Since the major suppliers of the Group’s sales and 
distribution of pharmaceutical products business and the customers of its land transfer business, construction 
management business and leasing businesses are mainly the enterprises operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone, 
the Group heavily relies on the development of the Taizhou Medical Zone and the support of the relevant 
government authorities to maintain and grow its business. 

The Group may not be able to detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, 
representatives, agents, customers or other third parties. 

The Group may be exposed to fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, representatives, agents, 
customers or other third parties that could subject it to financial losses and sanctions imposed by governmental 
authorities, which in turn could affect its reputation. Such misconduct could include: 

 hiding unauthorised or unsuccessful activities, resulting in unknown and unmanaged risks or losses; 

 intentionally concealing material facts, or failing to perform necessary due diligence procedures designed to 
identify potential risks, which are material to the Group in deciding whether to make investments or dispose 
of assets; 

 improperly using or disclosing confidential information; 

 recommending products, services or transactions that are not suitable for the Group’s customers; 

 misappropriation of funds; 

 conducting transactions that exceed authorised limits; 

 engaging in misrepresentation or fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise improper activities when marketing or 
selling products; 

 engaging in unauthorised or excessive transactions to the detriment of the Group’s customers; 

 making or accepting the bribery activities; 

 conducting any inside dealing; or 

 otherwise not complying with applicable laws or the Group’s internal policies and procedures. 

The Group’s internal control procedures are designed to monitor its operations and ensure overall compliance. 
However, such internal control procedures may be unable to identify all incidents of noncompliance or 
suspicious transactions in a timely manner, if at all. Furthermore, it is not always possible to detect and prevent 
fraud and other misconduct, and the precautions the Group takes to prevent and detect such activities may not be 
effective. There is no assurance that fraud or other misconduct will not occur in the future. If such fraud or other 
misconduct does occur, it may cause negative publicity. 
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The Group is exposed to litigation risks. 

The Group may from time to time be involved in disputes with governmental entities, local residents, contractors, 
suppliers, employees and other third-party service providers during the course of its daily operations. Claims 
may be brought against members of the Group based on a number of causes, such as defective or incomplete 
work, personal injuries, property damage or delay in the completion and delivery of projects. In addition, the 
Group may bring claims against project contractors for additional costs incurred as a result of contractors’ 
underperformance or non-performance, project defects or default by contractors. If the disputes or claims are not 
resolved or settled through negotiation or mediation, the Group may be involved in lengthy and costly litigation 
or arbitration proceedings, which may divert and distract the Group’s financial and managerial resources. 

The outcome of litigation may be difficult to assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in such lawsuits could seek recovery of 
large or indeterminate amounts, and the magnitude of potential losses relating to such lawsuits may remain 
unknown for substantial periods of time. There could also be negative publicity associated with litigation, 
regardless of whether the allegations are found not to be valid or whether the Group is ultimately found liable. 

In the event that the Group prevails in those legal proceedings, there is no assurance that the judgment or award 
will be effectively enforced. If a judgment or an award is rendered against the Group, the amount payable by the 
Group may not be fully covered by the Group’s insurance, and the amount could differ from the provisions made 
by the Group based on its estimates. Any material charges associated with claims brought against the Group and 
material write-downs associated with the Group’s claims could have a material adverse impact on its financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flow. 

The Group may not remain profitable in the future. 

The financial performance of the Group has and may continue to fluctuate periodically and the Group may not 
maintain profitability at all in the future. The Group may incur losses in the future for a number of reasons, 
including the other risks described in this Information Memorandum, and may further encounter unforeseen 
expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown events. If the Group’s operating income fails to 
increase at the rate it anticipates or if its expenses increase at a faster rate than the increase in operating income, 
the Group may not be able to remain profitable. 

The Group shall be subject to value-added tax in the PRC. 

On 19 November 2017, the State Council revised the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on Value-added Tax 
(中華人民共和國增值稅暫行條例), which stipulates that, organisations and individuals engaging in the sale of 
goods in the PRC shall be taxpayers of value-added tax and shall pay value-added tax (“VAT”). The Group shall 
be subject to the PRC VAT and the VAT tax rate for the Group range from 3% to 17% depending on the 
business involved, which may adversely affect the income, financial condition and results of operations of the 
Group. 

Labour shortages, labour disputes or increases in labour costs of any third-party contractors engaged for the 
Group’s projects could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, prospects and results of 
operations. 

The Group relies on its contractors to carry out land transfer business, construction management business and 
construction of commercial real estates and affordable housing. Many of these businesses are labour intensive. 
As such labour shortages, labour disputes or increases in labour costs of third-party contractors could materially 
and adversely affect the Group’s business, prospects and results of operations. Industrial action or other labour 
unrest could directly or indirectly prevent or hinder the construction progress, and, if not resolved in a timely 
manner, could lead to delays in completing the Group’s projects. These actions are beyond the Group’s 
foreseeability or control. There can be no assurance that labour unrest will not affect general labour market 
conditions or result in changes to labour laws. In recent years, work stoppages, employee suicide and other 
similar events in certain cities in the PRC have caused the PRC government to amend labour laws to enhance 
protection of employees’ rights. Increasing awareness of labour protection as well as increasing minimum wages 
is likely to increase the labour costs of PRC enterprises in general, including contractors participating in the 
Group’s projects. As the Group is responsible for making progress payments to its contractors, any increase in 
the labour costs of those contractors may negatively affect the Group’s cash flow, which could materially and 
adversely affect the Group’s business, prospects and results of operations. 
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The Group’s labour costs may increase for reasons such as the implementation of the PRC employment 
regulation. 

The PRC Labour Contract Law (中華人民共和國勞動合同法) became effective on 1 January 2008 in the PRC 
and was amended on 28 December 2012 and became effective on 1 July 2013. It imposes more stringent 
requirements on employers in relation to entry into fixed-term employment contracts and dismissal of employees. 
Pursuant to the PRC Labour Contract Law, the employer is required to make compensation payment to a fixed-
term contract employee when the term of their employment contract expires, unless the employee does not agree 
to renew the contract even though the conditions offered by the employer for renewal are the same as or better 
than those stipulated in the current employment contract. In general, the amount of compensation payment is 
equal to the monthly wage of the employee multiplied by the number of completed years that the employee has 
worked for the employer. A minimum wage requirement has also been incorporated into the PRC Labour 
Contract Law. In addition, unless otherwise prohibited by the PRC Labour Contract Law or objected to by the 
employees themselves, the employer is also required to enter into non fixed-term employment contracts with 
employees who have previously entered into fixed-term employment contracts for two consecutive terms. 

In addition, under the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees (職工帶薪年休假條例), which became 
effective on 1 January 2008, employees who have worked continuously for more than one year are entitled to 
paid annual leave ranging from five to 15 days, depending on the length of that employee’s work time. 
Employees who consent to waive such leave at the request of employers shall be compensated an amount equal 
to three times their normal daily salaries for each vacation day being waived. Under the National Leisure and 
Tourism Outline 2013-2020 (國民旅遊休閒綱要 2013-2020) which became effective on 2 February 2013, 
almost all workers must receive paid annual leave by 2020. As a result of the PRC Labour Contract Law, the 
Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the National Leisure and Tourism Outline 2013-2020, the 
Group’s labour costs (inclusive of those incurred by contractors) may increase. Further, under the PRC Labour 
Contract Law, when an employer terminates its PRC employees’ employment, the employer may be required to 
compensate them for such amount which is determined based on their length of service with the employer, and 
the employer may not be able to efficiently terminate non fixed-term employment contracts under the PRC 
Labour Contract Law without cause. In the event the Group decides to significantly change or reduce its 
workforce, the PRC Labour Contract Law could adversely affect its ability to effect these changes in a cost-
effective manner or in a manner that the Group desires, which could result in an adverse impact on the Group’s 
businesses, financial condition and results of operations. 

Further, in the event that there is a labour shortage or a significant increase to labour costs, the Group’s business 
operation costs are likely to increase. In such circumstances, the profit margin may decrease and the financial 
results may be adversely affected. In addition, inflation in the PRC has increased in recent years. Inflation in the 
PRC increases both the costs of raw materials required by the Group for conducting its businesses and the costs 
of labour. Rising labour costs may increase the Group’s operating costs and partially erode the cost advantage of 
the Group’s operations and therefore negatively impact the Group’s profitability. 

The Group’s businesses may be adversely affected if it is unable to retain and hire qualified employees. 

The success of the Group’s business is dependent to a large extent on its ability to attract and retain key 
personnel who possess in-depth knowledge and understanding of the industries in which the Group invests or 
operates. Competition for attracting and retaining these individuals is intense. Such competition may require the 
Group to offer higher compensation and other benefits in order to attract and retain qualified professionals, 
which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. As a result, 
the Group may be unable to attract or retain these personnel to achieve its business objectives, and failure to do 
so could severely disrupt its business and prospects. For example, the Group may not be able to hire enough 
qualified personnel to support its new investment projects or business expansion. As the Group expands its 
business or hires new employees, the employees may take time to become accustomed to any new standard 
procedures and, consequently, may not comply with the standard procedures of any new business in an accurate 
and timely manner. The occurrence of any of the events discussed above could lead to unexpected losses to the 
Group and adversely affect its operating income and financial conditions. 
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The Group is subject to environmental regulations and may be exposed to liability and potential costs for 
environmental compliance. 

The pharmaceutical industry and the land development and real estate construction industry are highly regulated 
within the PRC, and the Group is subject to certain laws and regulations concerning the protection of the 
environment in these industries. 

In terms of the pharmaceutical industry, the Group is subject to the PRC environmental laws, rules and 
regulations concerning the discharge of effluent water and solid waste as well as the disposal of hazardous 
substances during its sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products and its warehousing and logistics of 
pharmaceutical products, and may become subject to similar laws, rules and regulations in China and other 
jurisdictions in the future. In addition, the Group is required to obtain clearances and authorizations from 
government authorities for the treatment and disposal of such discharge. 

In terms of the land development and real estate construction industry, the particular environmental laws and 
regulations that apply to each property development project vary according to its location, the environmental 
factors associated with such development, construction and/or operations and the current and future use of the 
land and the properties. As the PRC government increases its focus on environment protection, the Group’s 
projects may be more strictly reviewed and inspected, and approval processes for future projects or any alteration 
to existing projects may be prolonged. 

Compliance with environmental laws and conditions may result in delays, cause the Group to incur substantial 
compliance and other costs and prohibit or severely restrict the Group’s activity in environmentally-sensitive 
regions or areas. 

Any violation of environmental regulations may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions, revocation of 
operating permits, shutdown of the Group’s facilities and obligation to take corrective measures. Furthermore, 
any actual or alleged violation of environmental regulations may cause severe reputational damage to the Group. 
The cost of complying with current and future environmental protection laws and regulations may materially 
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In the future, the PRC Government may adopt more stringent environmental regulations and there can be no 
assurance that the Group will be at all times in full compliance with these regulatory requirements. As a result, 
the amount and timing of the Group’s environmental expenditures may vary substantially from those currently 
anticipated. If there is any unanticipated change in the environmental regulations, the Group may need to incur 
substantial capital expenditures to install, replace, upgrade or supplement its equipment or make operational 
changes in order to comply with new environmental protection laws and regulations. If such costs become 
prohibitively expensive, the Group may be forced to modify, curtail or cease certain of its business operations. 

The Group’s operations are subject to hazards customary to various industries the Group operates in and the 
Group’s insurance policies may be insufficient to cover losses in the future. 

The Group participates in operations in various industries through its subsidiaries, and its operation involves 
many potential risks, including hazardous materials, breakdown, equipment failures, substandard performance of 
equipment, improper installation or operation of equipment, natural disasters, environmental or industrial 
accidents, fuel supply disruptions, labour disturbances, disputes with contractors and other business interruptions. 
The occurrence of any of the above may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business or results of 
operations. 

The Group maintains insurance policies covering both its assets and employees in line with general business 
practices in the PRC in the PRC property development industry and pharmaceutical industry, with policy 
specifications and insured limits which the Group believes are adequate. There are, however, certain types of 
losses (such as from wars, acts of terrorism or acts of God, business interruption, property risks and third party 
(public) liability) that generally are not insured because they are either uninsurable or not economically insurable. 
Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Group will not be sued or held liable for damages due to any 
tortious acts or other events for which insurance is not generally available on commercially practical terms. 
Therefore, while the Group believes that its practice is in line with the general practice in the PRC property 
development industry, there may be instances when the Group will have to bear losses, damage and liabilities 
because of the Group’s lack of insurance coverage. If the Group suffers any losses, damages or liabilities in the 
course of the Group’s business operations, the Group may not have sufficient funds to cover such losses, 
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damages or liabilities or to replace any property under development that has been destroyed. Any such events 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Group may not have maintained sufficient insurance coverage against potential losses or damages with 
respect to its properties. Its business may be adversely affected due to natural disasters or similar events. 
Although the Group carries insurance on its properties of types and in amounts and with deductibles and 
limitations that it believes are in line with coverage customarily obtained by owners of similar properties, there 
are other types of losses for which the Group cannot obtain insurance at a reasonable cost, or at all. Should an 
uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured limits occur, the Group could loss all or a significant portion of the 
capital invested in a property, as well as the anticipated future turnover from the property. Nevertheless, the 
Group may remain liable for any loans or other financial obligations related to the property. Any material 
uninsured loss would have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flow. 

The Group’s business may be adversely affected by Acts of God, epidemics, and other disasters 

The Group’s business is subject to general and social conditions. Natural disasters, epidemics, acts of God and 
other events and disasters that are beyond the Group’s control may materially and adversely affect the economy, 
infrastructure and livelihoods of the people in the PRC. Certain areas at the PRC have experienced epidemics 
such as avian and swine influenza. Starting from December 2019, the novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic 
has adversely affected global financial, foreign exchange, commodity and energy markets. The pandemic has 
since spread globally and there have been increased initial infection and fatality rates across the world. On 11 
March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The COVID-19 
pandemic and policies implemented by governments to deter the spread of the disease have had and may 
continue to have an adverse effect on consumer confidence and the general economic conditions which the 
Group’s business is subject to. Governments of many countries (including the PRC) have declared a state of 
emergency, closed their borders to international travellers and issued stay-at-home orders with a view to 
containing the pandemic. There is no assurance that such measures will be effective in ending or deterring the 
spread of COVID-19. As COVID-19 continues to spread globally, many more countries may be affected, which 
may result in the extension or implementation of further restrictive measures. The resultant disruptions to the 
supply chain and reduced levels of consumption, commercial activities and industrial production in the affected 
countries may result in an economic slowdown in such economies which, if prolonged, could cause a global 
recession. There can be no assurance that this epidemic will not intensify or recur, or that other similar outbreaks 
or epidemic will not occur, in Asia or China. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE PRC 

The Group is subject to the political, legal and economic risks of doing business in the PRC. 

The Company expects that the Group will make further investments in the PRC. The Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations and future prospects depend to a large extent on the success of the Group’s 
operations in the PRC and are subject, to a significant degree, to the political and economic situation and legal 
developments in the PRC. 

The PRC economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including: 

 extent of government involvement; 

 overall level of development; 

 growth rate; 

 economic and political structure; 

 control of foreign exchange; 

 allocation of resources; and 

 regulation of capital investment or reinvestment. 
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Before its adoption of reform and open-door policies in 1978, the PRC was primarily a planned economy. The 
PRC government has been reforming the PRC economic system and the government structure. These reforms 
have resulted in significant economic growth and social progress. While the PRC economy has experienced 
significant growth in the past few decades, growth has been uneven, both geographically and among the various 
sectors of the economy. The PRC Government has implemented various measures to encourage economic 
growth and guide the allocation of resources. Some of these measures benefit the overall PRC economy but may 
also have a negative effect on the Group’s operations. For example, the Group’s financial condition and 
operating results may be adversely affected by the PRC Government’s control over capital investments or any 
changes in tax regulations or foreign exchange controls that are applicable to it. 

The legal system of the PRC is still developing and there are inherent uncertainties that may affect the 
protection afforded to the Group’s business. 

The Group is organised under the laws of the PRC and is governed by its articles of association. The PRC legal 
system is based on written statutes. Prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have limited weight as 
precedents. Since 1979, the PRC government has been developing a comprehensive system of commercial laws 
and considerable progress has been made in introducing laws and regulations dealing with economic matters 
such as foreign investment, corporate organisation and governance, commerce, taxation and trade. However, 
because these laws and regulations are relatively new, and because of the limited number and non-binding nature 
of published cases, the interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations involve uncertainties. 

In particular, the land development, real estate and pharmaceutical industries are all highly regulated in the PRC. 
As the PRC legal system develops together with PRC land development, real estate and pharmaceutical 
industries, there can be no assurance that changes in such laws and regulations, or in their interpretation or 
enforcement, will not have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s business operations. 

It may be difficult to effect service of process upon, or to enforce against, the Group or its Directors or senior 
management who reside in the PRC in connection with judgments obtained in non-PRC courts. 

The Group is organised under the laws of the PRC and substantially all of its assets are located in the PRC. In 
addition, all of the Group’s directors, supervisors and senior managers reside within the PRC, and substantially 
all of its assets and the assets of its directors, supervisors and executive officers are located within the PRC. The 
PRC does not have treaties providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments of courts with 
the United States, the United Kingdom, Japan and many other countries. Therefore, it may not be possible for 
investors to effect service of process outside the PRC upon those persons in the PRC or to enforce against the 
Group or the Group’s directors, supervisors and senior managers in the PRC, any judgments obtained from non-
PRC courts. In addition, recognition and enforcement in the PRC of judgments of a court of any other 
jurisdiction in relation to any matter not subject to a binding arbitration provision may be difficult or impossible. 

The Group is subject to restrictions on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC and governmental 
controls on currency conversion, and may be affected by the risks relating to fluctuations in exchange rates in 
the future. 

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of Renminbi into foreign currencies and the 
remittance of currency out of PRC. Substantially all of the Group’s operating income are denominated in 
Renminbi, a portion of which may need to be converted into other currencies in order to meet the Group’s 
foreign currency obligations, such as payments of dividends, overseas acquisitions, and payments of principal 
and interests under the Bonds or other foreign currency denominated debt, if any. 

Under the existing PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange, payments of current account items, including 
profit distributions, interest payments and trade and service related foreign exchange transactions, can be made 
in foreign currencies without prior approval from the SAFE provided that certain procedural requirements are 
complied with. Approval from or registration with competent government authorities is required where 
Renminbi is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out of the PRC to pay capital expenses such as 
the repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies. The PRC government may, at its discretion, take 
measures to restrict access to foreign currencies for current account and capital account transactions under 
certain circumstances. If the foreign exchange control system prevents the Group from obtaining sufficient 
foreign currencies to satisfy the Group’s foreign currency demands, the Group may not be able to pay interests 
and/or principal to holders of the Bonds or other foreign currency denominated debt, if any. In addition, there 
can be no assurance that new laws or regulations will not be promulgated in the future that would have the effect 
of further restricting the remittance of Renminbi into or out of the PRC. 
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The proceeds from the offering of the Bonds will be received in U.S. dollars. As a result, any appreciation of 
Renminbi against U.S. dollars or any other foreign currencies may result in the decrease in the value of the 
Group’s foreign currency-denominated assets and the Group’s proceeds from the offering of the Bonds. 
Conversely, any depreciation of Renminbi may adversely affect the Group’s ability to service the Bonds. 

The value of Renminbi against U.S. dollars and other foreign currencies is subject to changes in the PRC’s 
policies, as well as international economic and political developments. On 11 August 2015, the PBOC 
announced to reform the central parity quotations of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar by authorizing market-
makers to provide central parity quotations to the China Foreign Exchange Trading Centre with reference to the 
interbank foreign exchange market closing rate on the previous day, the supply and demand for foreign exchange 
as well as changes in major international currency exchange rates. On the same day, the central parity of 
Renminbi against the U.S. dollar depreciated by nearly 2% as compared to 10 August 2015. In January and 
February 2016, Renminbi experienced further fluctuations in value against the U.S. dollar. In 2017, the 
Renminbi depreciated as against the U.S. dollar and continued to fluctuate in 2018 and early 2019. Against the 
backdrop of uncertain trade and global economy, the PBOC authorised the China Foreign Exchange Trade 
System and National Interbank Funding Centre on 8 August 2019 to publish the central parity rate of the 
Renminbi as against the U.S. dollar in the interbank exchange market, which was U.S.$1.00 to RMB7.0039. 
That was the first time the value of the Renminbi as against the U.S. dollar fell below RMB7.00 per a U.S. dollar 
since 2008. There can be no assurance that Renminbi will not experience significant depreciation or appreciation 
against U.S. dollars or against any other currency in the future. With the development of the foreign exchange 
market and progress towards interest rate liberalisation and Renminbi internationalisation, the PRC government 
may in the future announce further changes to the exchange rate system. Fluctuations in the value of Renminbi 
could adversely affect the value of the Group’s foreign currency-denominated transactions along with the value 
of the cash flow generated from its foreign currency-denominated operations, thereby adversely affecting its 
profitability. 

Furthermore, the Group is required to obtain SAFE’s approval before converting significant amounts of foreign 
currencies into Renminbi. As a result, any significant increase in the value of Renminbi against foreign 
currencies could reduce the value of the Group’s foreign currency-denominated operating income and assets and 
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects. 

The Issuer shall be subject to PRC enterprise income tax on its income derived from the PRC and may be 
treated as a PRC resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes, which will result in it being subject to PRC 
enterprise income tax on its worldwide income and Bondholders being subject to PRC taxes on interest 
payments and gains from the sale of Bonds. 

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”), which became effective on 1 January 2008, and was 
amended on 29 December 2018 and its Implementation Regulations as last amended on 23 April 2019, 
enterprises organised under the laws of jurisdictions outside the PRC, are subject to PRC enterprise income tax 
at the rate of 25% for income derived from or accruing in the PRC by its office or premises established in China 
and for income derived from or accruing outside the PRC for which the established office or premises has a de 
facto relationship. In the event that the Issuer is treated as a non-resident enterprise, it shall be subject to PRC 
enterprise income tax on its income derived from the PRC. 

In the event that the Issuer is treated as a non-resident enterprise and it does not have a permanent establishment 
in the PRC, it should be subject to PRC enterprise income tax for income derived from or accrued in the PRC, at 
the tax rate of 10 per cent. (tax treaty may provide preferential treatment). If it has a permanent establishment in 
the PRC while the income derived from or accruing in the PRC does not have a de facto relationship with that 
permanent establishment, the tax rate of 10 per cent. shall also apply (tax treaty may provide preferential 
treatment). 

On the other hand, under the EIT Law and its Implementing Regulation, enterprises organised under the laws of 
jurisdictions outside the PRC with “de facto management bodies” located within the PRC are deemed to be 
“resident enterprises for PRC tax purposes”, and are therefore subject to PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 
25% in respect of their income sourced from both within and outside China. In April 2009, July 2011 and 
January 2014, the SAT issued several circulars to clarify certain criteria for the administrative procedures 
determination of the “de facto management bodies” for foreign enterprises controlled by PRC enterprises. In the 
event that the Issuer is treated as a PRC resident enterprise, it shall be subject to PRC enterprise income tax on 
its worldwide income. 
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Furthermore, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC resident enterprise, payments of interest by the Issuer may be 
regarded as derived from sources within the PRC and therefore the Issuer may be obligated to withhold PRC 
income tax at 10% on payments of interest on the Bonds to non-PRC resident enterprise investors (tax treaty 
may provide preferential treatment). In the case of non-PRC resident individual investors, the tax may be 
withheld at a rate of 20% (tax treaty may provide preferential treatment). 

In addition, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC resident enterprise, any gain realised on the transfer of the Bonds by 
non-PRC resident investors may be regarded as derived from sources within the PRC and accordingly may be 
subject to 10% PRC income tax in the case of non-PRC resident enterprises or 20% in the case of non-PRC 
resident individuals. The PRC tax on interest or gains may be reduced or exempted under applicable tax treaties 
between the PRC and the Bondholders’ home country. 

In addition, on 23 March 2016, the Ministry of Finance and the SAT issued the Circular of Full Implementation 
of Business Tax to Value Added Tax Reform (財政部、國家稅務總局關於全面推開營業稅改徵增值稅試點

的通知) (the “Circular 36”), which stipulates that VAT will be applicable where the entities or individuals 
provide financial services, such as providing the loans within the PRC. The services are treated as being sold 
within the PRC where either the service provider or the service recipient is located in the PRC. It is further 
clarified under Circular 36 that “loans” refer to the activity of lending capital for another’s use and receiving the 
interest income thereon. Based on the definition of “loans” under Circular 36, the issuance of Bonds is likely to 
be treated as the Bondholders providing “loans” to the Issuer, which will therefore be regarded as financial 
services for VAT purposes. In the event the Issuer is deemed to be a PRC resident enterprise in the PRC by the 
PRC tax authorities, the Bondholders may be regarded as providing financial services within the PRC and 
consequently, the amount of interest payable by the Issuer to any non-resident Bondholders may be subject to 
withholding VAT at the rate of 6% plus related surcharges. Besides, Circular 36 and relevant regulations 
pertaining to transferring Business Tax to VAT reform are relatively new and therefore the interpretation and 
enforcement of such laws and regulations remains uncertain. If a Bondholder, being a non-resident enterprise is 
required to pay any VAT (as well local surcharges) on gains on the transfer of the Bonds, the value of the 
relevant Bondholder’s investment in the Bonds may be materially and adversely affected. 

Risks Relating to the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Standby Letter of Credit 

The Bonds and the Guarantee of the Bonds are unsecured obligations. 

The Bonds and the Guarantee of the Bonds are unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor, 
respectively. The repayment of the Bonds and payment under the Guarantee of the Bonds may be adversely 
affected if: 

 the Issuer or the Guarantor enters into bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganisation or other winding-up 
proceedings; 

 there is a default in payment under the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s future secured indebtedness or 
other unsecured indebtedness; or 

 there is an acceleration of any of the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s indebtedness. 

If any of these events were to occur, the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s assets may not be sufficient to pay amounts 
due on the Bonds. 

The Bonds and the Guarantee of the Bonds will be structurally subordinated to the existing and future 
indebtedness and other liabilities of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s existing and future subsidiaries and 
effectively subordinated to the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s secured debt to the extent of the value of the 
collateral securing such indebtedness. 

The Bonds and the Guarantee of the Bonds will be structurally subordinated to any debt and other liabilities and 
commitments, including trade payables and lease obligations, of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s existing and 
future subsidiaries (in the case of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries, other than the Issuer), whether or not secured. 
The Bonds will not be guaranteed by any of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s subsidiaries, and the Issuer and the 
Guarantor may not have direct access to the assets of such subsidiaries unless these assets are transferred by 
dividend or otherwise to the Issuer or the Guarantor. The ability of such subsidiaries to pay dividends or 
otherwise transfer assets to the Issuer and the Guarantor is subject to various restrictions under applicable laws 
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and contracts to which they are a party. Each of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s subsidiaries are separate legal 
entities that have no obligation to pay any amounts due under the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds or make 
any funds available therefore, whether by dividend, loans or other payments. The Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s 
right to receive assets of any of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s subsidiaries, respectively, upon that subsidiary’s 
liquidation or reorganisation will be effectively subordinated to the claim of that subsidiary’s creditors (except to 
the extent that the Issuer or the Guarantor are creditors of that subsidiary). Consequently, the Bonds and the 
Guarantee of the Bonds will be effectively subordinated to all liabilities, including trade payables and lease 
obligations, of any of the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s subsidiaries, other than the Issuer, and any subsidiaries 
that the Issuer or the Guarantor may in the future acquire or establish. 

Third parties, including holders of the Bonds, may be hindered or prevented from enforcing their rights with 
respect to the assets of the Guarantor because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity or state secret privilege. 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Guarantor is controlled by the PRC government, directly 
and indirectly, through the Taizhou SASAC. All of the assets relating to the operation of the Guarantor’s 
business are either owned or controlled by the Guarantor itself or by companies wholly or majority owned by the 
Guarantor. Where a third party brings a legal action against the Guarantor, its subsidiaries or their assets based 
on a contract dispute with them, the legal proceeding, particularly the enforcement of judgments or any arbitral 
awards with respect to the assets of the Guarantor and its subsidiaries in China, may be subject to the law and 
legal systems and the jurisdiction of PRC courts or tribunal. While the Guarantor can be sued in its own capacity 
in a civil proceeding in a court or tribunal, there is no assurance that the assets of the Guarantor will not be 
immune from enforcement proceedings on the grounds of sovereign immunity or state secret privilege. If such 
immunity or privilege is invoked to dismiss judgments from the court or tribunal, it may be difficult for the third 
party plaintiffs (such as holders of the Bonds) to enforce their contractual rights against the Guarantor, its 
subsidiaries or their assets in China. 

The Issuer is a special purpose finance vehicle and payments with respect to the Bonds are dependent upon 
cash flow from other members of the Group. 

The Issuer was established specifically for the purposes of issuing notes, bonds or other securities, including the 
Bonds and on-lending the net proceeds thereof to the Guarantor’s subsidiaries. The Issuer does not and will not 
have any business activities other than the issue of debt securities, and its ability to make payments under the 
Bonds will depend on their receipt of timely remittance of funds from the Guarantor and/or its subsidiaries. 
There is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to receive sufficient funds from the Guarantor and/or its 
subsidiaries to make payments under the Bonds. 

The Bonds will be mandatorily redeemed upon a pre-funding failure. 

The Conditions provide for a demand to be made under the Standby Letter of Credit in the event the Issuer or the 
Guarantor fails to pre-fund principal and/or interest payment due on the Bonds or upon the occurrence of an 
Event of Default under the Bonds. Such demand will be made in respect of the full amount of the outstanding 
principal due and interest accrued on the Bonds (together with all fees, costs, expenses, indemnity payments and 
other amounts of the Trustee then outstanding), and thereafter the Bonds will be mandatorily redeemed in 
accordance with Condition 7(d). Bondholders will not be able to hold their Bonds to maturity should such 
mandatory redemption occur.  

The Issuer may undertake operating activities in the future that diminishes its ability to meet payment 
obligations under the Bonds.  

The Issuer currently does not have any operating activities. However, the Issuer may undertake operating 
activities in the future and there is no restriction under the Bonds to prevent the Issuer from doing so. Engaging 
in operating activities may cause the Issuer to incur additional debt or other liabilities, including but not limited 
to accounts payables with trade creditors, wage payables, and taxes payables. Such debt or liability will rank at 
least pari passu with the Bonds. As a result, the payment obligations under the Bonds may be adversely affected. 
In addition, operating activities may involve operating expenses and operating losses, some of which are 
unforeseen. Expenses and losses could affect the Issuer’s financial position. If the Issuer experiences negative 
cash flow from operations over a prolonged period of time, or if the Issuer suffers unexpected cash outflows, the 
Issuer’s liquidity and ability to fulfil the payment obligations under the Bonds may be adversely affected. 
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The Issuer may not be able to redeem the Bonds upon the due date for redemption thereof. 

The Issuer, at maturity or at any time following the occurrence of a Change of Control or a No Registration 
Event (each defined in the Conditions of the Bonds), is or may be required to redeem all but not some only of the 
Bonds. If such an event occurs, the Issuer may not have sufficient cash in hand and may not be able to arrange 
financing to redeem the Bonds in time, or on acceptable terms, or at all. The Issuer’s failure to repay, repurchase 
or redeem tendered Bonds could constitute an event of default under the Bonds, which may also constitute a 
default under the terms of the Group’s other indebtedness. 

The Issuer may elect to redeem the Bonds if it is required to pay additional tax amounts in respect of PRC 
withholding tax, and a Bondholder may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable 
securities at the same rate of return of the Bonds. 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Issuer has not been notified or informed by the PRC tax 
authorities that it is considered as a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purpose of the EIT Law. However, it is 
unclear whether the Issuer will be treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purposes of the EIT Law. If the 
Issuer is treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise and is required to withhold tax from interest payments on the 
Bonds, the Issuer will, subject to certain exceptions, be required to pay such additional amounts as will result in 
receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding been 
required. As described under Condition 7(b) of the Conditions, if the Issuer or the Guarantor is required to pay 
additional tax amounts as a result of any change in or amendment to, or any change in the application or official 
interpretation of, the laws or regulations of a relevant jurisdiction (including any change or amendment or 
change in the interpretation that requires the Issuer to withhold tax as a result of it being treated as a PRC tax 
resident enterprise), the Issuer may redeem the Bonds in whole, but not in part, at their principal amount together 
with interest accrued up to but excluding the date fixed for redemption. 

The date on which the Issuer may elect to redeem the Bonds may not accord with the preference of particular 
Bondholders. In addition, a Bondholder may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable 
securities at the same rate of return of the Bonds. 

If the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries, including the Issuer, is unable to comply with the restrictions and 
covenants in their respective debt agreements (if any), or the Bonds, as applicable, there could be a default 
under the terms of these agreements, or the Bonds, as applicable, which could cause repayment of the 
relevant debt to be accelerated. 

If the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries, including the Issuer, is unable to comply with the restrictions and 
covenants in the Bonds or current or future debt obligations and other agreements, there could be a default under 
the terms of these agreements. In the event of a default under these agreements, the holders of the debt could 
terminate their commitments to lend to the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries, including the Issuer, accelerate 
repayment of the debt, declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or terminate the agreements, as the case 
may be. Furthermore, those debt agreements and the Bonds contain or may contain cross-acceleration or cross-
default provisions. As a result, the default by the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries under one debt agreement 
may cause the acceleration of repayment of debt, including the Bonds, or result in a default under its other debt 
agreements, including the Bonds. If any of these events occur, there can be no assurance that there would be 
sufficient assets and cash flows of the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries to repay in full all of their respective 
indebtedness, or that they would be able to find alternative financing. Even if the Guarantor and its subsidiaries 
could obtain alternative financing, there can be no assurance that it would be on terms that are favourable or 
acceptable to the Guarantor and its subsidiaries. 

If the Guarantor fails to complete registration with SAFE in connection with the Guarantee of the Bonds, 
there may be logistical and practical hurdles for cross-border payments under the Guarantee of the Bonds.  

The Guarantor will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the due and punctual payment of all sums from 
time to time payable by the Issuer in respect of the Bonds. Such Guarantee of the Bonds will be contained in the 
Deed of Guarantee to be executed on the Issue Date. The Guarantor is required to submit the Guarantee of the 
Bonds to the Taizhou Branch of SAFE within 15 business days upon the execution of the Deed of Guarantee for 
registration in accordance with the Foreign Exchange Administration Rules on Cross-Border Guarantees 
promulgated by SAFE. Although non-registration would not as a matter of PRC law render the Guarantee of the 
Bonds ineffective or invalid, SAFE may impose penalties on the Guarantor if registration is not carried out 
within the stipulated time frame. The Guarantor intends to register the Guarantee of the Bonds as soon as 
practicable. If the Guarantor fails to complete registration with SAFE, there may be logistical and practical 
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hurdles at the time of remittance of funds (if any cross-border payment is to be made by the Guarantor under the 
Guarantee of the Bonds) as domestic banks may require evidence of registration with SAFE in connection with 
the Guarantee of the Bonds prior to giving effect to any such remittance. 

A trading market for the Bonds may not develop. 

The Bonds are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no trading market. There can be no assurance 
as to the liquidity of the Bonds or that an active trading market will develop. If such a market were to develop, 
the Bonds could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial issue price depending on many 
factors, including prevailing interest rates, the Group’s operations and the market for similar securities. Although 
application will be made for the listing of the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, no assurance can be 
given as to the liquidity of, or trading marked for, the Bonds. The Placing Agents are not obligated to make a 
market in the Bonds and any such market making, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time at the sole 
discretion of the Placing Agents. In addition, the Bonds are being offered pursuant to exemptions from 
registration under the Securities Act and, as a result, the holders of the Bonds will only be able to resell the 
Bonds in transactions that have been registered under the Securities Act or in transactions not subject to or 
exempt from registration under the Securities Act. It is investors’ obligation to ensure that offers and sales of the 
Bonds within the United States and other countries comply with applicable securities laws. See “Placement and 
Sale”. None of the Issuer or the Guarantor can predict whether an active trading market for the Bonds will 
develop or be sustained. 

The liquidity and price of the Bonds following this offering may be volatile. 

The price and trading volume of the Bonds may be highly volatile. Factors such as variations in the revenues, 
earnings and cash flows of the Group, proposals of new investments, strategic alliances and/or acquisitions, 
interest rates and fluctuations in prices for comparable companies, changes in the industry that the Group 
operates and competition, general economic conditions any adverse change in the credit rating, the revenues, 
earnings, results of operations or otherwise in the financial condition of the LC Bank could cause the price of the 
Bonds to change. Any such developments may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and price at 
which the Bonds will trade. There can be no assurance that these developments will not occur in the future.  

Developments in other markets may adversely affect the market price of the Bonds. 

The market price of the Bonds may be adversely affected by declines in the international financial markets and 
world economic conditions. The market for the Bonds is, to varying degrees, influenced by economic and market 
conditions in other markets, especially those in Asia. Although economic conditions are different in each 
country, investors’ reactions to developments in one country can affect the securities markets and the securities 
of issuers in other countries, including China. Since the subprime mortgage crisis in 2008, the international 
financial markets have experienced significant volatility. If similar developments occur in the international 
financial markets in the future, the market price of the Bonds could be adversely affected. 

Gains on the transfer of the Bonds may be subject to income tax under PRC tax laws. 

Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules, any gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by holders who 
are deemed under the EIT Law as non-resident enterprises may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax if such 
gains are regarded as incomes derived from sources within the PRC. The Issuer may be treated as a PRC 
enterprise for PRC tax purposes, which may subject the Issuer to PRC income tax on its worldwide income and 
interest payable by the Issuer to foreign investors and gain on the sale of the Bonds may be subject to 
withholding taxes under PRC tax law. 

The PRC courts have limited experience with handling enforcement of a non PRC-law governed Guarantee 
with respect to Bonds issued by a subsidiary of an onshore entity. 

The courts of Hong Kong are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection 
with the Bonds, the Deed of Guarantee or the Trust Deed. Notwithstanding the “Arrangement on Reciprocal 
Recognition and Enforcement of Judgements in Civil and Commercial Matters by the Courts of the Mainland 
and of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Pursuant to Choice of Court Agreements between Parties 
Concerned”, which provides that a final and conclusive money judgements given by a Hong Kong court may be 
recognised by a PRC court, the PRC courts have limited experience on handling enforcement of a non PRC-law 
governed Guarantee with respect to Bonds issued by a subsidiary of an onshore entity. As such, as at the date of 
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this Information Memorandum, it is uncertain on the outcome of an enforcement of a Hong Kong judgement 
against the Company in the PRC courts. 

The insolvency laws of Hong Kong and the PRC may differ from those of another jurisdiction with which the 
holders of the Bonds are familiar. 

As the Issuer and the Guarantor are incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and the PRC and the LC Bank is 
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, any insolvency proceeding relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor or the 
LC Bank would likely involve Hong Kong or the PRC insolvency laws, as the case may be, the procedural and 
substantive provisions of which may differ from comparable provisions of the local insolvency laws of 
jurisdictions with which the holders of the Bonds are familiar. 

Change of law may affect the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds. 

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds are governed by Hong Kong law in effect as at the date of this 
Information Memorandum. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or 
change to Hong Kong law or administrative practice after the date of this Information Memorandum. 

Investment in the Bonds is subject to exchange rate risks. 

The Bonds are denominated and payable in US dollars. If a Bondholder measures its investment returns by 
reference to a currency other than US dollars, an investment in the Bonds entails foreign exchange related risks, 
including changes in the value of US dollars relative to the currency by reference to which an investor measures 
its investment returns. Depreciation of the US dollars against such currency could cause a decrease in the 
effective yield of the Bonds below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss when the return on the 
Bonds is translated into such currency. In addition, there may be tax consequences for Bondholders as a result of 
any foreign currency gains resulting from any investment in the Bonds. 

The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors. 

Each potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

 have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits and 
risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this 
Information Memorandum or any applicable supplement; 

 have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits and 
risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained in this Information Memorandum; 

 have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular 
financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact the Bonds will have on its overall investment 
portfolio; 

 have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Bonds, 
including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s 
home currency; 

 understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant financial 
markets; and 

 be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial advisor) possible scenarios for economic, 
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

The Bonds are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase 
complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a 
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall 
portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in the Bonds unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a 
financial advisor) to evaluate how the Bonds will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the 
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value of the Bonds and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment 
portfolio. 

The Trustee may request holders of the Bonds to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding to 
its satisfaction. 

In certain circumstances, including without limitation the giving of notice to the Issuer or the Guarantor and the 
taking of enforcement steps pursuant to Condition 14 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, the Trustee 
may, at its sole discretion, request holders of the Bonds to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-
funding to its satisfaction before it takes actions on behalf of holders of the Bonds. The Trustee shall not be 
obliged to take any such actions if not indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. 
Negotiating and agreeing to an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may 
impact on when such actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to take actions, notwithstanding the 
provision of an indemnity or security or pre-funding to it, in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed or the Terms 
and Conditions of the Bonds and in such circumstances, or where there is uncertainty or dispute as to the 
applicable laws or regulations, to the extent permitted by the agreements and the applicable law, it will be for the 
holders of the Bonds to take such actions directly. 

Modifications and waivers may be made in respect of the Conditions, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, 
the Deed of Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit by the Trustee or less than all of the holders of the 
Bonds, and decisions may be made on behalf of all holders of the Bonds that may be adverse to the interests 
of individual or minority holders of the Bonds. 

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of holders of the Bonds to consider matters affecting 
their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all holders of the Bonds including 
holders who did not attend and vote at the meeting and holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 
Furthermore, there is a risk that the decision of the majority of holders of the Bonds may be adverse to the 
interests of the individual Bondholders. 

The Conditions also provide that the Trustee may (but is not obliged to) agree, without the consent of the 
Bondholders, to (i) any modification of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the 
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit (other than in respect of certain 
reserved matters) which in the opinion of the Trustee is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to 
correct a manifest error or to comply with any mandatory provision of law, and (ii) any other modification 
(except as mentioned in the Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee), and any waiver or authorisation of any 
breach or proposed breach of, or failure to comply with any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the 
Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee and/or Standby Letter of Credit (other than a 
proposed breach or breach relating to the subject of certain reserved matters) which is in the opinion of the 
Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. Any such modification, authorisation or 
waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and, unless the Trustee otherwise agrees, such modification, 
authorisation or waiver shall be notified by the Issuer to the Bondholders as soon as practicable. 

Decisions that may be made on behalf of all holders of the Bonds may be adverse to the interests of individual 
holders of the Bonds. 

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds contain provisions for calling meetings of holders of the Bonds to 
consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all holders 
of the Bonds including holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and holders who voted in a 
manner contrary to the majority. Furthermore, there is a risk that the decision of the majority of holders of the 
Bonds may be adverse to the interests of the individuals. 

The Guarantor’s financial statements were prepared in conformity with PRC GAAP, which differs from IFRS 
in certain aspects, and investors may have less confidence in the reliability of the Group’s financial 
statements and adversely affect the market price of the Bonds. 

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor included elsewhere in this Information 
Memorandum were prepared in conformity with PRC GAAP which differs in certain aspects from IFRS. 
Investors may have less confidence in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor and the 
financial information of the Guarantor included elsewhere in this Information Memorandum, which may 
adversely affect the market price of the Bonds. In addition, investors should consult their own professional 
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advisers for an understanding of any difference and how they may affect the financial information contained 
herein. 

The Bonds will initially be represented by the Global Certificate and holders of a beneficial interest in the 
Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System. 

Bonds will initially be represented by the Global Certificate. Such Global Certificate will be deposited with a 
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (each a “Clearing System”). Except in the circumstances 
described in the Global Certificate, investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Bonds. The relevant 
Clearing System will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. 

While the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial 
interests only through the Clearing Systems. While the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate the Issuer 
will discharge its payment obligations under the Bonds by making payments to the common depositary for 
Euroclear and Clearstream, for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in the 
Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System to receive payments under the 
Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, 
beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not 
have a direct right to vote in respect of the Bonds. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the 
extent that they are enabled by the relevant Clearing System to appoint appropriate proxies. 

The PRC government has no legal obligations under the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds. 

The PRC government is not an obligor and shall under no circumstances has any obligation arising out of or in 
connection with the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds in lieu of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the 
Guarantor. Bondholders shall have no recourse to the PRC government in respect of any obligation arising out of 
or in connection with the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds in lieu of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the 
Guarantor. 

Taizhou SASAC, which is closely supervised by the Taizhou Municipal Government, as the controlling 
shareholder of the Guarantor, only has the limited liability in the form of its equity contribution in the Guarantor. 
As such, Taizhou SASAC, or the Taizhou Municipal Government, does not have any payment obligations under 
the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds. The Bonds are solely to be repaid by the Issuer, and the Guarantor 
pursuant to the Guarantee of the Bonds, each as an obligor under the relevant transaction documents and as an 
independent legal person. 

Government data such as GDP included in this Information Memorandum is solely for the purpose to show the 
level of economic development in Taizhou where substantially all of the Group’s business operations and 
investments are located. Such data should not be construed as representing that the Bondholders have any 
recourse to the PRC government for payments under the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds. 

Investors should base their investment decision on the financial condition of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the 
Group and any perceived credit risk associated with an investment in the Bonds based on the Group’s own 
financial information reflected in its financial statements. 

The LC Bank’s ability to perform its obligations under the Standby Letter of Credit is subject to its financial 
condition. 

The LC Bank is not a separate and independent legal person but has capacity to carry on its activities within its 
scope of the authorisation given by Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. (“Bank of Jiangsu”), and if the assets of the LC 
Bank are not sufficient to meet the obligations of the LC Bank under the Standby Letter of Credit, Bank of 
Jiangsu would have an obligation to satisfy the balance of the obligations under the Standby Letter of Credit. 
Therefore, the ability of the LC Bank to make payments under the Standby Letter of Credit will depend on the 
financial condition of Bank of Jiangsu, which could be materially and adversely affected by a number of factors, 
including, but not limited to, the following:  

Impaired loans and advances: Bank of Jiangsu’s results of operations have been and will continue to be 
negatively affected by its impaired loans. If Bank of Jiangsu is unable to control effectively and reduce the level 
of impaired loans and advances in its current loan portfolio and in new loans the Bank of Jiangsu extends in the 
future, or Bank of Jiangsu’s allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances is insufficient to cover 
actual loan losses, Bank of Jiangsu’s financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.  
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Collateral and guarantees: A substantial portion of Bank of Jiangsu’s loans is secured by collateral. In addition, 
a substantial portion of its PRC loans and advances is backed by guarantees. If Bank of Jiangsu is unable to 
realize the collateral or guarantees securing its loans to cover the outstanding principal and interest balance of 
such loans due to various factors Bank of Jiangsu’s financial condition could be materially and adversely 
affected.  

Loans to real estate sector and government financing platforms: Bank of Jiangsu’s loans and advances to the real 
estate sector primarily comprise loans issued to real estate companies and individual housing loans. The real 
estate market may be affected by many factors, including, without limitation, cyclical economic volatility and 
economic downturns. In addition, the PRC government has in recent years imposed macroeconomic control 
measures that are aimed at preventing the real estate market from over-heating. Such factors may adversely 
affect the growth and quality of its loans to the real estate industry and, consequently, Bank of Jiangsu’s 
financial condition and results of operations. Loans to government financing platforms are a part of the loan 
portfolio of Bank of Jiangsu. The government revenues are primarily derived from taxes and land premiums. 
Therefore, economic cycles and fluctuations in the real estate market may also adversely affect the quality of 
such loans.  

In addition, as Bank of Jiangsu has not waived sovereign immunity for the purpose of the Standby Letter of 
Credit, it is possible that such immunity is asserted at the time of enforcement of the Standby Letter of Credit. 

The Standby Letter of Credit is subject to a maximum limit and may not be sufficient to satisfy all payments 
due under the Standby Letter of Credit. 

Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds and the fees and expenses and other amounts in 
connection with the Bonds and the Trust Deed will have the benefit of the Standby Letter of Credit up to a 
maximum limit of U.S.$61,780,000, being an amount representing the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
plus interest payable for six months under the Bonds plus an additional amount intended to cover fees, costs, 
expenses, indemnity payments and all other amounts payable by the Issuer in connection with the Bonds, the 
Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or any other transaction document relating to the Bonds, there can be no 
assurance that such maximum limit is sufficient to fully satisfy the aforementioned payments.  

The Standby Letter of Credit expires a month after the Maturity Date. 

The Standby Letter of Credit will expire after 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 28 February 2024. In the event 
that the Trustee does not enforce the Standby Letter of Credit by this expiration time, the Bondholders and the 
Trustee will not be able to benefit from the credit protection provided by the LC Bank. Furthermore, in the event 
that any payment from the Issuer to the Trustee is avoided by virtue of any laws relating to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, liquidation or similar laws of general application for the time being in force and a written notice 
claiming such avoided payment under the Standby Letter of Credit was not given to the LC Bank on or before 
the expiry time of the Standby Letter of Credit, the Bondholders and the Trustee will not be able to recover such 
avoided payment from the LC Bank under the Standby Letter of Credit. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS 

The following, subject to amendment and save for the paragraphs in italics, is the text of the Terms and 
Conditions of the Bonds which will appear on the reverse of each of the definitive certificates evidencing the 
Bonds: 

The issue of the U.S.$60,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2.6 per cent. credit enhanced bonds due 2024 
(the “Bonds”, which term shall include, unless the context requires otherwise, any further bonds issued in 
accordance with Condition 16 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith) was authorised by a 
resolution of the board of directors of Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (the “Issuer”) dated 12 
January 2021 and the guarantee of the Bonds was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of Taizhou 
Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. (the “Guarantor”) dated 24 August 2020. The Bonds are 
constituted by a trust deed dated on or about 29 January 2021 (as amended, supplemented or replaced from time 
to time, the “Trust Deed”) between the Issuer, the Guarantor and Citicorp International Limited (the “Trustee”, 
which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as 
trustee for the holders of the Bonds. These terms and conditions (these “Conditions”) include summaries of, and 
are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bonds. The Bonds have 
the benefit of a deed of guarantee (as amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Deed of 
Guarantee”) dated on or about 29 January 2021 executed by the Guarantor and the Trustee relating to the 
Bonds. The Bonds are the subject of an agency agreement dated on or about 29 January 2021 (as amended, 
supplemented or replaced from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, 
the Guarantor, the Trustee, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as registrar (the “Registrar”, which expression 
includes any successor registrar appointed from time to time with respect to the Bonds), as transfer agent (in 
such capacity, the “Transfer Agent”, which expression includes any successor or additional transfer agents 
appointed from time to time with respect to the Bonds), and as the principal paying agent (in such capacity, the 
“Principal Paying Agent”, which expression includes any successor principal paying agent appointed from time 
to time with respect to the Bonds, and together with the paying agents with respect to the Bonds, the “Paying 
Agents”, which expression includes any additional or successor paying agents appointed from time to time with 
respect to the Bonds) and any other agents named in it, Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch as the account bank 
(in such capacity, the “Pre-funding Account Bank”, which expression shall include any successor) with which 
the Pre-funding Account (as defined below) is held and Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch as the account bank 
(in such capacity, the “LC Proceeds Account Bank”, which expression shall include any successor) with which 
the LC Proceeds Account (as defined below) is held. References herein to “Agents” means the Principal Paying 
Agent, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent(s), the Paying Agent(s) and any other agent or agents appointed from 
time to time with respect to the Bonds. The Bonds will have the benefit of an irrevocable standby letter of credit 
(the “Standby Letter of Credit”) dated on or about 29 January 2021 issued by Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. 
Taizhou Branch (the “LC Bank”) in favour of the Trustee on behalf of itself and the holders of the Bonds. 

Copies of the Trust Deed, the Deed of Guarantee, the Agency Agreement and the Standby Letter of Credit are 
available for inspection upon prior written request and satisfactory proof of holding during 9:00 a.m. (Hong 
Kong time) to 3:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) from Monday to Friday (other than public holidays) at the principal 
office of the Trustee (presently at 20/F, Citi Tower, One Bay East, 83 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong) and at the specified office for the time being of the Principal Paying Agent. The Bondholders (as 
defined below) are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of 
the Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee and are deemed to have notice of those applicable to them of the 
Agency Agreement and the Standby Letter of Credit. 

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the Trust 
Deed. 
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1 FORM, SPECIFIED DENOMINATION AND TITLE 

The Bonds are issued in the specified denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of 
U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof (the “Specified Denomination”). 

The Bonds are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition 
2(a), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Bonds by the same holder. 

Title to the Bonds shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the 
Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as 
ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any 
Bond shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is 
overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on the 
Certificate representing it or the theft or loss of such Certificate and no person shall be liable for so 
treating the holder. 

In these Conditions, “Bondholder” or “holder” in relation to a Bond means the person in whose name a 
Bond is registered in the Register (or in the case of a joint holding, the first-named thereof). 

Upon issue, the Bonds will be represented by a global certificate (the “Global Certificate”) deposited 
with a common depositary for, and representing Bonds registered in the name of a nominee of, 
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”). These 
Conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the Global Certificate. See “Summary of 
Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global Form”. 

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in Bonds 
represented by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive definitive Certificates in respect of 
their individual holdings of Bonds. The Bonds are not issuable in bearer form. 

2 TRANSFERS OF BONDS 

(a) Transfer: A holding of Bonds may, subject to Condition 2(d), be transferred in whole or in part 
upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the 
Certificate(s) representing such Bonds to be transferred, together with the form of transfer 
endorsed on such Certificate(s) (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and 
containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the 
Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or such Transfer 
Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Bonds 
represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of 
the part transferred (which shall be in the Specified Denomination) and a further new Certificate 
in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor (which 
shall be in the Specified Denomination). In the case of a transfer of Bonds to a person who is 
already a holder of Bonds, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be 
issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding. All transfers of 
Bonds and entries on the Register will be made in accordance with the detailed regulations 
concerning transfers of Bonds, the initial form of which is scheduled to the Agency Agreement. 
The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar 
and the Trustee, or by the Registrar with the prior written approval of the Trustee. A copy of the 
current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Bondholder upon prior 
written request and satisfactory proof of holding. 
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Transfers of interests in the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in 
accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems. 

(b) Delivery of New Certificates: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(a) 
shall be available for delivery within seven business days of receipt of a duly completed form of 
transfer and surrender of the existing Certificate(s). Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be 
made at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to 
whom delivery of such form of transfer or surrender of Certificate shall have been made or, at 
the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the 
relevant form of transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the 
holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder 
requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the 
case may be) the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. 
In this Condition 2(b), “business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday or public 
holiday, on which commercial banks are generally open for business in the place of the 
specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be). 

(c) Formalities Free of Charge: Certificates, on transfer, shall be issued and registered without 
charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, but upon payment by 
the relevant Bondholder of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in 
relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding as the Registrar 
or the relevant Transfer Agent may require). 

(d) Closed Periods: No Bondholder may require the transfer of a Bond to be registered (i) during 
the period of 15 days ending on (and including) the due date for any payment of principal in 
respect of that Bond, (ii) after a Put Exercise Notice in respect of such Bond has been deposited 
pursuant to Condition 7(c), or (iii) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) 
any Record Date (as defined in Condition 8(a)(ii)). 

(e) Regulations: All transfers of Bonds and entries on the Register will be made in accordance 
with the detailed regulations concerning transfer and registration of Bonds scheduled to the 
Agency Agreement. The Registrar may change the regulations from time to time, with the prior 
written approval of the Trustee and (in the case of any regulation proposed by the Issuer) of the 
Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any 
Bondholder upon written request and proof of holding and identity to the satisfaction of the 
Registrar and is available at the specified office of the Registrar.  

3 GUARANTEE AND STATUS 

(a) Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of 
all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Bonds. Its 
obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Deed of Guarantee. The 
obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such exceptions as may be 
provided by applicable law at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and future 
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. 

(b) Status: The Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured obligations 
of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among 
themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds shall, save for such 
exceptions as may be provided by applicable law, at all times rank at least equally with all its 
other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. 
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4 STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT AND PRE-FUNDING 

(a) Standby Letter of Credit: The Bonds will have the benefit of the Standby Letter of Credit 
issued in favour of the Trustee, on behalf of itself and the holders of the Bonds, by the LC Bank. 
The Standby Letter of Credit shall be drawable by the Trustee as beneficiary under the Standby 
Letter of Credit on behalf of itself and the holders of the Bonds upon the presentation of a 
demand by authenticated SWIFT (or by such method of communication otherwise permitted 
under the Standby Letter of Credit) sent by or on behalf of the Trustee to the LC Bank in 
accordance with the Standby Letter of Credit (the “Demand”) stating that (i) the Issuer has 
failed to comply with Condition 4(b) in relation to pre-funding the amount that is required to be 
pre-funded under these Conditions and/or failed to provide the Required Confirmations (as 
defined in the Conditions) in accordance with the Condition 4(b), (ii) an Event of Default (as 
defined in the Conditions) has occurred and the Trustee has given notice to the Issuer that the 
Bonds are immediately due and payable in accordance with the Conditions or (iii) the Issuer has 
failed to pay the fees, costs, expenses and/or other amounts it is obliged to pay under these 
Conditions or in connection with the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or any 
other transaction documents relating to the Bonds when due and such failure has continued for a 
period of seven days from the date of the Trustee delivering its demand therefor to the Issuer.  

Only one drawing is permitted under the Standby Letter of Credit. 

Such drawing on the Standby Letter of Credit will be payable in U.S. dollars to or to the order 
of the Trustee at the time and to the account specified in the Demand presented to the LC Bank. 
Payment received by the Trustee in respect of the Demand will be deposited into the LC 
Proceeds Account. 

The payment made under the Standby Letter of Credit in respect of any amount payable under 
these Conditions or in connection with the Bonds, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and/or 
the Trust Deed shall, to the extent of the drawing paid to or to the order of the Trustee, satisfy 
the obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of such amount payable under these 
Conditions or in connection with the Bonds, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and/or the 
Trust Deed. 

The LC Bank’s liability under the Standby Letter of Credit shall be expressed and payable in 
U.S. dollars and shall not exceed U.S.$61,780,000 (the “Maximum Limit”). The Standby 
Letter of Credit expires at 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 28 February 2024. 

See “Appendix A — Form of Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit” in the Information 
Memorandum for the form of the Standby Letter of Credit. 

(b) Pre-funding: In order to provide for the payment of any amount in respect of the Bonds (other 
than the amounts payable under Condition 7(d)) (the “Relevant Amount”) as the same shall 
become due, the Issuer shall, in accordance with the Agency Agreement, by no later than the 
day falling eight Business Days (the “Pre-funding Date”) prior to the due date for such 
payment under these Conditions:  

(i) unconditionally pay or procure to be paid the Relevant Amount into the Pre-funding 
Account; and 

(ii) deliver to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent by facsimile (x) a Payment and 
Solvency Certificate signed by any Authorised Signatory (as defined in the Trust Deed) 
of the Issuer, and (y) a copy of the irrevocable payment instruction from the Issuer to 
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the Pre-funding Account Bank requesting the Pre-funding Account Bank to pay the 
Relevant Amount which was paid into the Pre-funding Account on the Pre-funding 
Date in full to the Principal Paying Agent by no later than 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong 
time) on the Business Day immediately preceding the due date for such payment 
(together, the “Required Confirmations”). 

If the Relevant Amount has not been paid into the Pre-funding Account in full and the 
Prefunding Account Bank has notified the Trustee of such failure, or the Trustee does not 
receive the Required Confirmations, in each case by 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the 
Business Day immediately following the Pre-funding Date (a “Pre-funding Failure”), the 
Trustee shall 

(i) as soon as reasonably practicable notify the LC Bank and the LC Proceeds Account 
Bank by facsimile or by SWIFT of the occurrence of the Pre-funding Failure, and 

(ii) by no later than 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on the second Business Day immediately 
following the Pre-funding Date (x) send the notice (the “Pre-funding Failure Notice”) 
to the Bondholders of (I) the Pre-funding Failure and (II) the redemption of the Bonds 
in accordance with Condition 7(d) to occur as a result of the Pre-funding Failure and 
(y) issue a Demand to the LC Bank for the principal amount in respect of all of the 
Bonds then outstanding, together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the 
Mandatory Redemption Date (as defined in Condition 7(d)) and all fees, costs, 
expenses, indemnity payments and all other amounts payable by the Issuer under or in 
connection with the Bonds, the Agency Agreement, the Trust Deed and/or any other 
transaction document relating to the Bonds, provided that, in accordance with the 
Standby Letter of Credit, the Trustee need not physically present the Demand to the LC 
Bank and shall be entitled to submit the Demand by authenticated SWIFT (provided 
that in the event that the SWIFT system is not available for any reason, the Trustee may 
instead present a Demand via facsimile transmission during the period between 9:00 
a.m. (Hong Kong time) to 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time)). 

Following receipt by the LC Bank of such Demand by 6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on a 
Business Day, the LC Bank shall by 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the fourth Business Day 
immediately following such Business Day (or, if such Demand is received after 6:00 p.m. 
(Hong Kong time) on a Business Day, the fifth Business Day immediately following such 
Business Day), pay to or to the order of the Trustee the amount in U.S. dollars specified in the 
Demand to the LC Proceeds Account. 

The Pre-funding Account Bank shall notify the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent 
forthwith upon the failure by the Issuer to pay the Relevant Amount into the Pre-funding 
Account in accordance with these Conditions. 

For the purposes of this Condition 4: 

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a public holiday) on which 
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Hong Kong, Beijing, New York 
City and London; 

“LC Proceeds Account” means a non-interest bearing U.S. dollar account established in the 
name of the Trustee with the LC Proceeds Account Bank; 
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“Payment and Solvency Certificate” means a certificate in substantially the form set forth in 
the Agency Agreement stating the Relevant Amount in respect of the relevant due date in 
respect of the Bonds and confirming that (A) a payment for the Relevant Amount has been 
made by the Issuer, as the case may be, to the Pre-funding Account in accordance with 
Condition 4(b) and (B) each of the Issuer and the Guarantor is solvent; and 

“Pre-funding Account” means a non-interest bearing U.S. dollar account established in the 
name of the Issuer with the Pre-funding Account Bank and designated for the purposes 
specified above. 

5 COVENANTS 

(a) Issuer Activities: The Issuer shall not, and the Guarantor will procure that the Issuer will not, 
carry on any business activity whatsoever other than in connection with any notes, bonds or 
other securities (and such activities in connection with any such notes, bonds or other securities) 
shall, for the avoidance of doubt, include the on-lending of the proceeds of the issue of the 
Bonds to the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries and any other activities reasonably incidental 
thereto). 

(b) Financial Information: For so long as any Bond remains outstanding, the Guarantor will 
furnish the Trustee with (A) a Compliance Certificate of the Guarantor (on which the Trustee 
may rely conclusively as to such compliance) within 14 days of a written request by the Trustee 
and at the time of provision of the relevant Guarantor Audited Financial Reports; (B) a copy of 
the relevant Guarantor Audited Financial Reports within 120 days of the end of each Relevant 
Period, prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in the 
PRC (“PRC GAAP”) (audited by a nationally or an internationally recognised firm of 
independent accountants) and if such statements shall be in the Chinese language, together with 
an English translation of the same translated by (aa) a nationally or an internationally 
recognised firm of independent accountants or (bb) a professional translation service provider, 
and checked by a nationally or an internationally recognised firm of independent accountants, 
together with a certificate signed by an Authorised Signatory of the Guarantor certifying that 
such translation is complete and accurate; and (C) a copy of the Guarantor Semi-Annual 
Unaudited Financial Reports within 90 days of the end of each Relevant Period prepared on a 
basis consistent with the Guarantor Audited Financial Reports and if such statements shall be in 
the Chinese language, together with an English translation of the same and translated by (aa) a 
nationally or an internationally recognised firm of independent accountants or (bb) a 
professional translation service provider, and checked by a nationally or an internationally 
recognised firm of independent accountants, together with a certificate signed by an Authorised 
Signatory of the Guarantor certifying that such translation is complete and accurate; provided 
that, if at any time the capital stock of the Guarantor is listed for trading on a recognised stock 
exchange, the Guarantor may furnish to the Trustee, as soon as they are available but in any 
event not more than 14 calendar days after any financial or other reports of the Guarantor are 
filed with the exchange on which the Guarantor’s capital stock is at such time listed for trading, 
true and correct copies of any financial or other report filed with such exchange in lieu of the 
reports identified in Condition 5(b)(A) and Condition 5(b)(B) above. 

(c) Undertakings relating to the Guarantee: The Guarantor undertakes that it will register or 
cause to be registered with SAFE the Deed of Guarantee (the “Cross-border Security 
Registration”) within 15 Registration Business Days after the Issue Date, in accordance with 
the Foreign Exchange Administration Rules on Cross-border Security (跨境擔保外匯管理規

定), use its reasonable endeavours to complete the Cross-border Security Registration and 
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obtain a registration certificate from SAFE (or any other document evidencing the completion 
of registration issued by SAFE) on or before the Registration Deadline and comply with all 
applicable PRC laws and regulations in relation to the Guarantee. 

(d) Notification to NDRC: The Guarantor undertakes to file or cause to be filed with the NDRC 
the requisite information and documents within the prescribed time period after the Issue Date 
in accordance with the Notice on the Administrative Reform for the Registration of Offshore 
Debt Issuances (國家發展改革委關於推進企業發行外債備案登記制管理改革的通知 (發改

外資[2015]2044 號)) issued by the NDRC and which came into effect on 14 September 2015 
and any implementation rules as issued by the NDRC from time to time (the “NDRC Post-
issue Filing”). 

(e) Notification of Completion of the Cross-border Security Registration and the NDRC Post-
issue Filing: The Guarantor shall before the Registration Deadline and within five Registration 
Business Days after the later of submission of the NDRC Post-issue Filing and receipt of the 
registration certificate from SAFE (or any other document evidencing the completion of 
registration issued by SAFE), provide the Trustee with (i) a certificate by an Authorised 
Signatory of the Guarantor confirming (A) the completion of the NDRC Post-issue Filing and 
the Cross-border Security Registration and (B) no Event of Default or Potential Event of 
Default has occurred; and (ii) copies of the relevant documents evidencing the SAFE 
registration certificates (or any other document evidencing the completion of registration issued 
by SAFE); (the items specified in (i) and (ii) together, the “Registration Documents”). In 
addition, the Guarantor shall procure that within five Registration Business Days after the 
documents comprising the Registration Documents are delivered to the Trustee, the Issuer gives 
notice to the Bondholders (in accordance with Condition 17) confirming the completion of the 
NDRC Post-issue Filing and the Cross-border Security Registration. 

In these Conditions: 

“Guarantor Audited Financial Reports” means, for a Relevant Period, the annual audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor, which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated cash flow statement and the 
consolidated statement of changes in owners’ equity of the Guarantor together with the auditors’ 
audit report and notes to the financial statements; 

“Guarantor Semi-Annual Unaudited Financial Reports” means, for a Relevant Period, the 
semi-annual unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement and the consolidated cash flow 
statement of the Guarantor; 

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate of each of the Guarantor and the Issuer (as the 
case may be) signed by any one of their respective directors or Authorised Signatories that, 
having made all reasonable enquiries, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of 
the Guarantor or the Issuer (as the case may be) as at a date (the “Certification Date”) not more 
than five days before the date of the certificate:  

(i) no Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10) or Potential Event of Default had 
occurred since the Certification Date of the last such certificate or (if none) the date of 
the Trust Deed or, if such an event had occurred, giving details of it; and 
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(ii) each of the Guarantor and the Issuer (as the case may be) has complied with all its 
obligations under the Trust Deed, the Deed of Guarantee and the Bonds. 

“NDRC” means the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its local 
counterparts;  

“person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 
venture, trust, unincorporated organisation or government or any agency or political subdivision 
thereof; 

“Potential Event of Default” means an event or circumstance which could with the giving of 
notice, lapse of time, issue of a certificate and/or fulfilment of any other requirement provided 
for in Condition 10 become an Event of Default; 

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of these Conditions, shall 
not include Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC, Macau Special 
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan; 

“Registration Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, on 
which commercial banks are generally open for business in Taizhou;  

“Registration Deadline” means the day falling 90 Registration Business Days after the Issue 
Date;  

 “Relevant Period” means, in relation to the Guarantor Audited Financial Reports, each period 
of twelve months ending on the last day of the Guarantor’s financial year (being 31 December 
of that financial year) and, in relation to the Guarantor Semi-Annual Unaudited Financial 
Reports, each period of six months ending on the last day of the Guarantor’s first half financial 
year (being 30 June of that financial year); 

“SAFE” means the State Administration of Foreign Exchange or its local branch; 

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any person, any corporation, association or other business 
entity (a) of which more than 50 per cent. of the voting power of the outstanding Voting Stock is 
owned, directly or indirectly, by such person and one or more other Subsidiaries of such person; 
or (b) any corporation, association and other business entity which at any time has its accounts 
consolidated with those of that person or which, under the laws, regulations or generally 
accepted accounting principles of the jurisdiction of incorporation of such person from time to 
time, should have its accounts consolidated with those of that person; and 

“Voting Stock” means, with respect to any person, capital stock of any class or kind ordinarily 
having the power to vote for the election of directors, managers or other voting members of the 
governing body of such person. 

6 INTEREST 

The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including 29 January 2021 (the 
“Issue Date”) at the rate of 2.6 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear on 29 January and 
29 July in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing on 29 July 2021. 

Each Bond will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon surrender of the 
Certificate representing such Bond, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such 



 

 42 

event, it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is 
the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or 
on behalf of the relevant Bondholder, and (b) the day falling seven days after the Trustee or the Principal 
Paying Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that 
seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders 
under these Conditions). 

If interest is required to be calculated for a period of less than a complete Interest Period (as defined 
below), the relevant day-count fraction will be determined on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 
12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed. 

Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per U.S.$1,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the 
“Calculation Amount”). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for any period shall, 
save as provided above in relation to equal instalments, be equal to the product of the rate of interest 
specified above, the Calculation Amount and the day-count fraction for the relevant period, rounding the 
resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded upwards). 

In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding 
the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest 
Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an 
“Interest Period”. 

7 REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE 

(a) Final Redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be 
redeemed at their principal amount on 29 January 2024 (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds may 
not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 7. 

(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in 
whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to 
the Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying 
Agent , at their principal amount (together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed 
for redemption), if (i) the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such 
notice that it (or, if the Guarantee were called, the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay 
Additional Tax Amounts (as defined in Condition 9) as provided or referred to in Condition 9 as 
a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or the PRC 
or, in each case, any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to 
tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations 
(including but not limited to any decision by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or 
amendment becomes effective on or after 27 January 2021, and (ii) such obligation cannot be 
avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures 
available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days 
prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be 
obliged to pay such Additional Tax Amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds (or the 
Guarantee, as the case may be) then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption 
pursuant to this Condition 7(b), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (x) a certificate signed by 
any Authorised Signatory of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that the 
obligation referred to in (i) above of this Condition 7(b) cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the 
Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it and (y) an opinion, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee, of independent tax or legal advisers of 
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has or 
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will become obliged to pay such Additional Tax Amounts as a result of such change or 
amendment. The Trustee shall be entitled (but shall not be obliged) to accept and rely upon such 
certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set 
out in (i) and (ii) above of this Condition 7(b), in which event they shall be conclusive and 
binding on the Bondholders. The Trustee shall be protected and shall have no liability to any 
Bondholder or any other person for so accepting and relying on such certificate or opinion. 

(c) Redemption for Relevant Event: Following the occurrence of a Relevant Event, the holder of 
any Bond will have the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not 
some only of that holder’s Bonds on the Put Settlement Date (as defined below) at 100 per cent. 
of their principal amount, together in each case with interest accrued up to but excluding such 
Put Settlement Date. In order to exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must 
deposit at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent a duly 
completed and signed notice of redemption, substantially in the form scheduled to the Agency 
Agreement, obtainable from the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other 
Paying Agent (a “Put Exercise Notice”), together with the Certificate evidencing the Bonds to 
be redeemed by not later than 30 days following a Relevant Event, or, if later, 30 days following 
the date upon which notice thereof is given to Bondholders by the Issuer in accordance with 
Condition 17. 

The “Put Settlement Date” shall be the fourteenth day (in the case of a redemption for a 
Change of Control) or the fifth day (in the case of a redemption for a No Registration Event) 
after the expiry of such period of 30 days as referred to above. A Put Exercise Notice, once 
delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds the subject of the Put 
Exercise Notices delivered as aforesaid on the Put Settlement Date. 

Not later than 14 days (in the case of a Change of Control) or 10 days (in the case of a No 
Registration Event) following the day on which the Issuer becomes aware of a Relevant Event, 
the Issuer shall procure that notice regarding such Relevant Event shall be delivered to the 
Trustee in writing and to the holders (in accordance with Condition 17) stating: 

(i) the Put Settlement Date;  

(ii) the date of the Relevant Event and, briefly, the events causing, as applicable, the 
Change of Control or the No Registration Event, as the case may be;  

(iii) the date by which the Put Exercise Notice must be given;  

(iv) the redemption amount and the method by which such amount will be paid;  

(v) the names and addresses of all Paying Agents;  

(vi) the procedures that holders must follow and the requirements that holders must satisfy 
in order to exercise the Relevant Event Put Right; and  

(vii) that a Put Exercise Notice, once validly given, may not be withdrawn. 

Neither the Agents nor the Trustee shall be required to monitor or to take any steps to ascertain 
whether a Relevant Event or any event which could lead to a Relevant Event has occurred or 
may occur and each of them shall be entitled to assume that no such event has occurred until it 
have received written notice to the contrary from the Issuer, the Guarantor and none of them 
shall have any obligation or duty to verify the accuracy, validity and/or genuineness of any 
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documents in relation to or connection with the Registration Conditions, and none of the 
Trustee or the Agents shall be liable to the holders, the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other person 
for any loss arising from their not doing any of the foregoing. 

In this Condition: 

a “Change of Control” occurs when: 

(i) (x) the SASAC, and (y) any other person or entity Controlled by the government of the 
PRC, together, cease to directly or indirectly hold or own at least 71.1 per cent. of the 
issued share capital of the Guarantor; or 

(ii) the Guarantor ceases to directly or indirectly hold or own 100 per cent. of the issued 
share capital of the Issuer. 

“Control” means (where applicable) the ownership, acquisition or control of more than 50 per 
cent. of the voting rights of the issued share capital of a person or the right to appoint and/or 
remove all or the majority of the members of a person’s board of directors or other governing 
body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and whether obtained by ownership of share 
capital, the possession of voting rights, contract or otherwise; the term “Controlled” has 
meanings correlative to the foregoing; 

a “No Registration Event” occurs when the Registration Conditions are not complied with on 
or before the Registration Deadline; 

a “Person” includes any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, 
undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of a state (in each case whether or 
not being a separate legal entity) but does not include the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s board of 
directors or any other governing board and does not include the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s 
wholly-owned direct or indirect subsidiaries; 

“Registration Conditions” means the receipt by the Trustee of the Registration Documents 
relating to the Cross-border Security Registration as set forth in Condition 5(e); 

a “Relevant Event” will be deemed to occur if: 

(i) there is a No Registration Event; or 

(ii) there is a Change of Control. 

“SASAC” means the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of 
Taizhou, Jiangsu Province, of the PRC or its successor. 

(d) Mandatory Redemption upon Pre-funding Failure: The Bonds shall be redeemed at their 
principal amount on the Interest Payment Date immediately falling after the date the Prefunding 
Failure Notice is given to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 4(b) (the “Mandatory 
Redemption Date”) (together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the Mandatory 
Redemption Date), provided that if the holder of any Bond shall have exercised its right to 
require the Issuer to redeem its Bond pursuant to Condition 7(c) and a Pre-funding Failure 
Notice is given to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 4(b) as a result of the Pre-
funding Failure relating to the amount payable pursuant to such redemption, all the Bonds then 
outstanding shall be redeemed in whole, but not in part, at their principal amount in accordance 
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with this Condition 7(d) on the Put Settlement Date, together with interest accrued to, but 
excluding, the Put Settlement Date, and the term “Mandatory Redemption Date” shall be 
construed accordingly. 

(e) Notices of Redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under 
this Condition 7 shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this 
Condition 7. If there is more than one notice of redemption given in respect of any Bond (which 
shall include any notice given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 7(b) and any Put Exercise 
Notice given by a Bondholder pursuant to Condition 7(c)), the notice given first in time shall 
prevail and in the event of two notices being given on the same date, the first to be given shall 
prevail. Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for calculating or 
verifying any calculations of any amounts payable under any notice of redemption or Put 
Exercise Notice and none of them shall be liable to Bondholders, the Issuer, the Guarantor or 
any other person for not doing so. 

(f) Purchase: The Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries may at any time purchase 
Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price. The Bonds so purchased, while held by or 
on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder to vote 
at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes 
of calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes of Conditions 10, 
13(a) and 14. 

(g) Cancellation: All Certificates representing Bonds purchased by or on behalf of any of the 
Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries shall be surrendered for cancellation to 
the Registrar and, upon surrender thereof, all such Bonds and Certificates shall be cancelled 
forthwith. Any Certificates so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the 
obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of any such Bonds shall be discharged. 

(h) Calculations: Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for calculating or 
verifying the calculations of any amount payable under any notice of redemption or have a duty 
to verify the accuracy, validity and/or genuineness of any documents in relation to or in 
connection thereto, and shall not be liable to the Bondholders or any other person for not doing 
so. 

8 PAYMENTS 

(a) Method of Payment: 

(i) Payments of principal shall be made (subject to surrender of the relevant Certificates at 
the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar if no further payment falls 
to be made in respect of the Bonds represented by such Certificates) in the manner 
provided in Condition 8(a)(ii) below. 

(ii) Interest on each Bond shall be paid on the due date to the person shown on the Register 
at the close of business on the fifth Payment Business Day before the due date for 
payment thereof (the “Record Date”). Payments of interest on each Bond shall be 
made in U.S. dollars by transfer to the registered account of the holder of such Bond. In 
this Condition 8, the “registered account” of a Bondholder means the U.S. dollar 
account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank, details of which appear on the 
Register on the Record Date. 
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(iii) If the amount of principal being paid upon surrender of the relevant Certificate is less 
than the outstanding principal amount of such Certificate, the Registrar will annotate 
the Register with the amount of principal so paid and will (if so requested by the Issuer 
or a Bondholder) issue a new Certificate with a principal amount equal to the 
remaining unpaid outstanding principal amount. If the amount of interest being paid is 
less than the amount then due, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount 
of interest so paid. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear, 
Clearstream or any other clearing system, each payment in respect of the Global Certificate 
will be made to the person shown as the holder in the Register at the close of business of the 
relevant clearing system on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such 
payments, where “Clearing System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, 
inclusive) except 25 December and 1 January. 

(b) Payments Subject to Laws: Payments will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws 
and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the 
provisions of Condition 9 and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an 
agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the 
“Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any 
regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice 
to the provisions of Condition 9) any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto. 

(c) Payment Initiation: Payment instructions (for value the due date, or if that is not a Payment 
Business Day, for value the first following day which is a Payment Business Day) will be 
initiated or, in the case of payments of principal where the relevant Certificate has not been 
surrendered at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar, on a day on which 
the Principal Paying Agent is open for business and on which the relevant Certificate is 
surrendered. 

(d) Appointment of Agents: The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, and the Transfer Agent 
initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The 
Agents, subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement, act solely as agents of the Issuer 
and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Bondholder. 
The Issuer reserves the right at any time with the prior written approval of the Trustee to vary or 
terminate the appointment of the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar or the Transfer Agent 
and to appoint additional or other Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) 
a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar, and (iii) a Transfer Agent, in each case as approved by 
the Trustee. 

Notice of any such termination or appointment or any change of any specified office shall 
promptly be given by the Issuer to the Bondholders. 

(e) Delay in Payment: Bondholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any 
delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Bond if the due date is not a Payment 
Business Day, or if the Bondholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Certificate (if 
required to do so). 

(f) Non-Payment Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Bond is not a Payment 
Business Day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment 
Business Day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. 
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In this Condition 8, “Payment Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or public 
holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are generally open for business in 
the place in which the specified office of the Registrar, the Transfer Agent or the Principal Paying Agent 
is located and on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in U.S. dollars in New York 
City. 

9 TAXATION 

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the 
Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for 
or on account of, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, 
levied, collected, withheld or assessed by Hong Kong or the PRC or any political subdivision or 
authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by 
law. 

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor by or 
within the PRC up to and including the aggregate rate applicable on 27 January 2021 (the “Applicable 
Rate”), the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will increase the amounts paid by it to the extent 
required, so that the net amount received by Bondholders equals the amounts which would otherwise 
have been receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been required. 

If the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor is required to make a deduction or withholding (i) by 
or within the PRC in excess of the Applicable Rate or (ii) by or within Hong Kong, the Issuer or, as the 
case may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts (“Additional Tax Amounts”) as will 
result in receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such 
withholding or deduction been required, except that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be payable in 
respect of any Bond: 

(a) Other connection: to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) who is liable to such 
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond by reason of his 
having some connection with Hong Kong or the PRC other than the mere holding of the Bond; 
or 

(b) Surrender more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: in respect of which the Certificate 
representing it is presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the 
extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such Additional Tax Amounts on 
surrendering the Certificate representing such Bond for payment on the last day of such period 
of 30 days. 

References in these Conditions to principal and interest shall be deemed also to refer to any additional 
tax amounts which may be payable under this Condition 9 or any undertaking or covenant given in 
addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed. 

“Relevant Date” in respect of any Bond means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes 
due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which 
payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which 
notice is duly given to the Bondholders that, upon further surrender of the Certificate representing such 
Bond being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that 
payment is in fact made upon such surrender. 

Neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall in any event be responsible for paying any tax, duty, charges, 
withholding or other payment referred to in this Condition 9 or otherwise in connection with the Bonds 
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or for determining whether such amounts are payable or the amount thereof, and shall not be responsible 
or liable for any failure by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Bondholders or any other person to pay such 
tax, duty, charges, withholding or other payment in any jurisdiction or be responsible to provide any 
notice or information in connection with payment of such tax, duty, charges, withholding or other 
payment imposed by or in any jurisdiction. 

10 EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so 
requested by holders of at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding 
or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, shall (provided in any such case that the Trustee shall 
have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer and 
the Guarantor that the Bonds are due and payable. Upon any such notice being given to the Issuer and 
the Guarantor, the Bonds shall immediately become due and payable at their principal amount together 
(if applicable) with accrued interest: 

(a) With Respect to the Issuer and the Guarantor: 

(i) Non-Payment: there has been a failure to pay (i) the principal of any of the Bonds 
when due; or (ii) any interest on the Bonds within 14 days after the due date for such 
payment; or 

(ii) Breach of Other Obligations: the Guarantor or the Issuer does not perform or comply 
with any one or more of their respective obligations under or in respect of the Bonds, 
the Deed of Guarantee or the Trust Deed (other than those referred to in Condition 
10(a) and where it gives rise to a redemption pursuant to Condition 7(c)) which default 
(i) is incapable of remedy or, (ii) being a default which is capable of remedy, remains 
unremedied for 30 days after the Trustee has given written notice thereof to the Issuer 
or the Guarantor by the Trustee, provided that any non-compliance with Condition 4(b) 
does not constitute an Event of Default under this Condition 10(a)(ii); or 

(iii) Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Guarantor, the Issuer 
or any of their respective Subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised 
becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and payable prior to its stated 
maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default or the like 
(howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the 
case may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Guarantor, the 
Issuer or any of their respective Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable 
by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys 
borrowed or raised provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness, 
guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned 
above in this Condition 10(a)(iii) have occurred equals or exceeds U.S.$ 20,000,000 or 
its equivalent or its equivalent in any other currency (on the basis of the middle spot 
rate for the relevant currency against the US dollar as quoted by any leading bank on 
the day on which this Condition 10(a)(iii) operates); or  

(iv) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is 
levied, enforced or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of 
the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries; or 

(v) Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present 
or future, created or assumed by the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective 
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Principal Subsidiaries in respect of all or any part of its assets becomes enforceable and 
any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of 
a receiver, manager or other similar person); or 

(vi) Insolvency: the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries is 
(or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to 
pay its debts as and when such debts fall due, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or 
suspend payment of all or any part of its debts, proposes or makes any agreement for 
the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment of all of (or all of a particular type of) 
its debts (or of any part which it will or might otherwise be unable to pay when due), 
proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for 
the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is 
agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or any part of the debts of the 
Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries, as the case may 
be, except for the purpose of and followed by a solvent winding-up, dissolution, 
reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (i) on terms 
approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, or (ii) in the case of a 
Principal Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor, whereby the undertaking and assets 
of such Principal Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or the 
Guarantor (as the case may be) or another of their respective Principal Subsidiaries; or 

(vii) Winding-up: an order of any court of competent jurisdiction is made or an effective 
resolution is passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, the Guarantor or 
any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries (except for any voluntary solvent 
winding-up of any of the Principal Subsidiaries), or the Issuer, the Guarantor, or any of 
their respective Principal Subsidiaries ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or 
substantially all of its business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed by 
a solvent winding-up, dissolution, reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, 
merger or consolidation (i) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the 
Bondholders, or (ii) in the case of a Principal Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor, 
whereby the undertaking and assets of such Principal Subsidiary are transferred to or 
otherwise vested in the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) or another of their 
respective Principal Subsidiaries; or 

(viii) Nationalisation: any step is taken by any person acting under the authority of any 
national, regional or local government with a view to the seizure, compulsory 
acquisition, expropriation, or nationalisation of all or any part of the assets of the 
Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries; or 

(ix) Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining 
or effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, 
licence, order, recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or 
done in order (i) to enable the Issuer and the Guarantor lawfully to enter into, exercise 
their respective rights and perform and comply with their respective obligations under 
the Bonds, the Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee, (ii) to ensure that those 
obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds, the Trust 
Deed and the Deed of Guarantee admissible in evidence in the courts of Hong Kong is 
not taken, fulfilled or done; or 
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(x) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for any of the Guarantor and the Issuer to 
perform or comply with any one or more of their respective obligations under any of 
the Bonds or the Trust Deed or the Deed of Guarantee; or 

(xi) Guarantee: the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force 
and effect; or 

(xii) Standby Letter of Credit: the Standby Letter of Credit is not (or is claimed by the LC 
Bank not to be) enforceable, valid or in full force and effect; or 

(xiii) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of the PRC has an 
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in this Condition 10(a). 

In this Condition 10(a): 

“Principal Subsidiary” means, at any time, each Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor: 

(i) whose revenue or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) 
consolidated revenue, as shown by its latest audited income statements is at least five 
per cent. of the consolidated revenue as shown by the latest published audited 
consolidated income statements of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries including, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries’ share of profits of 
Subsidiaries not consolidated and of jointly controlled entities and after adjustments for 
minority interests; 

(ii) whose net profit or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) 
consolidated net profit, as shown by its latest audited income statements is at least five 
per cent. of the consolidated net profit as shown by the latest published audited 
consolidated income statements of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries including, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries’ share of profits of 
Subsidiaries not consolidated and of jointly controlled entities and after adjustments for 
minority interests; or 

(iii) whose total assets or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries) 
consolidated total assets, as shown by its latest audited balance sheet are at least five 
per cent. of the amount which equals the amount included in the consolidated total 
assets of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as shown by the latest published audited 
consolidated balance sheet of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries including, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the investment of the Guarantor in each Subsidiary whose accounts 
are not consolidated with the consolidated audited accounts of the Guarantor and after 
adjustment for minority interests; 

provided that, in relation to paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above of this definition: 

(A) in the case of a corporation or other business entity becoming a Subsidiary after the end 
of the financial period to which the latest consolidated audited accounts of the 
Guarantor relate, the reference to the then latest consolidated audited accounts of the 
Guarantor for the purposes of the calculation above shall, until consolidated audited 
accounts of the Guarantor for the financial period in which the relevant corporation or 
other business entity becomes a Subsidiary are published be deemed to be a reference 
to the then latest consolidated audited accounts of the Guarantor adjusted to consolidate 
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the latest audited accounts (consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has 
Subsidiaries) of such Subsidiary in such accounts; 

(B) if at any relevant time in relation to the Guarantor or any Subsidiary which itself has 
Subsidiaries no consolidated accounts are prepared and audited, revenue, net profit or 
total assets of the Guarantor and/or any such Subsidiary shall be determined on the 
basis of pro forma consolidated accounts prepared for this purpose by or on behalf of 
the Guarantor; 

(C) if at any relevant time in relation to any Subsidiary, no accounts are audited, its 
revenue, net profit or total assets (consolidated, if appropriate) shall be determined on 
the basis of pro forma accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) of the relevant Subsidiary 
prepared for this purpose by or on behalf of the Guarantor; 

(D) if the accounts of any subsidiary (not being a Subsidiary referred to in proviso (i) above 
of this definition) are not consolidated with those of the Guarantor, then the 
determination of whether or not such subsidiary is a Principal Subsidiary shall be based 
on a pro forma consolidation of its accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) with the 
consolidated accounts (determined on the basis of the foregoing) of the Guarantor 
prepared for this purpose by or on behalf of the Guarantor; and 

(E) in the case of a Subsidiary to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole 
of the assets of a Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer was a Principal 
Subsidiary, the Principal Subsidiary which so transfers its assets shall forthwith upon 
such transfer cease to be a Principal Subsidiary and the Subsidiary to which the assets 
are so transferred shall become a Principal Subsidiary upon such transfer but shall 
cease to be a Principal Subsidiary at the date on which the first published audited 
accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) of the Guarantor prepared as of a date later than 
such transfer are issued unless such Subsidiary would continue to be a Principal 
Subsidiary on the basis of such accounts by virtue of the provisions of paragraphs (i), 
(ii) or (iii) above of this definition 

(b) With respect to the LC Bank: 

(i) Cross-Default: 

(A) any Public External Indebtedness of the LC Bank or any of its Subsidiaries is 
not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace 
period; 

(B) any such Public External Indebtedness becomes (or becomes capable of being 
declared) due and payable prior to its stated maturity otherwise than at the 
option of the LC Bank or (as the case may be) the relevant Subsidiary or 
(provided that no event of default, howsoever described, has occurred) any 
person entitled to such Public External Indebtedness; or 

(C) the LC Bank or any of its Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount 
payable by it under any guarantee or indemnity of any Public External 
Indebtedness,  

provided that the amount of Public External Indebtedness referred to in Conditions 
10(b)(i)(A) or 10(b)(i)(B) and/or the amount payable under any guarantee or indemnity 
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referred to in Condition 10(b)(i)(C), individually or in the aggregate, exceeds 
U.S.$25,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies); or 

(ii) Security Enforced: a secured party takes possession, or a receiver, manager or other 
similar officer is appointed, of the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking, assets 
and revenues of the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries; or 

(iii) Insolvency: (A) the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries becomes insolvent or 
is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, (B) an administrator or liquidator is appointed 
(or application for any such appointment is made) in respect of the LC Bank or any of 
its Material Subsidiaries or the whole or a material part of the undertaking, assets and 
revenues of the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries, (C) the LC Bank or any of 
its Material Subsidiaries takes any action for a readjustment or deferment of any of its 
obligations or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or 
for the benefit of its creditors or declares a moratorium in respect of any of its 
indebtedness or any guarantee or indemnity of any indebtedness given by it, or (D) the 
LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all 
or any substantial part of its business, except in the case of any Material Subsidiary, 
where the cessation is for the purpose of and followed by a solvent winding-up, 
dissolution, reconstruction, amalgamation, merger or consolidation whereby the 
business, undertaking and assets of such Material Subsidiary are transferred to or 
otherwise vested in the LC Bank and/or another Subsidiary; or 

(iv) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up, 
liquidation or dissolution of the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries; or 

(v) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of the relevant jurisdiction 
has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of Conditions 10(b)(ii) to 
Condition 10(b)(iv) (both inclusive). 

In this Condition 10(b): 

“LC Bank” means Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Taizhou Branch; 

“Material Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the LC Bank, 

(A) whose gross revenue (consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has 
consolidated Subsidiaries), whose gross assets (consolidated in the case of a 
Subsidiary which itself has consolidated Subsidiaries) or whose net profit 
(consolidated in the case of Subsidiary which itself has consolidated 
Subsidiaries) represent not less than five per cent. of the consolidated gross 
revenue, the consolidated gross assets, or, as the case may be, the consolidated 
net profit of the LC Bank and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, all as calculated 
respectively by reference to the latest audited or reviewed financial statements 
(consolidated or, as the case may be, unconsolidated) of the Subsidiary and the 
then latest audited or reviewed consolidated financial statements of the LC 
Bank, provided that: 

(I) in the case of a Subsidiary acquired after the end of the financial period 
to which the then latest audited or reviewed consolidated financial 
statements of the LC Bank relate for the purpose of applying each of the 
foregoing tests, the reference to the LC Bank’s latest audited or reviewed 
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consolidated financial statements shall be deemed to be a reference to 
such audited or reviewed financial statements as if such Subsidiary had 
been shown therein by reference to its then latest relevant audited or 
reviewed financial statements, adjusted as deemed appropriate by the 
auditor for the time being, after consultation with the LC Bank; 

(II) if at any relevant time in relation to the LC Bank or any Subsidiary no 
financial statements are prepared and audited, its gross revenue, gross 
assets and net profit (consolidated, if applicable) shall be determined on 
the basis of pro forma consolidated financial statements (consolidated, if 
applicable) prepared for this purpose; and 

(III) if the financial statements of any Subsidiary (not being a Subsidiary 
referred to in proviso (1) above) are not consolidated with those of the 
Bank, then the determination of whether or not such Subsidiary is a 
Material Subsidiary shall be based on a pro forma consolidation of its 
financial statements (consolidated, if appropriate) with the consolidated 
financial statements (determined on the basis of the foregoing) of the LC 
Bank; 

(B) to which is transferred all or substantially all of the business, undertaking and 
assets of another Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer is a 
Material Subsidiary, whereupon (i) in the case of a transfer by a Material 
Subsidiary, the transferor Material Subsidiary shall immediately cease to be a 
Material Subsidiary and (ii) the transferee Subsidiary shall immediately become 
a Material Subsidiary, provided that on or after the date on which the relevant 
financial statements for the financial period current at the date of such transfer 
are published, whether such transferor Subsidiary or such transferee Subsidiary 
is or is not a Material Subsidiary shall be determined pursuant to the provisions 
of paragraph (A) of this definition above. 

A certificate signed by an authorised signatory of the LC Bank that in his/her opinion 
(making such adjustments (if any) as he/she shall deem appropriate) a Subsidiary is or 
is not or was or was not at any particular time or during any particular period a Material 
Subsidiary shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the 
Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee and the Bondholders; 

“Public External Indebtedness” means any indebtedness of the LC Bank or any 
Subsidiary of the LC Bank, or any guarantee or indemnity by the LC Bank of 
indebtedness, for money borrowed which (A) is in the form of or represented by any 
bond, note, debenture, debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other instrument 
which is, or is capable of being, listed, quoted or traded on any stock exchange or in 
any securities market (including, without limitation, any over-the-counter market) 
outside the PRC (without regard, however, to whether or not such instruments are sold 
through public offerings or private placement) and (B) has an original maturity in 
excess of 365 days; and 

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any person (the “first Person”) at any particular 
time, any other person (the “second Person”) (A) whose affairs and policies the first 
Person controls or has the power to control, whether by ownership of share capital, 
contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the governing body of the second 
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Person or otherwise, or (B) whose financial statements are, in accordance with 
applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, consolidated with those of 
the first Person. 

11 PRESCRIPTION 

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed and become void 
unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the 
appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them. 

12 REPLACEMENT OF CERTIFICATES 

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to 
applicable laws, regulations or other relevant regulatory authority regulations, at the specified office of 
the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs 
incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as 
the Issuer, the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require. Mutilated or defaced Certificates 
must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

13 MEETINGS OF BONDHOLDERS, MODIFICATION AND ENTITLEMENTS 

(a) Meetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of 
Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by 
Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the 
Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit. 
Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee, and shall be 
convened by the Trustee if requested in writing by Bondholders holding not less than 10 per 
cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding and subject to it 
being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction against any costs and 
expenses. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will 
be two or more persons holding or representing more than 50 per cent. in aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more 
persons being or representing whatever the principal amount of the Bonds held or represented, 
unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of certain proposals, inter alia, (i) to 
modify the maturity of the Bonds or the dates on which interest is payable in respect of the 
Bonds, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or interest on, the Bonds, (iii) to change 
the currency of payment of the Bonds, (iv) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum 
required at any meeting of Bondholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary 
Resolution, (v) to modify or release the Standby Letter of Credit (other than an amendment or 
supplement to, or a replacement of, the Standby Letter of Credit in connection with a further 
issue of securities pursuant to Condition 16 or modification pursuant to Condition 13(b)), or (vi) 
to modify or cancel the Deed of Guarantee (other than an amendment or supplement to the 
Deed of Guarantee in connection with a further issue of securities pursuant to Condition 16 or 
modification pursuant to Condition 13(b)), in which case the necessary quorum will be two or 
more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not 
less than 25 per cent., in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being 
outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders 
(whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed). 

The Trust Deed provides that (A) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of 
not less than 90 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being 
outstanding or (B) passed by Electronic Consent (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall for all 
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purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of 
Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one 
document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more 
Bondholders. 

So long as the Bonds are evidenced by the Global Certificate, Extraordinary Resolution 
includes a consent given by way of electronic consents through the relevant clearing system(s) 
by or on behalf of all the Bondholders of not less than 90 per cent in aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. 

(b) Modification of the Conditions, Trust Deed and Standby Letter of Credit: The Trustee may 
(but shall not be obliged to) agree, without the consent of the Bondholders, to (i) any 
modification of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency 
Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit that is, in its opinion, of a 
formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with any 
mandatory provision of law, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust 
Deed or the Deed of Guarantee), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed 
breach, of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency 
Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or the Standby Letter of Credit that is, in the opinion of the 
Trustee, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. Any such modification, 
authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and, unless the Trustee otherwise 
agrees, each such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be notified by the Issuer or the 
Guarantor to the Bondholders as soon as practicable. 

(c) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions, rights, powers 
and/or discretions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 13) the 
Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders as a class and shall not have regard 
to the consequences of such exercise for individual Bondholders and the Trustee shall not be 
entitled to require on behalf of any Bondholder, nor shall any Bondholder be entitled to claim, 
from the Issuer or the Trustee any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence 
of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders. 

14 ENFORCEMENT 

At any time after the Bonds become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without 
further notice, take such actions and/or steps and/or institute such proceedings against the Issuer, the 
Guarantor and/or the LC Bank as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Bonds 
and/or the Deed of Guarantee and, where appropriate, to draw down on and enforce the Standby Letter 
of Credit, but it need not take any such actions and/or steps and/or institute such proceedings unless (a) 
it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by Bondholders 
holding at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, and (b) other than in the case 
of the making of a drawing under the Standby Letter of Credit, it shall have been indemnified and/or 
secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. No Bondholder may proceed directly against the Issuer, the 
Guarantor or the LC Bank unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within 
a reasonable time and such failure is continuing. 

15 INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE 

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to be indemnified, secured and/or pre-funded to its 
satisfaction and to be relieved from responsibility in certain circumstances and to be paid its fees, costs, 
expenses, indemnity payments, and other amounts in priority to the claims of the Bondholders. In 
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addition, the Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC 
Bank and any entity related to them without accounting for any profit. 

The Trustee and the Agents may accept and shall be entitled to rely conclusively without liability to the 
Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC Bank, the Bondholders or any other person on any report, confirmation, 
information or certificate or any opinion or advice of any lawyers, accountants, financial advisers, 
financial institution or any other expert, whether or not obtained by or addressed to it and whether their 
liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto or in any 
other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and 
shall be entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation, information, certificate, opinion or advice, in 
which case such report, confirmation, information, certificate, opinion or advice shall be binding on the 
Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC Bank and the Bondholders. 

None of the Trustee or the Agents shall have any obligation to monitor compliance with the provisions 
of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit or these 
Conditions, or ascertain whether an Event of Default, a Potential Event of Default, a Pre-funding Failure 
or a Change of Control has occurred, and they shall not be liable to the holders or any other person for 
not doing so. 

Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the 
Deed of Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit or these Conditions to exercise any discretion or power, 
take or refrain from any action, make any decision or give any direction, the Trustee is entitled, prior to 
its exercising any such discretion or power, taking or refraining from any such action, making any such 
decision, or giving any such direction, to seek directions or clarification of directions from the 
Bondholders by way of an Extraordinary Resolution, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any 
loss or liability incurred by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC Bank, the Bondholders or any other person 
as a result of any delay in it exercising such discretion or power, taking or refraining from such action, 
making such decision, or giving such direction where the Trustee is seeking such directions or 
clarification of directions from Bondholders or in the event that no such directions or clarification of 
directions are received by the Trustee. 

None of the Trustee or any Agent shall be liable to any Bondholder, the Issuer, the Guarantor, the LC 
Bank or any other person for any action taken by the Trustee or such Agent in accordance with the 
instructions of the Bondholders. The Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely on any direction, 
request or resolution of Bondholders given by Bondholders holding the requisite principal amount of 
Bonds outstanding or passed at a meeting of Bondholders convened and held in accordance with the 
Trust Deed. 

None of the Trustee or any of the Agents shall be responsible or liable for the performance by the Issuer, 
the Guarantor, the LC Bank and/or any other person appointed by the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or 
the LC Bank in relation to the Bonds of the duties and obligations on their part expressed in respect of 
the same and, unless it has written notice from the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the LC Bank to the 
contrary, the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled to assume that the same are being duly performed. 

Each Bondholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own independent 
appraisal and investigation into the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and 
nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the LC Bank, and the Trustee shall not at any time have any 
responsibility or liability for the same and each Bondholder shall not rely on the Trustee in respect 
thereof. 
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16 FURTHER ISSUES 

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue further bonds 
having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue 
date and first payment of interest on them and the timing for complying with the Registration Conditions 
and the NDRC Post-issue Filing) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single 
series with the outstanding Bonds. References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the 
context requires otherwise) any further bonds issued pursuant to this Condition 16. However, such 
further securities may only be issued if a further or supplemental or replacement standby letter of credit 
is issued by the LC Bank (or an amendment is made to the Standby Letter of Credit) on terms that are 
substantially similar to the Standby Letter of Credit (including that the stated amount of such further or 
supplemental standby letter of credit represents an increase at least equal to the principal of and one 
interest payment due on such further bonds and any fees, costs, expenses, indemnity payments and all 
other amounts in connection with such issue) and such supplemental documents are executed and further 
opinions are obtained as the Trustee may require, as further set out in the Trust Deed. References to the 
Standby Letter of Credit shall thereafter include such further, supplemental, replacement or amended 
standby letter of credit. Any further bonds consolidated and forming a single series with the outstanding 
Bonds constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall be constituted by a deed 
supplemental to the Trust Deed and be guaranteed by the Guarantor pursuant to a deed supplemental to 
the Deed of Guarantee. 

17 NOTICES 

Notices to the holders of Bonds shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and 
deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday or a 
public holiday) after the date of mailing. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a 
manner that complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on 
which the Bonds are for the time being listed. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on 
the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first date on which publication is 
made. 

So long as the Global Certificate is held by or on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, or the Alternative 
Clearing System (as defined in the Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global Form), any 
notice to the holders of the Bonds shall be validly given by the delivery of the relevant notice to 
Euroclear, Clearstream or the Alternative Clearing System for communication by the relevant clearing 
system to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by the Conditions and shall 
be deemed to have been given on the date of delivery to such clearing system. 

18 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ORDINANCE (CAP.623)  

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Ordinance (Cap.623). 

19 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

(a) Governing Law: The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee, the Standby 
Letter of Credit and the Bonds and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 
connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Hong Kong 
law. 

(b) Jurisdiction: The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes 
that may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, 
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the Deed of Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit or the Guarantee and accordingly any legal 
action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Bonds, the Trust Deed, the 
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee, the Standby Letter of Credit or the Guarantee 
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has in the 
Trust Deed and the Deed of Guarantee irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts. 

(c) Agent for Service of Process: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor irrevocably appoints the 
Issuer at Level 54, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen's Road East Hong Kong as its authorised agent 
in Hong Kong to receive service of process in any Proceedings based on any of the Bonds, the 
Guarantee, the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement. If for any reason the Issuer or the 
Guarantor, as the case may be, ceases to have such an agent in Hong Kong, it will promptly 
appoint a substitute process agent and shall notify the Trustee of such replacement within 30 
days of such cessation. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other 
manner permitted by law. 

(d) Waiver of Immunity: Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has waived any right to claim 
sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and has 
irrevocably consented to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including, without 
limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective 
of its use or intended use) or any order or judgment made or given in connection with any 
Proceedings. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The Issuer intends to use the proceeds for repaying the Group's offshore middle- and long-term indebtedness due 
within one year.  
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DESCRIPTION OF BANK OF JIANGSU 

The information included in this Information Memorandum regarding Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. is for 
information purposes only and is based on, or derived or extracted from, among other sources, publicly 
available information. Any information available from public sources that are referenced in this Information 
Memorandum but is not separately included in this Information Memorandum shall not be deemed to be 
incorporated by reference to this Information Memorandum. The Issuer has taken reasonable care in the 
compilation and reproduction of the information. However, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing Agents, 
the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives, 
agents or advisers or any person who controls any of them has independently verified such information. No 
representation or warranty, express or implied, is made or given by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing 
Agents, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, 
representatives, agents or advisers or any person who controls any of them as to the accuracy, completeness or 
sufficiency of such information. Accordingly, such information should not be unduly relied upon. 

The Bonds will have the benefit of the Standby Letter of Credit which will be issued by Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. 
Taizhou Branch as the LC Bank. Under PRC laws, the LC Bank is not a separate and independent legal person 
but has capacity to carry on its activities within its scope of authorization given by Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. 
(“Bank of Jiangsu”), and if the assets of the LC Bank are not sufficient to meet the obligations of the LC Bank 
under the Standby Letter of Credit, Bank of Jiangsu would have an obligation to satisfy the remaining balance of 
the obligations under the Standby Letter of Credit. 

OVERVIEW 

Bank of Jiangsu was officially listed and opened on 24 January 2007, headquartered in Nanjing, Jiangsu 
Province. On 2 August 2016, Bank of Jiangsu was listed on the main board of Shanghai Stock Exchange with the 
stock code 600919. Bank of Jiangsu holds a financial institution license numbered B0243H232010001 from the 
China Banking Regulatory Commission (“CBRC”) and a legal entity business licenses (unified social credit 
code: 91320000796544598E) from the Jiangsu Municipal Administration of Industry and Commerce. The 
registered address of Bank of Jiangsu is No.26, Zhonghua Road, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. 

Adhering to the mission of “creating better life and the core values of integration and innovation, pragmatic 
responsibility and lean growth”, Bank of Jiangsu is committed to building a leading service bank that is 
“Wisdom, characteristic, international and comprehensive”. Bank of Jiangsu has 17 branches under its banner 
and two subsidiaries of Suyin Financial Leasing Co., Ltd., and Baode County Bank of Jiangsu Danyang. The 
service network radiates three economic circles of the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, and Bohai Rim, 
and achieves full coverage of counties in Jiangsu Province, with more than 530 business outlets and more than 
15,000 employees. 

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

With approval of CBRC and examined and approved by the company registration authority, Bank of Jiangsu 
enjoys the scope of business of taking public deposit; issuing short-term, medium-term and long-term loans; 
handling domestic settlement; handling bills acceptance and discount; issuing financial bond; issuing, cashing 
and underwriting government bonds as an agent, underwriting short-term financing bonds; buying and selling 
government bonds, financial bonds and enterprise bonds; handling inter-bank borrowing; providing service and 
guarantee for letter of credit; handling collection, payment and insurance service as an agent, dealing with wealth 
management for the customers, fund sales as an agent, precious metal sales as an agent, handling receipt and 
payment and taking care of assembled funds trust plan as an agent; providing safe deposit box service; handling 
entrusted deposit and loan service; engaging in bank card business; undertaking foreign exchange deposits; 
foreign exchange loans; foreign exchange remittance; foreign currency exchange; foreign exchange settlement 
and sale at sight and forwards; handling international settlement; undertaking self-operation of and agency for 
foreign exchange trading; handling inter-banking foreign exchange lending; trading and acting trading foreign 
currency securities other than stocks; undertaking credit investigation, consulting, witness services; providing 
online banking; handling other businesses approved by China’s banking regulatory authorities and related 
departments.  
Bank of Jiangsu’s main business conditions are set out below:  

 Financial business: Bank of Jiangsu strives to improve the quality and efficiency of serving the real 
economy, closely follows the policy guidance, serves the national development strategy, focuses on key 
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areas, continuously increases support for manufacturing, green industries and other fields, and provides 
financing services for small, micro and private enterprises. Bank of Jiangsu also vigorously promotes the 
financial, cash management, e-banking and other businesses in supply chains, creates a “commercial bank + 
investment bank” model, and provides customized and personalized financial service programs for 
customers.  

 Retail financial business: Bank of Jiangsu will continue to optimize customer group management, innovate 
customer service modes, promote community management and overseas study services, deepen 
“entrepreneur + investor” services, innovate and establish Yuanrong Entrepreneur College, actively promote 
family trust services, and use 5G technology to launch remote investment consulting services. In addition, 
Bank of Jiangsu will cooperate with the comprehensive consumption scenario platform to launch joint credit 
cards, continuously enrich the credit card product system, launch ETC projects, further promote the 
application of big data and customer life cycle management, and enhance cross-linkage and accurate 
marketing capabilities as well as make full use of Internet, big data, artificial intelligence, biology and image 
recognition technologies, launch mobile banking app 5.0 and direct selling bank 5.0 upgrade version, realize 
“card-free” business at intelligent counters, open up the dual platforms of “PC+applets”, and continuously 
expand the ecosystem of online retail application scenarios.  

 Capital Businesses: Bank of Jiangsu pays close attention to market changes, flexibly adjusts trading 
strategies, and makes full use of product tools such as repurchase, issuance of inter-bank certificates of 
deposit, precious metals and foreign exchange derivatives to effectively reduce the cost of liabilities. Bank 
of Jiangsu has obtained the qualification of bill brokerage business, further demonstrates the advantages of 
standardized bill business. In addition, by the end of 2019, a total of 2,368 wealth management products 
were issued, including a series of net worth products such as “Rongxiang”, “Ronghe”, “Rongda” and 
“Ronghui Cash” designed and issued according to the requirements of the new asset management 
regulations, with a total raised amount of RMB579.8 billion and the entrusted assets amounted RMB2, 
519.9 billion.  

 Support System: In addition, Bank of Jiangsu continues to strengthen the construction of smart operations, 
strengthen operational risk control to ensure the stable development of various businesses.  

 Financial Science and Technology: Bank of Jiangsu also puts the “Wisdom” construction at the top of the 
“four modernizations” strategy, grasps the trend of digital development, closely follows the development 
and application of cutting-edge technologies, stimulates vitality, enhances momentum, and strives to create a 
financial science and technology ecosystem.  

In 2019, Bank of Jiangsu has obtained many honours and awards in various selection activities organised by 
domestic and foreign institutions, among which:  

 In January 2019, it won the “Culture Construction Advanced Unit of National Financial System in China” 
awarded by the Research Association of Ideological and Political Work of China Financial Institutions.  

 In January 2019, it won the “Best growth bank in international business” and “Most innovative bank in 
international business” awarded by Jiangsu Banking Association.  

 In February 2019, it was awarded the “Outstanding Contribution Award for the Integration of 
Informatisation and Industrialization in Jiangsu Province” by Jiangsu Development and Reform 
Commission and Department of Finance of Jiangsu Province. In April 2019, it was awarded the “Advanced 
Unit of Financial Services for Small and Micro Enterprises in Jiangsu Province” by China Banking and 
Insurance Regulatory Commission, Jiangsu Office.  

 In April 2019, it was selected into Forbes World’s Best Banks List. 

 In April 2019, it was awarded the “Best Financial Innovation Award”, “Top Ten Investment Bank Innovation 
Award”, “Top Ten Consumer Financial Innovation Award”, and “Top Ten Financial Technology Innovation 
Award” selected by The Banker magazine.  

 In May 2019, it won the “2019 Jiangsu Financial Innovation Award” awarded by Jiangsu Provincial 
Department of Finance, Jiangsu Provincial Financial Supervision Bureau, Nanjing Branch of the People’s 
Bank of China, Jiangsu Banking and Insurance Supervision Bureau, Jiangsu Securities Supervision Bureau, 
etc. 
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 In May 2019, in the three rankings of Puyi Standard “Comprehensive Financial Management Ability”, “Risk 
Control Ability” and “Information Disclosure Standardization”, it ranked first among city commercial banks 
in the country. 

 In June 2019, it ranked 92nd in UK’s The Banker’s Global 1000 ranking of banks by Tier 1 capital. 

 In July 2019, it won the “Best Inclusive Financial Effectiveness Award” awarded by the China Banking 
Association. 

 In November 2019, it was awarded the “Top 100 Financial Enterprises with Outstanding Brand Power in 
China” selected by The Economic Observer and Modern Advertising magazine. 

 In November 2019, it was awarded the “Outstanding Corporate Citizen of the Year Award” by National 
Business Daily. 

 In November 2019, it was awarded the “Special Contribution Award to Corporate Governance” at the 15th 
Golden Round Table Award of the Board of Directors of Listed Companies in China by Directors & Boards 
magazine. 

 In December 2019, it was awarded the 2019 China Securities Market Golden Steed Award for “Outstanding 
Service to the Real Economy Award” and “Gold Medal Board Secretary Award” by Securities Daily. 

 In December 2019, it was awarded the “Best Brand Building Small- and Medium-sized Bank” and “Best 
Service and High-quality Development Centre Bank” by Financial Times. 

 In December 2019, it was awarded the “Outstanding Competitiveness Risk Management Bank” by China 
Business Journal.  

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Copies of Bank of Jiangsu’s published audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited but reviewed 
consolidated financial statements, as well as its public filings, can be downloaded free of charge from the 
websites of Bank of Jiangsu and the Shanghai Stock Exchange at http://www.jsbchina.cn and 
http://www.sse.com.cn, respectively. The financial statements of Bank of Jiangsu are not included in and do not 
form part of this Information Memorandum. The information contained on the websites of Bank of Jiangsu and 
the Shanghai Stock Exchange is subject to change from time to time. No representation is made by the Issuer, the 
Guarantor, the Placing Agents, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, 
employees, representatives, agents or advisers and none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Placing Agents, the 
Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives, agents 
or advisers takes any responsibility for any information contained on the websites of Bank of Jiangsu and the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
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CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS OF THE GUARANTOR 

The following table sets forth the Guarantor’s consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness as at 30 June 2020 on 
an actual basis and as adjusted to give effect to the Bonds to be issued before deducting commissions and other 
fees expenses payable by the Issuer in connection with the offering of the Bonds. The following table should be 
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor included elsewhere in 
this Information Memorandum.  

 As at 30 June 2020 

 Actual  As adjusted 
 (RMB) (U.S.$)(1) (RMB) (U.S.$)(1) 

 (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) 
  

Current indebtedness     
Short-term borrowings ............................   4,889,098,832 692,007,025 4,889,098,832 692,007,025 
Non-current liabilities due within one 

year .....................................................   9,319,414,533  1,319,077,512 9,319,414,533  1,319,077,512 

Total current indebtedness ...................   14,208,513,365 2,011,084,537 14,208,513,365 2,011,084,537 
     
Non-current indebtedness     
Long-term borrowings .............................   18,016,411,608  2,550,057,552 18,016,411,608  2,550,057,552 
Bonds payable .........................................   7,037,475,024  996,089,938  7,037,475,024  996,089,938  
Bonds to be issued(2) ................................   – – 423,906,000 60,000,000 

Total non-current indebtedness ...........   25,053,886,632 3,546,147,490 25,477,792,632 3,606,147,490 

Total indebtedness(3) ..............................   39,262,399,997 5,557,232,027 39,686,305,997 5,617,232,027 

Total owners’ equity ..............................   27,848,597,079  3,941,713,080 27,848,597,079  3,941,713,080 

Total capitalisation(4) .............................   67,110,997,076  9,498,945,107 67,534,903,076 9,558,945,107 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, there has been no material adverse change in the consolidated 
capitalisation and indebtedness of the Group since 30 June 2020. 

 

Notes:  
(1) For convenience only, all translation from Renminbi into U.S. dollars was made at the rate of RMB7.0651 to U.S.$1.00, the 

exchange rate as at 30 June 2020 as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
Bank System of the United States. 

(2) This amount represents the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be issued, before deducting commissions and other 
estimated expenses payable in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

(3) Total indebtedness equals the sum of current indebtedness and non-current indebtedness. 

(4) Total capitalisation represents the sum of total indebtedness and total owners’ equity. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER 

FORMATION  

The Issuer, Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, is a company with limited liability incorporated 
in Hong Kong on 11 May 2017. Its registered office is located at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road 
East, Hong Kong. The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. 

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Issuer has not engaged, since its incorporation, in any 
material activities other than those in connection with any notes, bonds or other securities (including the Bonds) 
and the on-lending of the proceeds thereof to the Guarantor or its subsidiaries, and the authorisation of 
documents and agreements referred to in this Information Memorandum to which it is or will be a party. 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The directors of the Issuer are Wu Zhilan and Hang Xiang. 

SHARE CAPITAL  

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the authorised share capital of the Issuer is U.S.$10,000 divided 
into 10,000 shares of U.S.$1.00 each and the Issuer has 10,000 shares in issue. None of the equity securities of 
the Issuer was listed or dealt in on any stock exchange and no listing or permission to deal in such securities was 
being or was proposed to be sought as at the date of this Information Memorandum. 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

The Issuer's financial statements are prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The Issuer is not involved in any legal, arbitration or other administrative proceedings, and it is not aware of any 
pending or threatened action against it. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP 

OVERVIEW 

As a direct subsidiary of Taizhou SASAC, the Guarantor is a state-owned enterprise located in the Taizhou 
Medical High-tech Industrial Development Zone (the “Taizhou Medical Zone”) in Jiangsu Province with a 
registered capital of RMB6,328.5 million. The Taizhou Medical Zone is the first national-level medical high-
tech industrial development zone in China, the largest national-level medical high-tech industrial development 
zone in Jiangsu Province which has benefited from substantial governmental support and the only vehicle for 
undertaking the construction of healthcare medical industry in Taizhou. The Taizhou Medical Zone has a total 
planned size of approximately 120 square kilometres comprised of seven industrial and functional parks and four 
districts (township-level). The seven industrial and functional parks are the Binjiang Industrial Park, the Higher 
Education Park, the Bonded Zone, the Data Industrial Park, the Economic Development Zone, the Medical Park 
and the Zhoushanhe Street. Situated on the north bank of the Yangtze River, it plays an important role in the 
Yangtze River Delta economic circle. Pursuant to the Notice issued by the Management Committee, the 
Guarantor has been designated by the Management Committee as the primary investment, financing and 
operating platform for the development of the Taizhou Medical Zone in 2009. Leveraging its role as the primary 
investment, finance and operating platform for the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Guarantor believes it takes a 
leading position in terms of its market share in, among others the leasing of service platforms and real properties, 
land transfer and construction management in Taizhou Medical Zone. 

Operating through its key subsidiary Jiangsu Huawei Medical Logistics Limited (江蘇華為醫藥物流有限公司) 
(“Huawei Pharmaceutical”), the Group has eleven years of operating history in the industry of sales and 
distribution of pharmaceutical products. The Group believes that it takes a leading position in terms of its market 
share in the sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products in Jiangsu Province. In addition, the Group has 
progressively developed logistics services for various pharmaceutical companies and medical equipment 
manufacturers operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone since it started its business in the pharmaceutical industry 
in 2008, focusing on providing warehousing and transportation services. 

In line with the general development plan of the Taizhou Medical Zone, the mission of the Group is to carry out 
the financing and construction of major development projects and to promote further development of the 
Taizhou Medical Zone. 

The business of the Group primarily consists of six business segments: (i) sales and distribution of 
pharmaceutical products, (ii) leasing, (iii) sales of real properties, (iv) land transfer, (v) construction management, 
and (vi) other businesses including, among others, warehousing and logistics services in respect of 
pharmaceutical products for various pharmaceutical companies and medical equipment manufacturers, property 
management, hotel, convention and exhibition services, catering, provision of guarantees, asset assignment, 
transportation as well as services ancillary to the operation and management of the Taizhou Medical Zone, such 
as information consulting and scavenging services. As at 30 June 2020, the Group operated its businesses 
through 11 subsidiaries.  

Set forth below is an overview of the business segments of the Group: 

 Sales and Distribution of Pharmaceutical Products: The Group’s sales and distribution of pharmaceutical 
products business segment mainly consists of sales of proprietary Chinese medicines, Chinese medicinal 
materials, medicinal chemicals and preparation ingredients, antibiotics and preparations ingredient, 
biochemical drugs, biological products, healthcare food, disinfectants, antiseptics and medical equipment. 

 Leasing: The Group commenced its leasing business in 2008. The Group’s leasing business mainly consists 
of leasing service platforms and real properties it owned to the enterprises located in the Taizhou Medical 
Zone. Service platform leasing involves leasing of various facilities and equipment of the Taizhou Medical 
Zone to the pharmaceutical companies located in the Taizhou Medical Zone, together with provision of 
ancillary services such as new medicine application, new medicine research and development, medicine 
screening, and molecule or animal experiment application operated by the Group. Leasing of real properties 
involves leasing of office buildings constructed and owned by the Group. 

 Sales of Real Properties: The Group commenced its sales of real properties business in 2015. The Group’s 
sales of real properties business mainly consists of sales of the real properties, such as residential complex 
and plants and commercial buildings constructed by the Group in the Taizhou Medical Zone and the target 
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customers are the enterprises operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone and their staff. 

 Land Transfer: After the Group obtains the land development quota from the Management Committee, it 
commences the financing and construction of the typical “nine connections and one levelling” (“九通一

平”), such as sewage, water, electricity, cable and natural gas. After that, the Group acquires land use rights 
to some of such land, which will go into the Group’s land bank, through tender, auction and listing for sale 
by paying land premiums to the government. Some of such land will be used for the Group’s leasing and 
secondary real estate development, and some will be used for entrusted construction for government. 
Occasionally, the Group transfers land use rights to enterprises operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone at 
marginal profit through the government by way of tender, auction and listing for sale.  

 Construction Management: The Group’s construction management business involves infrastructure 
construction projects in the Taizhou Medical Zone for the construction of road, bridge, water pipes, public 
service platforms and other supporting facilities. 

 Other Businesses: The Group also carries on a number of ancillary businesses in support of its principal 
businesses and the construction, operation and management of major projects in the Taizhou Medical Zone. 
Its ancillary businesses include warehousing and logistics services of pharmaceutical products, property 
management, hotel, convention and exhibition services, catering, provision of guarantees, asset assignment, 
transportation, information consulting services, scavenging service, etc. 

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS  

The Group believes that the following strengths are important to its success and future development: 

Taizhou Medical Zone leads the development of pharmaceutical industry in Jiangsu Province, with 
Jiangsu Province itself being the leader in China’s pharmaceutical sector 

The Taizhou Medical Zone is the first national-level medical high-tech industrial development zone in China, the 
largest national-level medical high-tech industrial development zone in Jiangsu Province which has benefited 
from substantial governmental support and the only vehicle for undertaking the construction of healthcare 
medical industry in Taizhou. The Taizhou Medical Zone has a total planned size of approximately 120 square 
kilometres comprised of seven industrial and functional parks and four districts (township-level). The seven 
industrial and functional parks are the Binjiang Industrial Park, the Higher Education Park, the Bonded Zone, the 
Data Industrial Park, the Economic Development Zone, the Medical Park and the Zhoushanhe Street. The 
Medical Park is the core area of Taizhou Medical Zone consisting of six functional areas, including scientific 
research and development area, production and manufacturing area, comprehensive supporting area, education 
and teaching area, exhibition and trade area and healthcare area. It has attracted more than 800 
biopharmaceutical enterprises to settle. Situated on the north bank of the Yangtze River, it plays an important 
role in the Yangtze River Delta economic circle. With abundant natural resources, high technology industries 
and talents, and unique geographical advantages, the Taizhou Medical Zone is a strategic region for developing 
the economy in Taizhou, Jiangsu Province.  

Pharmaceutical industry is a fast-growing industry in China. For seven consecutive years from 2013 to 2019, 
Jiangsu Province has been ranked among the top in China across major economic indicators of the Chinese 
pharmaceutical industry. In recent years, the pharmaceutical industry in Taizhou has maintained a fast pace of 
growth, with approximately one third of the province’s economic aggregate and economic benefits coming from 
the city. For 19 consecutive years from 2001 to 2019, the pharmaceutical industry in Taizhou has outperformed 
its peers in Jiangsu Province, ranking first among all prefecture-level cities throughout China in terms of sales 
volume. To develop the city and pharmaceutical industry at the same time, Taizhou set up the first national level 
medical high-tech industrial development zone and has been making a strong push to develop national-level 
industrial parks such as advanced shipbuilding park, new energy industrial park, etc. in recent years. In addition, 
Taizhou has successfully patented more than 500 world-class pharmaceutical innovations, making Taizhou a 
player in the vanguard of the international high-tech pharmaceutical area, as well as the propeller of structural 
adjustment and development approach transformation in the regional economy surrounding Taizhou. The 
Taizhou Medical Zone has introduced a large number of well-known domestic and foreign pharmaceutical 
companies into the Taizhou Medical High-tech Industrial Park through positive and effective investment 
solicitation. It has become the preferred destination of the international biomedical industry for their investment 
in China, and has sped up its development into a vibrant new area in Taizhou. As of the end of 2019, the Taizhou 
Medical High-tech Industrial Park is home to about 1,000 enterprises in total, including 12 World’s Top 500 
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enterprises, with 856 industrial projects with a value of more than RMB100 million settled. Major tenants in 
terms of total investment in the Taizhou Medical High-tech Industrial Park are Astra Zeneca Pharmaceutical 
(China) Ltd, Takeda Pharmaceutical (China) Ltd, CSPC Zhongnuo (Taizhou) Ltd, Sanofi Pasteur Bio-Pharma 
Ltd, Edding Pharma (China) Ltd. 

The largest state-owned enterprise in Taizhou by assets and the only governmental investment and 
financing platform in the Taizhou Medical Zone directly controlled by Taizhou SASAC with strong 
support from all levels of governments 

The Company is the largest state-owned enterprise in Taizhou in terms of total asset as of 30 June 2020, 
according to the information published on the website of China Foreign Exchange Trade System and the 
National Interbank Funding Centre. The Company is also the only governmental investment and financing 
platform in the Taizhou Medical Zone, which is effectively controlled by Taizhou SASAC, which, on behalf of 
the Taizhou Municipal Government, performs the responsibilities of shareholders. On behalf of the Taizhou 
Municipal Government, Taizhou SASAC applies strict supervision to equity investment, asset investment, equity 
transfer and daily operations of the Company. Taizhou SASAC is also responsible for appointing and removing 
the chairman of board of directors, delegating or replacing directors and supervisors, appointing and removing 
the chairman of supervisory committee, delegating or replacing supervisors and monitoring the whole process of 
daily operation and management of the Company. Due to the Company’s position as the only governmental 
investment and financing platform in the Taizhou Medical Zone directly controlled by Taizhou SASAC, the 
Taizhou Municipal Government provides strong supports to the development of the Group in various aspects. In 
addition, leveraging its position in the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Group also benefits from the strategic policy 
supports from the Central and the Jiangsu Provincial Government. With the Taizhou Medical Zone being the 
first national level medical high-tech industrial development zone in China and the largest national level medical 
high-tech industrial development zone in Jiangsu Province and the Company being the only governmental 
investment and financing platform in the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Group is also mandated to implement 
governmental policies and material development plans in the Taizhou Medical Zone, which engages the Group 
into significant projects, promotes the Group’s brand and reputation in relevant industries and reinforces the 
relationships between the Group and different levels of governments. 

Moreover, the Group believes that it is well positioned to capitalise on strong support from the Taizhou 
Municipal Government and its status as the only investment and financing platform for the Taizhou Medical 
Zone. The supports by the Taizhou Municipal Government include the following measures: 

Financial support 

The Taizhou Municipal Government has provided and continues to provide strong financial support to the Group. 
The Company was established in 2005 with an initial registered capital of RMB100 million and became a 
company wholly-owned by the Taizhou Municipal Government in 2007. Since then, the Taizhou Municipal 
Government has constantly increased the Company’s registered capital in the form of capital injections for 
eleven times in 2008, 2009, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2020, respectively. The Company has received financial 
support from governments at all levels including central, provincial, municipal and Management Committee of 
Taizhou Medical Zone. From 2014 to 2019, the Company received subsidies, including special fund for 
industrial upgrading, guidance funds for energy conservation, strategic funds, investment guidance funds, and 
guidance funds for environmental protection etc. The Company has also received compensation and 
appropriation in relation to land consolidation and exploitation, entrusted construction projects and rent waiver in 
investment promotion from Taizhou Medical Zone. Besides, one half of the revenue incurred by the Finance 
Bureau of Taizhou Medical Zone and its superior Finance Bureau has been allocated for the operation and 
investment promotion of the Management Committee, and another half has been allocated for compensating for 
construction funds and repayment of loans of the Company. The Group has obtained solid financial support from 
the Central Government, the Jiangsu Government and the Taizhou Municipal Government with total government 
grants of RMB2.1 billion in cash from 2014 to 2019.  

Policy Support 

Jiangsu Provincial Government highly values the development of the Taizhou Medical Zone. In February 2010, 
Jiangsu Provincial Government, Ministry of Science and Technology, Ministry of Health, China Food and Drug 
Administration and State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine decided to jointly drive the 
construction of China Medical City in Taizhou. Based on Development Plan for Biotechnology and New 
Pharmaceutical Industry in Jiangsu (2009–2012), Taizhou Medical Zone has become the priority of the 
provincial plan, shouldering the heavy responsibility of leading the Jiangsu province’s biopharmaceutical 
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industry development. In January 2011, Jiangsu Provincial Government issued Reply as to policies to support 
development of Taizhou Medical Zone (Suzheng No. 7 of [2011]), 《(關於支持泰州醫藥高新區建設發展有關

政策的批復》（蘇政[2011]7 號）) pursuant to which the Finance Department of Jiangsu Province made an 
arrangement of RMB50.0 million to support new drug research and development by the Taizhou Medical Zone 
in 2011 and adjusted the amount according to usage in later years, and granted the Taizhou Medical Zone bonus 
funds and financial returns in total amount of RMB53.5 million during 2013 to 2015. The Company also 
received policy support in respect of international bond issuance pursuant to a letter on supporting the 
Company’s international bond issuance issued by the Taizhou Finance Bureau. 

The Taizhou Municipal Government has provided the Group with a variety of favorable policies to ensure the 
sustainable development of the Group. The governments of various levels have successively issued as many as 
11 policies to support development of the Taizhou Medical Zone. According to the reply to the policies in 
relation to development and planning of the Taizhou Medical Zone issued by the Jiangsu Provincial Government 
in 2007, the government will provide the Group with various assistance in raising funds for the projects in the 
Taizhou Medical Zone. In addition to the Company’s role as a governmental investment and financing platform 
of the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Company also undertakes land transfer projects and construction management 
for the government in the Taizhou Medical Zone. This has accordingly well positioned the Company to be the 
primary developer of major projects within the Taizhou Medical Zone by the Taizhou Municipal Government 
and the Management Committee through contracts with governmental entities. 

Fully integrated service provider covering the whole value chain of the businesses in the Taizhou Medical 
Zone 

Throughout its over ten years of evolution and continual development, the Group has begun a shift towards 
developing into a comprehensive service provider by extending along the value chain in the Taizhou Medical 
Zone to form a diversified portfolio of businesses including sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products, 
warehousing and logistics services, sales of real properties, leasing, land transfer and construction management 
in the Taizhou Medical Zone. The Group is dedicated to becoming an integrated service provider through the 
whole value chain of various businesses in the Taizhou Medical Zone, and has followed a scientific development 
path comprised of aggregation of high-end talents, introduction of high-end achievements, settlement of high-
end enterprises and development of high-end industries.  

The Group strives to enhance the integration across the full value chain, in particular, the integration of the 
pharmaceutical business and the real estate and land development business in the Taizhou Medical Zone. The 
Group believes that business integration would help to drive the development and upgrading of its core 
operations, create growth opportunities for expanding and optimising the Group’s business portfolio and attract 
more pharmaceutical enterprises into the Taizhou Medical Zone. The Group’s provision of fully integrated 
service also helps to optimise its revenue-generating capabilities by capturing significant growth opportunities 
and improving its bargaining power, as well as to improve its profit margins and reduce operating risks by 
allowing for coordinated and more efficient planning and allocation of resources. 

In each of its business segments, the Group has the ability to take advantage of the synergies between its various 
business segments by utilising the facilities and resources from these business segments. For example, within the 
Group’s real estate and land development businesses including sales of real properties, leasing, land transfer and 
construction management, after the completion of the land transfer by the Group of relevant land areas, the 
Group can acquire the land use rights of such land areas from the government through tender, auction and listing 
for sale. Given the Group’s track record and stable relationship with the government from its the land transfer 
business, the Group believes that it enjoys competitive edge over other competitors in the auction process. 

The diversified business offerings and products covering the entire value chain enable the Group to offer its 
customers an integrated service. Such a vertically integrated business model and diversified business portfolio 
provides the Group with a wide revenue base and an optimised risk return profile. 

Experienced management team with a strong track record and well-established corporate governance 
structure 

Leveraging on the constructive policy environment, the Company formed a professional team experienced with 
market-oriented operations of state-owned resources, infrastructure construction business, as well as the 
pharmaceutical industry, offering sound management supports to the Company. 
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The Group’s senior management team and key operating personnel have rich experience in the management of 
state-owned enterprises which operate in the same sectors as the Group. The Group’s management team has 
extensive industry management experience in respect of enterprise operation, financial management, capital 
operation and the development of corporate culture, and is able to handle complicated and volatile situations. 
The strong expertise and commitment to quality of its management team have contributed to the Group’s proven 
track record in its core business segments. The Group believes that it will continue to benefit from the experience 
of its management team and their critical industry knowledge required to take advantage of market opportunities, 
formulate sound business strategies, assess and manage risks, and implement measures relating to management 
and production, all of which are expected to increase profitability and optimise shareholders’ value. 

The Company has formed a sound corporate governance structure with an effective internal control system and a 
complete risk control system under which the board of directors, the supervisory committee and the management 
perform their respective duties separately from and check and balance each other, which ensures the Group’s 
efficient and controllable operation and protects shareholders’ interests. The Company has established a sound 
risk management system supervised by its risk management committee, which is mainly responsible for 
overseeing the risks of the Company’s funds operations. The Company’s risk management system covers 
different aspects of the Group’s operations, including risk assessment on investment type and investment 
proportion according to relevant national laws, documents, and regulations, internal information control, 
prevention of information leak and investment and financing management. The Company will also submit for 
approval the projects to be invested or disposed of with a value of more than 20 per cent. of its total assets to 
Taizhou SASAC, so as to its lower investment risks. 

BUSINESS STRATEGIES  

Leveraging on the Group’s competitive strengths and the business opportunities brought by the development 
plan of the Taizhou Medical Zone and closely following the government policies in the pharmaceutical industry, 
the Group aims to expand its asset size and operation scale. The Group intends to pursue the following strategies 
to achieve such objectives: 

Extract and maximize synergies in its business model in pharmaceutical-related business segments and 
optimize resource allocation and operating efficiency 

The Group intends to enhance internal collaboration among its pharmaceutical operations, including sales, 
distribution, warehousing and logistics services and maximize synergies in its business model. The Group strives 
to enhance the sharing of logistics and product resources between its sales and distribution of pharmaceutical 
products business and warehousing and logistics business to further reduce costs and to improve its services for 
its customers. The Group will continue to carry out centralized procurement system so as to increase its 
bargaining power and improve its overall quality control system. Meanwhile, the Group will centralize and 
optimize the sales and marketing of its pharmaceutical products and further enhance its operational efficiency. 

Continue to rely on the synergies within the Group’s land transfer business and construction management 
business and further develop its leasing and sales of real properties businesses 

Leveraging on the Group’s established relationship with the Taizhou Medical Zone’s local government, the 
Group will continue operating as the Taizhou Medical Zone’s primary investment, financing and operating 
platform and continue undertaking the land transfer and construction management in the area. The Group plans 
to continue to utilize this advantage and further enhance the synergies between the primary and secondary land 
development businesses to secure the stable land resource for its secondary land development business, including 
construction of properties for its own use, such as for sale and for leasing, which is expected to contribute to a 
significant part of the total operating income of the Group in the future. In line with the government’s general 
development plan of the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Group plans to focus on the high-end market and follow a 
high standard of construction and aims to further improve the functions and the level of industrialization of the 
Taizhou Medical Zone. 

Focus on the further development of its core businesses and maintain its central role in the Taizhou 
Medical Zone and expand the scale and the influence of the Taizhou Medical Zone 

The Company plays an important role in the Taizhou Medical Zone’s development initiatives. In line with the 
13th plan of five-year national development of the Taizhou municipal government, the Company will continue to 
focus on its business as the primary investment, financing and operating platform of the Taizhou Medical Zone, 
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with the goal of strengthening the position of the China Medical City (中國醫藥城) as a model centre which 
combines the functions of an industrial zone park and a city for living. The Group will strive to develop a key 
strategic district of China’s medicine research and development, develop a key area for medicine manufacturing 
in the Yangtze River Delta, and shape competitive edge along full new pharmaceutical industry value chain. The 
Group’s primary missions include cultivating a good entrepreneurial environment, introducing high-end research 
and development institutions and the latest innovation achievements, both nationally and abroad, integrating 
pharmaceutical resources nationwide and leading China’s pharmaceutical industry development, constructing a 
world-famous medical city and being a pioneer in introducing China’s pharmaceutical industry to the 
international market. 

The Group will use the policy of “134 Goals (134 目標)” and the “Seven Action Plan (七大行動)” implemented 
by the Jiangsu Province in relation to ecological civilization construction and optimization of industrial structure 
as important opportunities, with its advantages in resources and brand name, to enlarge the Group’s total assets 
and business scale, improve its business model and enhance the synergies between its business segments, and to 
contribute to making the Taizhou Medical Zone a featured high-tech development zone in China’s 
pharmaceutical industry. The 134 Goals outlines the aims of Jiangsu Province to become the national leader in 
the biopharmaceutical and high-performance medical technology industry and to be at the forefront of cutting-
edge medical technology applications through supporting research and development, as well as to become 
nationally known as a medical and health tourism destination, among others. Under its Seven Action Plan, 
Jiangsu Province initiatives include strengthening medical services and promoting health and well-being. 

Further explore innovative financing channel, expand the financing sources and lower the financial cost of 
the Group 

In order to realise the capital balance and satisfy the demand for its construction funding, the Group intends to 
plan ahead of time and take proactive measures in the conduct of its financing activities. In addition, the Group 
plans to raise funds through multi-channel financing and further develop innovative financing channels both at 
home and abroad, which helps to fulfil its mission designated by Taizhou municipal government to invite 
business and attract foreign investment. In implementing this strategy, the Group aims to rely on a wide range of 
financing channels including various types of bond issuance, offshore capital markets and project loans from 
banks, which helps to build a scientific financing structure for the Group. Furthermore, the Group plans to focus 
on lowering its financing cost. It seeks to control the cost of indirect financing below the benchmark interest rate 
as well as the cost of direct financing. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The following chart sets forth the shareholding structure of the Group and the simplified structure of the 
principal subsidiaries of the Guarantor as at the date of this Information Memorandum: 

 

 _______________  
(1) Taizhou SASAC, on behalf of Taizhou Municipal Government, applies strict supervision to equity investment, asset investment, equity 

transfer and daily operations of the Company. Taizhou SASAC has the power to appoint and removes chairman of board of directors, 
delegates or replaces directors and supervisors.  
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HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Guarantor is a state-owned enterprise held by Taizhou SASAC, China Development Bank Development 
Fund Company Limited (CDB Development Fund (國開發展基金) and Fuanda Asset Management (Shanghai) 
Company Limited (富安達資產管理（上海）有限公司) (“Fuanda”) at shareholding percentages of 89.89%, 
0.63%, 9.48%, respectively. Pursuant to the special meeting minutes No. 54 of the Taizhou Municipal 
Government dated November 2005, the Company was established in December 2005 by Taizhou Huatai 
Industrial Holdings Limited and Taizhou Haihua Industrial Construction Development Limited (泰州海華工業

建設發展有限公司) in Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, with the initial registered capital of RMB100 million. 

The following are the key events in the development history of the Group: 

2005 ...............................................  Establishment of the Guarantor by Taizhou Huatai Industrial Holdings 
Limited (泰州市華泰工業控股經營有限公司) and Taizhou Haihua 
Industrial Construction Development Limited (泰州海華工業建設發展

有限公司). 

2007 ...............................................  Taizhou Haihua Industrial Construction Development Limited (泰州海

華工業建設發展有限公司) transferred all of its equity interest in the 
Guarantor to Taizhou Huatai Industrial Holdings Limited (泰州華泰工

業控股經營有限公司 ). The Guarantor became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Taizhou Huatai Industrial Holdings Limited (泰州華泰工

業控股經營有限公司). 

 Taizhou Huatai Industrial Holdings Limited (泰州華泰工業控股經營

有限公司) transferred 100% equity interest in the Guarantor to the 
Taizhou SASAC. The Guarantor became a wholly-owned company of 
Taizhou Municipal Government. 

2010 ...............................................  Jiangsu Provincial Government, Ministry of Science and Technology, 
Ministry of Health, China Food and Drug Administration and State 
Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine decided to jointly drive 
the construction of China Medical City in Taizhou. Taizhou Medical 
Zone became a strategic region leading the development of 
pharmaceutical industry in Jiangsu Province. 

2015 ...............................................  Taizhou Municipal Government injected capital of RMB1.9 billion into 
the Guarantor to increase the Company’s registered capital.  

2016 ...............................................  China Development Bank Development Fund Company Limited (國開

發展基金) injected capital of RMB40.0 million into the Guarantor and 
the Company’s registered capital increased to approximately RMB3.8 
billion. 

2016 ...............................................  Fuanda injected capital of RMB1,500.0 million into the Guarantor and 
the Company’s registered capital increased to approximately RMB5.3 
billion. 

2019 ...............................................  Fuanda signed a power of attorney to entrust Taizhou SASAC to 
exercise the rights of shareholders on behalf of Fuanda, including  the 
decision-making right of the Company’s operation and the right of 
personnel appointment and removal. 

2020 ...............................................  Taizhou SASAC exchanged the Guarantor’s registered capital in the 
form of roads and bridges amounting to approximately RMB7.3 million 
with currency at the equivalent value.  
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2020 ...............................................  Fuanda transferred 5.63% equity interest in the Guarantor to the 
Taizhou SASAC. 

2020 ...............................................  Taizhou SASAC injected capital of RMB1,000.0 million into the 
Guarantor and the Company’s registered capital increased to 
approximately RMB6.3 billion. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS 

Sales and Distribution of Pharmaceutical Products 

Overview 

The Group’s sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products business segment mainly consists of sales of 
proprietary Chinese medicines, Chinese medicinal materials, medicinal chemicals and preparations ingredients, 
antibiotics and preparations ingredients, biochemical drugs, biological products, healthcare food, disinfectants, 
antiseptics and medical equipment. 

The Group conducts its sales and distribution of pharmaceutical products business segment, primarily in the 
Taizhou Medical City and the rest of Jiangsu Province through its own distribution platform in both wholesale 
and retail modes. The wholesale mode mainly focuses on the sale and distribution of medicinal goods to 
hospitals and healthcare institution. The retail mode mainly involves providing Chinese and Western medicine to 
franchisees for retail sale. As at 31 December 2019, the Group marketed approximately 8,000 products which 
basically cover all fields of medical treatments, including general drugs, new and special drugs as well as 
products of Chinese-foreign joint ventures and imported drugs. Approximately 80 first-class national new drugs 
of the Group are under application and research, while seven first-class national new drugs have been put into 
production. 

Sales, Marketing and Distribution 

As is common in the PRC pharmaceutical industry, the Group’s in-house sales and marketing teams directly 
market and promote pharmaceutical products to hospitals, other medical institutions and retail pharmacies. The 
Group also sells products to distributors for resale to customers or in markets not covered by its sales and 
marketing teams. 

The Group established a sales and marketing network comprising sales representatives who focus on the major 
markets where the pharmaceutical products are sold, primarily in the Jiangsu Province. The Group’s sales 
representatives implement its marketing strategies by promoting the relevant products directly to hospitals and 
other medical institutions in Jiangsu Province through activities and the provision of relevant information that 
are designed to educate the doctors at the relevant hospitals and other medical institutions on the usage and 
benefits of the products. Furthermore, the Group continually strengthens the quality of its sales force by 
improving their product knowledge and sales skills. 

Modes of Sales and Distribution 

Overall, the Group’s pharmaceutical sales and distribution business involves a process of purchasing from 
suppliers, conducting quality control inspections, warehousing, processing orders and invoicing, arranging 
logistics and delivering to customers, and then collecting payments. 

There are three modes of sales and distribution by the Group, namely, (i) direct sales to hospitals, (ii) quick cash 
sales, and (iii) sales in the capacity as a regional sole agent or distributor. In accordance with the Drug 
Administration Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國藥品管理法》 ), the Good Supply Practice for 
Pharmaceutical Products (《藥品經營質量管理規範》) and other relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the 
Group routinely checks if its customers possess the necessary and valid practice qualification certificates 
required by the relevant regulatory authority before deciding whether to supply them with special drugs or any 
drugs. 
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Direct Sales to Hospitals 

Under the business model of direct sales to hospitals and other medical institutions, pharmaceutical 
manufacturers first participate in the provincial centralized bidding process. The winning pharmaceutical 
manufacturers will then select their distributors. The selected distributors will purchase products from the 
pharmaceutical manufacturers to build up inventories. 

When the Group receives a hospital’s order, the Group arranges logistics services for prompt delivery of 
pharmaceutical products procured from pharmaceutical manufacturers in China at the price set by the previous 
bidding process. The business cycle ends upon issue of an invoice to the relevant hospital and receipt of the 
payment. In this process, the Group’s gross profit is derived from the difference between the sales revenue and 
the procurement cost, which is generally ranging from 6 per cent. to 8 per cent. of the order value. Meanwhile, 
the costs primarily consist of inventory cost, operating cost and financing cost resulting from the time between 
their payment to pharmaceutical manufacturers and the receipt of payment from hospitals and other medical 
institutions. Under the business mode of direct sale to hospitals, the payment cycle from the Group’s customers 
is approximately 90 days on average. Together with the inventory turnover of approximately 30 days on average, 
the total payment cycle is approximately 120 days. On the other hand, suppliers normally require payment within 
60 days. 

Quick Cash Sales 

The Company’s quick cash sale business segment focuses on the rural area market where end customers are 
scattered and the logistics cost is high. The major customers of the Group’s quick cash sale business are the 
medium and small-sized hospitals at or below the second level according to the Administrative Measures on 
Hospitals by Grade of the PRC, community health stations, clinics and retail pharmacies in rural areas. The 
quick cash sale business segment mainly relies on membership-based collective orders and has the following 
features: 

 Short Credit Term: Since the trading counterparties are usually individual customers, the Group normally 
allows a credit term of five to seven days only. Compared with direct sales to hospitals, quick cash sales 
offer faster capital turnover and therefore better cash flow to the Group. 

 Speedy Distribution: The quick cash sale business segment of the Group capitalises on its advanced 
logistics platform and speedy distribution network. The Group is competitive in this business segment as 
goods generally can be delivered to customers within 24 to 48 hours after receipt of their orders. 

 Marketing and Sales: The Group carries out its marketing activities by use of a membership system. Under 
the membership system, customers are classified and managed in different levels to enhance customer 
loyalty and management. 

In recent years, as market competition intensifies, the Group has been exploring new ways to generate profit, 
striving to adapt to competition, and continue to get hold of the market by upgrading its technologies and 
marketing skills. In order to achieve these, the Group continuously strive to adopt the comprehensive use of the 
Internet for this business segment while maintaining the features of quick cash sales and tapping new profit 
potentials through the use of e-commerce platforms. 

Agency and Distribution Business 

In terms of agency and distribution business mode, the Group distributes pharmaceutical products to 
pharmaceutical enterprises primarily in Jiangsu Province through the use of logistics services provided by 
Jiangsu Huawei Logistics Co., Ltd. (江蘇華為物流有限公司), a subsidiary of the Guarantor. The Group’s 
suppliers under this business mode include both pharmaceutical manufacturers and first-level distributors. 

Procurement 

The Group does not manufacture pharmaceutical products and focuses its pharmaceutical business substantially 
on sales and distribution which relies on the consistent supply of pharmaceutical products. The Group’s suppliers 
are highly reputable domestic and joint-venture pharmaceutical manufacturers, such as Jiangsu Enkai Biological 
Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Sinochem Jiangsu Pharmaceutical Company Ltd., and etc., for the three years 
ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and six months ended 30 June 2020. In order to enhance and optimise 
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management over procurement of drugs for assured quality, lower costs and higher efficiency of fund use, the 
Group has formulated internal guidelines in relation to procurement process and the Group manages its 
procurement centrally. Although the Group negotiates each procurement contract separately with different 
suppliers, all procurement contracts contain major terms such as price, amount, payment method and delivery 
time. 

The Group has maintained stable relationships with more than 400 upstream suppliers, including almost all 
leading foreign, Chinese or Chinese-foreign joint venture drug producers.  

Product Pricing 

Prior to 1 June 2015, pharmaceutical products were subject to price controls by way of maximum retail prices, 
which were the maximum prices at which pharmaceutical products may be sold to patients through hospitals and 
pharmacies, and were determined based on profit margins that the relevant government authorities deemed 
reasonable, the product type, quality and production costs, and the prices of substitute pharmaceutical products. 
In May 2015, NDRC, NHFPC, MOHRSS, MIIT, MOF, MOFCOM and CFDA jointly promulgated the Notice 
Regarding the Opinions on Facilitating Pharmaceutical Pricing Reform (關於印發推進藥品價格改革意見的通

知). According to the circular, effective from 1 June 2015, with the exception of narcotic and psychotropic drugs 
in category I, the maximum retail prices for drugs were lifted, allowing for a more market-based drug pricing 
system. Meanwhile, the government continued to retain its supervision over drug pricing by improving the drug 
procurement mechanism, strengthening the cost control function of the medical insurance system, and 
strengthening the supervision of medical practices and pricing practices, in order to foster a more market-based 
drug pricing mechanism. Substantially, all procurement of pharmaceutical products by public hospitals and 
medical institutions is subject to a centralized procurement mechanism. The Guiding Opinions on Enhancing 
Centralized Procurement of Pharmaceutical Products by Public Hospitals issued by the General Office of the 
State Council (國務院辦公廳關於完善公立醫院藥品集中採購工作的指導意見) on 9 February 2015 and the 
Notice on Implementing the Guiding Opinions on Enhancing Centralized Procurement of Pharmaceutical 
Products by Public Hospitals issued by the NHFPC (國家衛計委關於落實完善公立醫院藥品集中採購工作的

指導意見的通知) on 11 June 2015 required that all drugs (except for decoction pieces) used by public hospitals 
shall be procured through provincial centralized drug procurement platform, and set out rules governing the 
centralized drug procurement process. 

Under the business mode of direct sales to hospitals, the price at which the Group sells its pharmaceutical 
products is determined by the Jiangsu Provincial Pharmaceutical Products Procurement Centre, the Municipal 
Health Bureau and the National Health Insurance. Under the business mode of quick cash sales, the price is 
determined by the pharmaceutical manufacturers and the upstream suppliers. Under the agency and distribution 
business, the Group sets the price with reference to the guiding retail price issued by the government or the 
manufacturers. 

Leasing 

Overview 

The Group commenced its leasing business in 2008. The Group mainly operates its leasing business through the 
Guarantor. The Group’s leasing business mainly consists of leasing service platforms and real properties it 
owned to the enterprises located in the Taizhou Medical Zone. Service platform leasing involves leasing of 
various facilities and equipment of the Taizhou Medical Zone to the pharmaceutical companies located in the 
Taizhou Medical Zone, together with provision of ancillary services such as new medicine application, new 
medicine research and development, medicine screening, and molecule or animal experiment application 
operated by the Group. Leasing of real properties involves leasing of office buildings constructed and owned by 
the Group. 

Service platform leasing 

Service platform leasing involves the lease of facilities and equipment for the pharmaceutical companies in the 
Taizhou Medical Zone, together with the ancillary services for among others new medicine application, new 
medicine innovation, medicine screening, molecule or animal experiment application and etc. These facilities 
and services are maintained, operated and provided by the Guarantor and the rental payments for these platforms 
are made by the Taizhou Medical Zone to the Guarantor on an annual basis. 
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Real property leasing 

In managing the Group’s real property leasing business, the Group relies on the synergies between its primary 
and secondary land development businesses. After the completion of the land transfer by the Group of relevant 
land areas, the Group can acquire the land use rights of such land areas from the government through tender, 
auction and listing for sale. After obtaining the land use right, the Group constructs properties thereon for leasing. 

Property leasing involves leasing of office buildings owned by the Group. Since the properties are typically 
located in centre of the Taizhou Medical Zone, the Group believes that they attract a number of quality 
enterprises with abundant capital. The overall occupancy rate for the properties has been maintained at a high 
level, which guarantees a steady rental income to the Group. 

The Group generally requires its tenants to pay rent annually in advance and the first payment shall be made on 
the date the parties entering the lease. Rents are determined based on the types and conditions of the leased 
properties. 

The following table sets forth the leased properties and their respective leasable GFA, the GFA leased and the 
occupancy rate as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2020: 

 As at 30 June 2020 

For the six 
months 

ended 30 
June 2020 

 GFA leased 

Total 
leasable 

GFA 
Occupancy 

rate 
Leasing 

price 
rental 
income  

 (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (per cent.) 

(RMB per 
sq.m. per 

month, unless 
otherwise 
indicated) 

(RMB in 
thousand) 

Property      
Unit Research and Development Building ................  15,104 19,532 77.3 629 358 
Huaxin Zhongshi Phase I ...........................................  101,037 105,563 95.7 257 781 
Huaxin Zhongshi Phase II .........................................  53,609 57,335 93.5 257 103 
Huaxin Zhongshi Phase III ........................................  279,585 323,589 86.4 257 25,766 
Huaxin Zhongshi Phase IV ........................................  297,318 331,750 89.6 390 37,754 
Research and Development Building (No.8) ............  3,905 12,654 30.9 410 407 
Science Building ........................................................  5,783 21,457 27.0 503 441 
CMC Building Block C1 ...........................................  26,234 38,990 67.3 468 839 
CMC Building Block M ............................................  919 50,108 1.8 460 215 
Vaccine Engineer Centre ...........................................  7,660 46,046 16.6 N/A 530 
QB3 ............................................................................  6,443 64,842 10.0 N/A  1,665 

Commercial Building (No.1) .....................................  40,599  40,599 100.0 
10.5 

million/year 10,500 
Kangjun New Town ...................................................  11,131 25,064 44.4 N/A  927 
Factory Building Phase VI ........................................  39,186 351,000 11.2 150 3,575 

Talent Apartment .......................................................  5,754 207,132 2.78 
1,400/room/

month 838 
Xianghe Garden Phase II ...........................................  8,831 8,831  100.0 N/A  38 
Yongxing Garden .......................................................  5,421 5,421 100.0 N/A 618 
Platform Leasing ........................................................  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  50,000 

Total ..........................................................................  908,519 1,709,913 56.1 N/A 124,854 

Property Management 

The Group provides property management services to its tenants through its subsidiary Taizhou China Medical 
City Asset Management Limited (泰州中國醫藥城資產管理有限公司). The Group places emphasis on 
property management because it believes good ancillary services enhances property value to its tenants as well 
as its brand image and thus increases its rental income. 

Sales of Real Properties 
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Overview 

The Group commenced its sales of real properties business in 2015. The Group mainly operates its sales of real 
properties business through the Guarantor itself as well as its subsidiary Taizhou Huasheng Investment 
Development Limited (泰州華盛投資發展有限公司). In 2019, the Group’s sales of real properties business 
mainly consists of sales of the real properties, such as residential complex and plants and commercial buildings 
constructed by the Group in the Taizhou Medical Zone and the target customers are the enterprises operating in 
the Taizhou Medical Zone and their staff. In 2018, the Group’s revenue of its sales of real properties business 
comes from housing sales in Taizhou. 

In managing the Group’s sales of real properties business, the Group relies on the synergies between its primary 
and secondary land development businesses. After the completion of the land transfer by the Group of relevant 
land areas, the Group can acquire the land use rights of such land areas from the government through tender, 
auction and listing for sale. After obtaining the land use right, the Group constructs properties thereon for sale. 

The Group’s current portfolio of property development projects consists of nine projects at various stages of 
development in the Taizhou Medical Zone. The Group mainly divides its property developments into two 
categories: projects under development and projects held for future development. 

The Group develops residential, commercial and industrial properties. For the residential projects, the Group 
focus on developing quality residential units with comfortable living environment and quality ancillary facilities 
which the Group believes meet the needs of the staff of the enterprises in the Taizhou Medical Zone. For 
commercial and industrial properties, the Group develops commercial complex projects comprising shopping 
malls, warehouses, plant and office buildings which the Group believes meet the needs of the enterprises in the 
Taizhou Medical Zone. 

Classification of Its Property Projects 

The Group generally classifies its property projects into two categories: 

 Properties under development – comprising property projects with land use rights certificates issued by the 
relevant government authorities and the construction of which has commenced and/or been completed, but 
for which the relevant completion certificates have not been obtained; 

 Properties held for future development – comprising property projects with respect to which the Group has 
signed land grant contracts with the relevant PRC authorities and has obtained the land use rights 
certificates, but has not obtained the requisite construction permits or commenced construction. 

Projects under Development 

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had ten projects under development. As at 30 June 2020, based on the Group’s 
internal records and current development plan of the projects, the future/estimated development costs to be 
incurred for these projects were as follows: 

   Five-Year Investment Plan 

 
Total 

Investment 

Actual 
investment as 

at 30 June 
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

 
(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

Project Name        
Taizhou Medical Zone Innovation 

and Export Base (Phase III) ...........   5,730 5,000 270 360 100 0 0 
Taizhou Medical Zone Power 

Station (Phase I) .............................   1,290 1,190 100 0 0 0 0 
China Medical City Infrastructure 

Construction (Phase I) ...................   2,630 2430 200 0 0 0 0 
China Medical City Infrastructure 

Construction (Phase II) ..................   870 810 60 0 0 0 0 
Yexu Town Famers Settlement 

Centre .............................................   2,800 2,590 210 0 0 0 0 

Industrial Centre .................................   840 820 20 0 0 0 0 

Xiangzhang Bay .................................   1,031 1,015 20 0 0 0 0 
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   Five-Year Investment Plan 

 
Total 

Investment 

Actual 
investment as 

at 30 June 
2020 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

 
(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

(RMB in 
millions) 

Standard Plant (Phase VI) 1,100 570 200 330 0 0 0 
Taizhou No. 1 Foreign Language 

School.............................................   550 370 80 100 0 0 0 

Tianlu Lake Project ............................   3,109 332 300 600 600 600 680 

Total ...................................................  19,950 15,127 1,470 1,390 700 600 680 

The Group’s main projects under development were as follows: 

Xiangzhang Bay: This project is one of the Group’s commercial residential buildings projects under 
development, which is located in Taizhou Medical Zone. This project has a total site area of approximately 96.4 
thousand sq.m., an estimated gross floor area of approximately 266.7 thousand sq.m. and a saleable floor area of 
approximately 174.9 thousand sq.m. the construction began in 2016 and completed in 2018. This project is 
comprised of 30 two-storey town houses, two nine-storey high-rise residential buildings, five 11-storey high-rise 
residential buildings, five 28-storey high-rise residential buildings and one three-storey comprehensive service 
buildings. The total investment of this project amounts to RMB1,031 million, of which 30 per cent. is self-
collected funds and 70 per cent. is financing funds. As at 30 June 2020, 1,190 apartments of this project have 
been sold, with a total floor area of 171.3 thousand sq.m. and a value of sales of RMB1,316 million. 

Tianlu Lake Project: This project is one of the Group’s property projects under development, which is located 
in Taizhou Medical Zone. This project has a total site area of approximately 122.1 thousand sq.m., a saleable 
gross floor area of approximately 198.1 thousand sq.m. and a capacity building area of approximately 197.3 
thousand sq.m. the construction began in the first quarter of 2020 and is expected to be completed in 2022. The 
project is comprised of nine 25-storey residential buildings, 12 16-storey residential buildings, 12-storey 
residential buildings and three two-storey supporting public buildings. The total investment of this project 
amounts to RMB3,109 million, of which 30 per cent. is self-collected funds and 70 per cent. is financing funds, 
including construction fees of RMB2,125 million and other fees of RMB411 million. As at 30 June 2020, a total 
floor area of 28.3 thousand sq.m. of this project has been sold, with a value of sales of RMB408 million. 

Projects Held for Future Development 

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had one project, the Taizhou No. 1 Foreign Language School, which was held for 
future development. 

Land Transfer 

Overview 

The Group mainly operates its land transfer business through the Guarantor itself as well as its subsidiary 
Taizhou Huasheng Investment Development Limited (泰州華盛投資開發有限公司). The Group mainly 
operates its land transfer business through the Guarantor and its subsidiary Taizhou Huasheng Investment 
Development Limited (泰州華盛投資發展有限公司). After the Group obtains the land development quota from 
the Management Committee, it commences the financing and construction of the typical “nine connections and 
one levelling” (“九通一平”), such as sewage, water, electricity, cable and natural gas. After that, the Group 
acquires land use rights to some of such land, which will go into the Group’s land bank, through tender, auction 
and listing for sale by paying land premiums to the government. Some of such land will be used for the Group’s 
leasing and secondary real estate development, and some will be used for entrusted construction for government. 
Occasionally, the Group transfers land use rights to enterprises operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone at 
marginal profit through the government by way of tender, auction and listing for sale.  

Business Model 

The Group obtains the land development quota from the Management Committee it commences with the 
financing and construction of the typical “nine connections and one levelling” (“九通一平”), such as sewage, 
water, electricity, cable and natural gas. The cost of land transfer is borne by the Group while the construction 
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work is conducted by third-party contractor selected by the Group. Upon completion of the construction, the 
Group acquires land use rights to some of such land, which will go into the Group’s land bank, through tender, 
auction and listing for sale by paying land premiums to the government. Some of such land will be used for the 
Group’s leasing and secondary real estate development, and some will be used for entrusted construction for 
government. Occasionally, the Group transfers such land to enterprises operating in the Taizhou Medical Zone at 
marginal profit. Since the Group is the major state-owned enterprise designated by the government to be 
responsible for land transfer in the Taizhou Medical Zone, most of the land in the Taizhou Medical Zone is 
developed by the Group. 

With support from the Taizhou Municipal Government and the Jiangsu Provincial Government, the government 
of Taizhou Medical High-tech District will reimburse the Group the full amount of the land grant fee paid by the 
Group after deducting the relevant fees and taxes pursuant to the decision on the refund of land grant fee for the 
land in the Taizhou Medical Zone to the Company (關於明確園區土地出讓金收入全額返還泰州華信藥業投

資有限公司的決定) issued by the Management Committee in 2007. The refund will be used to fund the Group’s 
future investment in land development projects in the Taizhou Medical Zone and the Group’s repayment of bank 
loans. 

Construction Management 

Overview 

The Group conducts its construction management business through the Company and its various subsidiaries. 
The construction management business involves infrastructure construction projects in the Taizhou Medical 
Zone for the construction of road, bridge, water pipes, public service platforms and other supporting facilities. 
The construction management can be either conducted on the land whose land use right is owned by the Group 
or the land owned by the government. After the completion of construction projects, the Management Committee 
pays 3 per cent. of the total construction cost as entrustment fee to the Group by instalments in five years 
according to the entrusted construction contracts. Under such contracts, the Group will be responsible for project 
financing and organizing the projects construction through bidding process. Upon the completion of such 
projects, the Management Committee will purchase the projects by making payments in instalments in 
accordance with the contractual terms.  

Construction Management Process 

Set forth below are the core elements of a typical construction management process: 

 Project Origination: Project origination is approved by the NDRC of Taizhou High- tech District. The 
project location is registered in the Planning Bureau of Taizhou High-tech District. 

 Signing of Contract: The Group enters into an entrust agreement with the Management Committee, 
pursuant to which the Group undertakes to managing the tender process to engage construction contractors, 
and is responsible for quality control and construction supervision. 

 Construction: The Group outsources its project construction work to qualified third-party construction 
contractors. These construction contractors carry out various types of work, including foundation digging, 
main structure construction, equipment installation and engineering work. The Group appoints project 
managers to be responsible for monitoring the construction quality and construction progress and 
controlling project budgeting. 

 Settlement upon Completion: After completion of construction, the Group and the Auditing Bureau of 
Taizhou City conducts the settlement auditing to determine the total construction cost, which is the basis for 
calculation of the Management Committee’s payment to the Group. 

 Collection of Management Fee: Pursuant to the entrust agreement, the Management Committee pays 3 per 
cent. of the total construction cost as entrustment fee to the Group by instalments in five years. 

Under the entrusted construction contracts, the Management Committee grants the rights to the Group to 
undertake the financing, management and supervision of the construction work of the projects conducted by a 
third party constructor selected through bidding process. Upon the completion of such projects, the Management 
Committee will purchase the projects by making payments in instalments in accordance with the contractual 
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terms. 

If the entrusted project is constructed on the land of which the Group owns the land use right, when the 
Management Committee buys back the completed project together with the land use right of the land on which 
the project is constructed, it shall pay the Group the land premium, the construction cost and the 3 per cent. of 
the construction cost as the management fee; when the Management Committee chooses to buy back the 
completed project only, it will pay the Group the construction cost and the 3 per cent. of the construction cost as 
the management fee, and the Group will continue to own the land use right of the relevant piece of land. 

If the entrusted project is constructed on the land of which the government owns the land use right, when the 
Management Committee purchases the completed project, it will pay the Group the construction cost and the 3 
per cent. of the construction cost as the management fee. 

Payment under the Government Entrusted Construction and Buy-back Contract 

In order to finance the projects, the Group typically raises funds through various channels, including government 
funds, Group’s working capital and external financing. Upon completion, the projects would be delivered to the 
Management Committee and the Management Committee would conduct the buy-back by making the payments 
in instalments in five years. 

The Management Committee has agreed that its payment obligations under the entrusted construction contracts 
are irrevocable and unchangeable. It is not allowed to refuse, delay or alter the performance of its payment 
obligation of the entrusted construction contracts relying on any excuse. If any disputes arise due to the fault of 
the Group, parties are required to resolve the disputes through negotiation without affecting the contractual 
payment obligations of the Management Committee. 

The table below set forth details of major completed construction projects of the Group as at 30 June 2020:  

     Payment collection Plan 

 Site Area Total Investment 
Total Repurchase 

Amount  
Payment 
collected   

July 2020 – 
December 2020 2021 

 
(sq.m. in 

thousands) (RMB in millions) (RMB in millions) (RMB in millions) (RMB in millions) (RMB in millions) 

Project Name       
Batch 9 and Batch 10 in 2006 and 

Batch 21 in 2007 ................  
 

216.8 561 578 
 

462 116 - 
Batch 17 in 2010 ....................  62.4  34 35 28 7 - 
Batch 18 in 2010 ....................  86.6 95 98 79 20 - 

Batch 19, Batch 20 and Batch 45 in 
2010 ....................................  

 
74.6 73 75 

 
60 15 

 
- 

Batch 16 in 2011 ....................  90.5 311 321 257 64 - 
Batch 10 and Batch 24 in 2008 98.9 56 58 47 12 - 

Batch 7, Batch 8 and Batch 11 in 
2009 ....................................  

 
121.9 70 72 

 
58 14 

 
- 

Batch 7 in 2008 ......................  26.9 19 20 16 4 - 

Batch 13, Batch 14 and Batch 15 in 
2005 and Batch 11 in 2006 

 
87.6 52 54 

 
32 11 11 

Batch 17 in 2009 ....................  330.1 884 910 546 182 182 
Batch 3 in 2010 ...  36.9 99 102 61 20 20 

Batch 17 in 2010 ....................  281.8 154 158 95 32 32 

Batch 19, Batch 20 and Batch 45 in 
2010 ....................................  

 
152.0 541 558 

 
335 112 112 

Total .......................................  1,667.0 2,950 3,038 2,074 608 356 

The Group’s main entrusted construction projects under development as at 30 June 2020 are as follows: 

Concentrated Resettlement Area for Farmers in Yexu Town: This project has a total gross floor area of 
approximately 3,294 mu, comprised of infrastructure construction including road and municipal pipelines, 
resettlement housing primary projects, schools and neighbourhood centre. The project began to be built in 2012 
and is expected to be completed in 2020. The total investment of this project amounts to RMB2.8 billion.  

China Medical City Infrastructure Construction (Phase I): This project has a total gross floor area of 
approximately 20 million sq.m., comprised of road projects, bridge projects, municipal pipe network projects as 
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well as land acquisition and demolition projects. The project began to be built in 2014 and is expected to be 
completed in 2020. The total investment of this project amounts to RMB2.6 billion. 

China Medical City Infrastructure Construction (Phase II): This project has a total gross floor area of 
approximately 20 million sq.m., comprised of road projects, bridge projects, municipal pipe network projects, 
landscape projects and river training projects. The project began to be built in 2015 and is expected to be 
completed in 2020. The total investment of this project amounts to RMB0.9 billion. 

Other Businesses 

The Group also carries on a number of ancillary businesses in support of its principal businesses and the 
construction, operation and management of major projects in the Taizhou Medical Zone. Its ancillary businesses 
include warehousing and logistics services of pharmaceutical products, hotel, convention and exhibition services, 
catering, provision of guarantees, asset assignment, transportation, information consulting services, scavenging 
service and etc. These ancillary businesses are conducted through various subsidiaries and affiliates of the 
Guarantor.  

GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS 

The operations of the Group are subject to various laws and regulations in the jurisdiction in which it operates. 
The Group’s properties are also subject to routine inspections by government officials with regard to various 
safety and environmental issues. The Group believes that it is in compliance in all material respects with 
government regulations currently in effect in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

The Group is not aware of significant problems experienced by the Group or any subsidiary of the Group with 
respect to compliance with government regulations in relation to its operations which could materially adversely 
affect its properties or operations, and is not aware of any pending government legislation that might have a 
material adverse effect on its properties or operations. 

INSURANCE 

The Group is covered by insurance policies which mainly cover fire, flood, other material damage to property 
and public liability. The Group believes that its properties are covered with adequate insurance provided by 
reputable independent insurance companies in the relevant jurisdiction and with commercially reasonable 
deductibles and limits on coverage which are normal for the type and location of the properties to which they 
relate. 

Notwithstanding such insurance coverage, damage to buildings, facilities, equipment or other properties as a 
result of occurrences such as fire, flood, water damage, explosion, typhoons and other natural disasters or 
terrorism, or any decline in the Group’s business as a result of any threat of war, outbreak of disease or epidemic, 
may potentially have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. 

EMPLOYEES 

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had approximately 203 employees. Staff benefits include salaries, provident fund, 
insurance and medical cover age and housing. The Group believes that its employees are critical to its success 
and is committed to investing in development through continuing education and training, as well as the creation 
of opportunities for career growth. 

The Company has not experienced any strikes or disruptions due to labour disputes. The Company considers its 
relations with its employees to be good. 

COMPETITION 

The Group faces intense competition in the distribution of pharmaceutical and healthcare products in China and 
Jiangsu Province in particular. The Group also faces competition in the collective tender processes implemented 
in public hospitals. The Group’s major competitors include the other pharmaceutical companies, such as Taizhou 
Medical Group Co., Ltd. (泰州醫藥集團). In the past few years, the industry has experienced significant 
consolidation driven by more stringent regulations and policies. However, according to Frost & Sullivan, 
compared with developed countries, the pharmaceutical distribution market in China remains highly fragmented. 
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The Group must continue to explore new customer relationships and business opportunities and further serve its 
existing customers by providing a comprehensive product portfolio, maintaining efficient inventory controls, 
offering flexible and reliable services and providing competitive pricing. 

The Group also faces competition in the sales of real properties business from other real estate developers or 
operators which operate in the Taizhou Medical Zone. The Group competes with other property developers on 
various fronts, including but not limited to, product and service quality, pricing, financial resources, brand 
recognition, and ability to acquire suitable sites. 

ENVIRONMENT MATTERS 

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental laws. Compliance with such laws has not had, and, 
to the best knowledge of the Guarantor and the Issuer, after due and careful inquiry, is not expected to have, a 
material adverse effect upon the Group’s capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, to the best knowledge of the Guarantor and the Issuer, there are 
no current litigation or arbitration proceedings against it or any of its senior management team members that 
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the members of the board of directors, supervisors and senior 
management of the Guarantor are as follows: 

Name Age Position 
Directors   

Mr. ZHANG Youfeng (張由鳳) ................   51 Chairman 
Mr. YANG Bin (楊鑌) ...............................   46 Director and General Manager 
Mr. HANG Xiang (杭祥) ...........................   54 Director, Deputy General Manager and Financial Officer 
Mr. WANG Jianhui (王建慧) ....................   42 Director and Head of the Projects Department 
Ms. WU Zhilan (吳志蘭) ...........................   38 Employee Director, General Manager Assistant, Head of 

the General Affairs Department and Head of the Contract 
Audit Department 

Supervisors   
Mr. JI Shengrong (吉聖榮) ........................   57 Chairman of the Supervisory Committee 
Ms. HAN Lei (韓蕾) ..................................   37 Supervisor and Head of Finance Department 
Ms. JIA Aihua (賈愛華) ............................   44 Supervisor 
Mr. YU Li (于力) .......................................   39 Employee Representative Supervisor, Head of Asset 

Management Department and Deputy Head of Finance 
Department  

Ms. Ding Yuehua (丁月華)........................   40 Employee Representative Supervisor and Head of 
Industrial Planning Department 

Senior Management   
Mr. ZHANG Youfeng (張由鳳) ................   51 Chairman 
Mr. YANG Bin (楊鑌) ...............................   46 Director and General Manager 
Mr. HANG Xiang (杭祥) ...........................   54 Director, Deputy General Manager and Financial Officer 
 
DIRECTORS 

Mr. ZHANG Youfeng (張由鳳), aged 51, is currently the chairman of the Guarantor. Mr. Zhang also serves as 
the chairman of Taizhou Pharmaceutical High-tech Industrial Investment Co. Ltd (泰州醫藥高新技術產業投資

發展有限公司). Mr. Zhang embarked on his career in 1989 and has successively served as the deputy head of 
the Integrated Management Department and office manager of Taizhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd. (泰州市

交通產業集團有限公司), as the chairman of Taizhou Taizheng Energy Co., Ltd. (泰州市泰政能源有限公司), 
as the chairman of Jiangsu Jinling Construction Development Co., Ltd. (江蘇金領建設發展有限公司), and as 
the member of the Committee of the Communist Party of China of Taizhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd. Mr. 
Zhang holds a bachelor's degree. 

Mr. YANG Bin (楊鑌), aged 46, is currently a director and general manager of the Guarantor. Mr. Yang also 
serves as a director and general manager of Taizhou Pharmaceutical High-tech Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. 
Mr. Yang embarked on his career in 1995 and has successively served as the deputy director and director of real 
estate administration office of Gaogang District, as the office manager, assistant director, member of the 
Committee of the Communist Party of China and deputy director of construction bureau of Gaogang District, as 
the member of party work committee and director of planning and construction bureau of Gaogang High-tech 
Development Zone, as the member of party work committee, deputy director of management committee and 
director of planning and construction bureau of Taizhou Port Economic Development Zone. Mr. Yang holds a 
bachelor's degree. 

Mr. HANG Xiang (杭祥), aged 54, is currently a director, deputy general manager and financial officer of the 
Guarantor. Mr. Hang also serves as a director, executive deputy general manager and financial officer of Taizhou 
Pharmaceutical High-tech Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Hang embarked on his career in 1988 and has 
successively served as the head of the Hehuachi branch, manager of branch-level Preservation Department and 
head of the Guoqing North Road branch, of the Bank of Communications (交通銀行), and as the director of 
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corporate planning for Shanghai Jinruida Assets Management Co., Ltd. (上海金瑞達資產管理股份有限公司) 
and chief investment officer of Taizhou Dongfang Chinese Medicine City Holding Group Co., Ltd. (泰州東方中

國醫藥城控股集團有限公司). Mr. Hang holds a bachelor's degree. 

Mr. WANG Jianhui (王建慧), aged 42, is currently a director of the Guarantor. Mr. Wang also serves as the 
head of the Projects Department of the Guarantor. Mr. Wang embarked on his career in 2003 and has 
successively served for Jiangsu First Construction & Installation Engineering Co., Ltd. (江蘇第一 建築安裝工

程有限公司), as the legal representative and general manager of Taizhou Huicheng Structural Material Co., Ltd. 
(泰州惠誠結構材料有限公司) and as the deputy head of the Projects Department of the Guarantor. Mr. Wang 
holds a bachelor's degree. 

Ms. WU Zhilan (吳志蘭), aged 38, is currently an employee director of the Guarantor. Ms. Wu also serves as 
the general manager assistant, the head of the General Affairs Department and head of the Contract Audit 
Department of the Guarantor. Ms. Wu embarked her career in 2005 and has successively served as a staff 
member and later a deputy director of the governmental office at Taizhou Higher Education Investment 
Development Co., Ltd. (泰州高教投資發展有限公司 ) and as the deputy head of the General Affairs 
Department of the Guarantor. Ms. Wu holds a bachelor's degree. 

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 

The supervisory committee of the Guarantor consists of five members, one of whom as chairman of the 
committee. 

Mr. JI Shengrong (吉聖榮), aged 57, is currently the chairman of the supervisory committee of the Guarantor. 
Mr. Ji graduated from Anhui University of Technology, majoring in industrial and civil construction and has 
successively served as a construction and quality technician, project technical leader and project manager of 
Daqing Ethylene Chemical Plant under Taixing Seventh Jian'an Company (泰興第七建安公司駐大慶乙烯化工

總廠), as the technical leader and project manager of Daqing Ethylene Chemical Plant under Taixing Third 
Jian'an Company (泰興第三建安公司駐大慶乙烯化工總廠), as the technical leader and project manager of 
Hulun Buir League Technical Department under Taixing Third Jian'an Company (泰兴第三建安公司驻呼伦贝

尔盟工程处), as the officer-in-charge of the Operation Department and the Technology Department of Jiangsu 
Steel Construction Co., Ltd. (江蘇一建鋼結構件有限公司) and as the manager of the Project Department of 
Taizhou Huasheng Investment Development Co., Ltd. (泰州華盛投資開發有限公司). Mr. Ji holds a bachelor's 
degree. 

Ms. HAN Lei (韓蕾), aged 37, is currently a supervisor and head of the Finance Department of the Guarantor. 
Ms. Han graduated from College of Economics and Management of Nanjing University of Aeronautics and 
Astronautics, major in accounting.  Ms. Han embarked on her career in 2005 and has successively served a cash 
accounting position, deputy head of the Finance Department of the Guarantor. Ms. Han holds a bachelor's degree. 

Ms. JIA Aihua (賈愛華 ), aged 44, is currently a supervisor of the Guarantor and head of the Finance 
Department of Taizhou Huasheng Investment Development Co., Ltd. (泰州華盛投資開發有限公司). Ms. Jia 
embarked on her career in 1995 and has successively served as a cashier of the Finance Department of De Feng 
Clayton, Taizhou City (泰州市德鋒克萊頓), as a cost accounting position and later as the general ledger 
accounting supervisor in the Finance Department of Taizhou Modern Agricultural Equipment Co., Ltd. (泰州現

代農業裝備有限公司), as a cashier and in a cost accounting position of Jiangsu Hualian Oriental Properties 
Limited (江蘇華聯東方置業有限公司), and as the finance officer of Taizhou Kaitai Real Estate Development 
Co., Ltd. (泰州開泰房地產開發有限公司). Ms. Jia holds a college degree. 

Mr. YU Li (于力), aged 39, is currently an employee representative supervisor, head of the Asset Management 
Department and deputy head of the Finance Department of the Guarantor. Mr. Yu embarked on her career in 
2003 and has successively served as at the software maintenance engineer of Taizhou Gold Abacus Financial 
Software Company ( 泰州金算盤財務軟件公司 ), as the accountant of Jiangsu Sanxing Machinery 
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (江蘇三星機械製造有限公司) and as the general ledger accountant of Taizhou 
Huasheng Investment Development Co., Ltd. (泰州華盛投資開發有限公司). Mr. Yu holds a college degree. 
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Ms. DING Yuehua (丁月華), aged 40, is currently an employee representative supervisor and the head of 
Industrial Planning Department of the Guarantor. Ms. Ding has successively served as a clerk of the General 
Affairs Department and assistant financial advisor of the Guarantor, as the deputy director of the General Affairs 
Department and assistant financial advisor of Taizhou Huasheng Investment Development Co., Ltd. (泰州華盛

投資開發有限公司), and as the head of Fund Planning Department of the Guarantor. Ms. Ding holds a 
bachelor's degree. 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Mr. ZHANG Youfeng (張由鳳), is the chairman of the Guarantor. See "Directors" for his biography. 

Mr. YANG Bin (楊鑌), is a director and general manager of the Guarantor. See "Directors" for his biography. 

Mr. HANG Xiang (杭祥), is a director, deputy general manager and financial officer of the Guarantor. See 
"Directors" for his biography. 
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TAXATION 

The following summary of certain tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Bonds is 
based upon applicable laws, regulations, rulings and decisions in effect as at the date of this Information 
Memorandum, all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect). This discussion does not 
purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to 
purchase, own or dispose of the Bonds and does not purport to deal with consequences applicable to all 
categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules. Neither these statements nor any other 
statements in this Information Memorandum are to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any holder of the 
Bonds or any persons acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing in the Bonds or on any tax implications arising 
from the acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect of the Bonds. Persons considering the purchase of the 
Bonds should consult their own tax advisers concerning the possible tax consequences of buying, holding or 
selling any Bonds under the laws of their country of citizenship, residence or domicile. 

PRC TAXATION 

The following summary accurately describes the principal PRC tax consequences of ownership of the Bonds by 
beneficial owners who, or which, are not residents of PRC for the PRC tax purposes. These beneficial owners are 
referred to as non-resident Bondholders in this “PRC Taxation” section. In considering whether to invest in the 
Bonds, investors should consult their individual tax advisers with regard to the application of PRC tax laws to 
their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any other tax jurisdiction. 
Reference is made to PRC taxes from the taxable year beginning on or after 1 January 2008. 

Income Tax and Value-Added Tax 

Pursuant to the EIT Law and its implementation regulations, enterprises that are established under laws of 
foreign countries and regions (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) but whose “de facto management 
body” are within the territory of PRC are treated as PRC tax resident enterprises for the purpose of the EIT Law 
and must pay PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 25 per cent. in respect of their taxable income. Although 
the rules are not entirely clear, dividends from a PRC tax resident enterprise should be excluded from the taxable 
income of a recipient that is also a PRC tax resident enterprise. In addition, a circular issued by SAT on April 22, 
2009 specifies that certain offshore enterprises controlled by a PRC company or a PRC company group will be 
classified as resident enterprises if the following are located or resident in the PRC: senior management 
personnel and departments that are responsible for daily production, operation and management; financial and 
personnel decision-making bodies; key properties, accounting books, the company seal, and minutes of board 
meetings and shareholders meetings; and half or more of the senior management or directors having voting 
rights. If relevant PRC tax authorities decide, in accordance with applicable tax rules and regulations, that the 
“de facto management body” of the Issuer is within the territory of PRC, the Issuer may be treated as a PRC tax 
resident enterprise for the purpose of the EIT Law, and the Issuer may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax at 
the rate of 25 per cent. on its taxable income. 

As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Issuer has not been notified or informed by the PRC tax 
authorities that it is considered as a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purpose of the EIT Law. However, there 
can be no assurance that the Issuer will not be treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise under the EIT Law and 
related implementation regulations in the future. Pursuant to the EIT Law and its implementation regulations, 
any non-resident enterprise without an establishment within the PRC or whose income has no connection to its 
establishment inside the PRC must pay enterprise income tax on income sourced within the PRC, and such 
income tax must be withheld at source by the PRC payer. Accordingly, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC tax 
resident enterprise by the PRC tax authorities, the Issuer may be required to withhold income tax from the 
payments of interest in respect of the Bonds to any non-PRC Bondholder, and gain from the disposition of the 
Bonds may be subject to PRC tax, if the income or gain is treated as PRC-source. The tax rate is generally 10 per 
cent. for non-resident enterprise Bondholders and 20 per cent. in the case of non-resident individuals, unless an 
applicable tax treaty provides otherwise. The Issuer has agreed to pay additional amounts to Bondholders, 
subject to certain exceptions, so that they would receive the full amount of the scheduled payment, as further set 
out in the Conditions. 

In addition, as the Guarantor is currently regarded as a PRC tax resident enterprise, if the Issuer is not able to 
make payments under the Bonds and the Guarantor fulfils the payment obligations under the Guarantee, the 
Guarantor must withhold PRC income tax on payments with respect to the interest accrued on the Bonds to non-
resident enterprise holders generally at the rate of 10 per cent. (and possibly at a rate of 20 per cent. in the case of 
payments to non-resident individual holders), unless any applicable tax treaty provides otherwise. 
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On 23 March 2016, the MOF and the SAT issued Circular 36 which confirms that business tax will be 
completely replaced by VAT from 1 May 2016. Since then, the income derived from the provision of financial 
services which attracted business tax will be entirely replaced by, and subject to, VAT. 

According to Circular 36, the entities and individuals providing the services within the PRC shall be subject to 
VAT. The services are treated as being provided within the PRC where either the service provider or the service 
recipient is located in the PRC. The services subject to VAT include the provision of financial services such as 
the provision of loans. It is further clarified under Circular 36 that the “loans” refers to the activity of lending 
capital for another’s use and receiving the interest income thereon. Based on the definition of “loans” under 
Circular 36, the issuance of Bonds is likely to be treated as the holders of the Bonds providing loans to the 
Issuer, which thus shall be regarded as financial services subject to VAT. Thus, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC 
tax resident enterprise by the PRC tax authorities, the payments of the interest and other interest like earnings 
may be subject to VAT at the rate of 6 per cent. Further, the payments of the interest by the Guarantor in the 
event that the Guarantor is required to discharge its obligations under the Guarantee will also be subject to VAT. 

Where a holder of the Bonds who is an entity or individual located outside of the PRC resells the Bonds to an 
entity or individual located outside of the PRC and derives any gain, since neither the service provider nor the 
service recipient is located in the PRC, theoretically Circular 36 does not apply and the Issuer does not have the 
obligation to withhold the VAT or the local levies. However, there is uncertainty as to the applicability of VAT if 
either the seller or buyer of Bonds is located inside the PRC. 

Circular 36 has been issued quite recently, the above statement may be subject to further change upon the 
issuance of further clarification rules and/or different interpretation by the competent tax authority. There is 
uncertainty as to the application of Circular 36. 

Pursuant to the EIT Law and the VAT reform detailed above, if the Issuer is regarded as a PRC tax resident 
enterprise, it shall withhold EIT (should such tax apply) from the payments of interest in respect of the Bonds for 
any non-PRC-resident Bondholder and the Issuer shall withhold VAT (should such tax apply) from the payments 
of interest in respect of the Bonds for any Bondholders located outside of the PRC. However, in the event that 
the Issuer is required to make such a deduction or withholding (whether by way of EIT, VAT or otherwise), the 
Issuer has agreed to pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts 
after such withholding or deduction as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction 
been required. For more information, see “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Taxation”. 

However, despite the withholding of the PRC tax by the Issuer as mentioned above, the Issuer has agreed to 
increase the amounts paid by it to the extent required, so that the net amount received by Bondholders equals the 
amounts which would otherwise have been receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been 
required, as further set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds – Taxation”. 

Stamp Duty 

No PRC stamp duty will be imposed on non-PRC Bondholders either upon issuance of the Bonds or upon a 
subsequent transfer of Bonds to the extent that the register of holders of the Bonds is maintained outside the PRC 
and the issuance and the sale of the Bonds is made outside of the PRC. 

HONG KONG TAXATION 

Withholding Tax 

No withholding tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of payments of principal (including any premium 
payable on redemption of the Bonds) or interest on the Bonds or in respect of any capital gains arising from the 
sale of the Bonds. 

Profits Tax 

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong in 
respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or business (excluding 
profits arising from the sale of capital assets). 



 

 88 

Under the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong (the “IRO”), as it is currently applied in the 
Inland Revenue Department, interest on the Bonds may be deemed to be profit arising in or derived from Hong 
Kong from a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances: 

(a) Interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a corporation carrying 
on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong; 

(b) Interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a person, other than a 
corporation (such as a partnership), carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and is in 
respect of the funds of the trade, profession or business; 

(c) Interest on the Bonds is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the IRO) and arises 
through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong, notwithstanding 
that the money in respect of which the interest is received or accrues are made available outside Hong 
Kong; or 

(d) interest on the Bonds is received by or accrues to a corporation, other than a financial institution, and 
arises through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing 
business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO), even if the money in respect of which the 
interest is received or accrues are made available outside Hong Kong. 

Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or from the 
carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal or redemption of the 
Bonds will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. Sums received by or accrued to a corporation, other than a 
financial institution, by way of gains or profits arising through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the 
corporation of its intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO) from the sale, 
disposal or other redemption of Securities will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. 

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of the Bonds will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax where 
received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, who carries on a trade, profession or 
business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source unless otherwise exempted. The source of such 
sums will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in which the Bonds are acquired and disposed 
of. 

In certain circumstances, Hong Kong profits tax exemptions (such as concessionary tax rates) may be available. 
Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisers to ascertain the applicability of any exemptions to their 
individual position. 

Stamp duty 

No Hong Kong stamp duty will be chargeable upon the issue or transfer of the Bonds. 
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL FORM 

The Global Certificate contains provisions which apply to the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is 
issued, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds set out in this Information 
Memorandum. Terms defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds have the same meaning in the 
paragraphs below. The following is a summary of those provisions: 

The Bonds will be represented by the Global Certificate in registered form, which will be registered in the name 
of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream. 

Under the Global Certificate, the Issuer, for value received, promises to pay such principal and interest on the 
Bonds to the holder of the Bonds on such date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the 
Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, save that the calculation is made in respect of the total aggregate amount of 
the Bonds represented by the Global Certificate. So long as the Bonds are represented by a Global Certificate 
and the relevant Global Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, the Issuer has promised, inter alia, to 
pay interest in respect of such Bonds from the Issue Date in arrear at the rates, on the dates for payment, and in 
accordance with the method of calculation provided for in the Terms and Conditions, save that the calculation is 
made in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Bonds represented by such Global Certificate together with 
such other sums and additional amounts (if any) as may be payable under the Conditions, in accordance with the 
Conditions. 

Owners of interests in the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued will be entitled to have title 
to the Bonds registered in their names and to receive individual definitive Certificates if either Euroclear or 
Clearstream or any other clearing system selected by the Issuer and approved in writing by the Trustee, the 
Principal Paying Agent and the Registrar through which the Bonds are held (an “Alternative Clearing System”) 
is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or 
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. In such circumstances, 
the Issuer will cause sufficient individual definitive Certificates to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for 
completion, authentication and despatch to the relevant holders of the Bonds. A person with an interest in the 
Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued must provide the Registrar not less than 30 days’ 
notice at its specified office of such holder’s intention to effect such exchange and a written order containing 
instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and 
deliver such individual definitive Certificates. 

Payment 

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, each payment in respect of the Global Certificate 
will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on 
the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the due date for such payments, where “Clearing 
System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 25 December and 1 January. 

Trustee’s Powers 

In considering the interests of the Bondholders whilst the Global Certificate is registered in the name of a 
nominee for a clearing system, the Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in the 
circumstances, but without being obliged to do so, (a) have regard to any information as may have been made 
available to it by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system or its operator as to the identity of its 
accountholders (either individually or by way of category) with entitlements in respect of the Bonds and (b) may 
consider such interests on the basis that such account holders were the holder of the Bonds in respect of which 
such Global Certificate is issued. 

Notices 

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of 
Euroclear or Clearstream or any Alternative Clearing System, notices to holders of the Bonds shall be given by 
delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or such Alternative Clearing System, for 
communication by it to accountholders entitled to an interest in the Bonds in substitution for notification as 
required by the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds. 
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Bondholder’s Redemption 

The Bondholder’s redemption option in Condition 7(c) may be exercised by the holder of the Global Certificate 
giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent of the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which the option is 
exercised within the time limits specified in the Conditions. 

Transfers 

Transfers of interests in the Bonds represented by the Global Certificate will be effected through the records of 
Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective participants in accordance 
with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their 
respective direct and indirect participants. 

Cancellation 

Cancellation of any Bond by the Issuer following its redemption or purchase by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any 
of their subsidiaries will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Bonds in the register of the 
Bondholders. 

Meetings 

For the purposes of any meeting of Bondholders, the holder of the Bonds represented by the Global Certificate 
shall (unless the Global Certificate represents only one Bond) be treated as two persons for the purposes of any 
quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and as being entitled to one vote in respect of each 
U.S.$1,000 in principal amount of the Bonds. 



 

 91 

PLACEMENT AND SALE 

The Issuer and the Guarantor have entered into a placing and subscription agreement, among others, with the 
Placing Agents dated 27 January 2021 (the “Placing Agreement”), pursuant to which and subject to certain 
conditions contained therein, the Issuer has agreed to sell to the investors identified by the Placing Agents, and 
the Placing Agents has agreed to facilitate the subscription and payment for the aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds. 

The Placing Agreement provides that the obligations of the Placing Agents are subject to certain conditions 
precedent, and entitles the Placing Agents to terminate it in certain circumstances prior to payment being made by 
such investor to the Issuer and the Bonds being issued. 

General 

The distribution of this Information Memorandum or any offering material and the offering, sale or delivery of 
the Bonds is restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Therefore, persons who may come into possession of this 
Information Memorandum or any offering material are advised to consult their own legal advisers as to what 
restrictions may be applicable to them and to observe such restrictions. This Information Memorandum may not 
be used for the purpose of an offer or invitation in any circumstances in which such offer or invitation is not 
authorised. 

United States 

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold 
within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act. Each of the Placing Agents has represented and warranted that it has not 
offered or sold, and has agreed that it will not offer or sell, any of the Bonds constituting part of its allotment 
within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. 
Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in 
any directed selling efforts with respect to the Bonds. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to 
them by Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Each of the Placing Agents has represented and agreed that neither it nor any of their respective affiliates (as 
defined in Rule 501(b) of Regulation D under the Securities Act (“Regulation D”)), nor any person acting on its 
or their behalf, has engaged or will engage in any form of general solicitation or general advertising (within the 
meaning of Regulation D) in connection with any offer and sale of the Bonds in the United States. 

United Kingdom 

Each of the Placing Agents has represented, warranted and agreed that: 

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 
Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”)) received by it in connection 
with the issue or sale of any Bonds in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply 
to the Issuer; and 

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done 
by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

Hong Kong 

Each of the Placing Agents has represented, warranted and agreed that: 

(a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Bonds 
other than (i) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of 
Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in 
the document being a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong or which do not constitute an offer to the public within 
the meaning of that Ordinance; and 
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(b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its 
possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation 
or document relating to the Bonds, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed 
or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) 
other than with respect to the Bonds which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside 
Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 
571) of Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance. 

Singapore 

Each of the Placing Agents has acknowledged that this Information Memorandum has not been and will not be 
registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each of the Placing Agents has 
represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Bonds or caused such Bonds to be made the subject of 
an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell such Bonds or cause such Bonds to be made 
the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate 
or distribute, this Information Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or 
sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Bonds, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in 
Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 
289 of Singapore (the “SFA”), (ii) to a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to 
Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275, of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise 
pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA. 

Where the Bonds are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is: 

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business 
of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, 
each of whom is an accredited investor; or 

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and 
each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor, 

securities (as defined in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest 
(howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust 
has acquired the Bonds pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA, except: 

(i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to any 
person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA; 

(ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer; 

(iii) where the transfer is by operation of law; or 

(iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA. 

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with the SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital 
Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has determined, 
and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Bonds are 
“prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment 
Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice 
FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). 

Japan 

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan 
(Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”). Accordingly, each of the 
Placing Agents has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, 
directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Bonds in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which 
term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under 
the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, 
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any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in 
compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. 

The People’s Republic of China 

Each of the Placing Agents has agreed that the offer of the Bonds is not an offer of securities within the meaning 
of the PRC Securities Law or other pertinent laws and regulations of the PRC and the Bonds are not being 
offered or sold and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the People’s Republic of China (for such 
purposes, not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), except as 
permitted by the securities laws of the People’s Republic of China. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

Clearing Systems: The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream under 
Common Code 228197955 and ISIN XS2281979554. 

Authorisations: The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with 
the issue and performance of its obligations under the Bonds, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. The 
issue of the Bonds was authorised by resolutions of the sole director of the Issuer on 12 January 2021. The 
Guarantor has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the giving and 
performance of its obligations under the Deed of Guarantee, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. The 
giving of the Guarantee was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of the Guarantor on 24 August 
2020. 

No Material Adverse Change: Save as disclosed in this Information Memorandum, there has been no material 
adverse change, or any development or event likely to involve a prospective change, in the condition (financial 
or otherwise), prospects, properties, results of operations, business or general affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor 
or the Group since 30 June 2020. 

Litigation: Save as disclosed in this Information Memorandum, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other 
member of the Group is not involved in any litigation or arbitration proceedings that the Issuer or Guarantor 
believes are material in the context of the Bonds and the giving of the Guarantee, and so far as the Issuer and the 
Guarantor are aware, no such proceedings are pending or threatened. 

Available Documents: So long as any of the Bonds is outstanding, copies of the following documents will be 
available for inspection from the Issue Date upon prior written request and satisfactory proof of holding and 
identity at all reasonable times during usual business hours at the registered office of the Issuer and, in the case 
of last three documents mentioned below, at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent (currently at 
Citibank, N.A., London Branch, c/o Citibank, Dublin, Ground Floor, 1 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Ireland) and 
the registered office of the Issuer: 

• the articles of association of the Issuer and the Guarantor; 

• the Guarantor’s Audited Consolidated Financial Statements; 

• Standby Letter of Credit; 

• the Trust Deed; 

• the Deed of Guarantee; and 

• the Agency Agreement. 

 
Financial Statements: The Guarantor’s audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended 
31 December 2018 and 2019, which are included elsewhere in this Information Memorandum, have been audited 
by Da Hua Certified Public Accountants as stated in its report appearing herein. The Guarantor’s unaudited but 
reviewed consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2020, 
which are included elsewhere in this Information Memorandum, have been reviewed by Da Hua Certified Public 
Accountants, the Guarantor’s independent auditor, as stated in its report appearing herein.  

LC Bank Financial Statements: Copies of the latest annual report and interim report of the LC Bank, as well as 
its public filings, can be downloaded free of charge from the website of Shanghai Stock Exchange on the internet 
at http://english.sse.com.cn/. No representation, express or implied, is made by the Placing Agents, the Trustee or 
the Agents, and none of them takes any responsibility, for the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of any 
information available on such website. 

LEI: The legal entity identifier number of the Issuer is 30030085UOD266TW8E23. 

Listing: Application will be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the listing of the Bonds by way of debt 
issues to Professional Investors only and such permission is expected to become effective on 1 February 2021. 

http://english.sse.com.cn/
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APPENDIX A – FORM OF IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 

FM: BANK OF JIANGSU CO., LTD. TAIZHOU BRANCH (SWIFT: BOJSCNBNXXX) 

ADDRESS: NO. 10 DONGJIN EAST ROAD 
TAIZHOU CITY, JIANGSU PROVINCE  
CHINA 

ISSUE DATE: 29 JANUARY 2021 

TO BENEFICIARY: CITICORP INTERNATIONAL LIMITED. (THE “TRUSTEE”) IN ITS CAPACITY AS 
TRUSTEE FOR AND ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND THE HOLDERS (THE “BONDHOLDERS”) OF THE 
USD60,000,000 2.6 PER CENT. CREDIT ENHANCED BONDS DUE 2024 (THE “BONDS”) TO BE ISSUED 
BY HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED (THE “ISSUER”) AND TO BE 
CONSTITUTED BY A TRUST DEED DATED ON 29 JANUARY 2021 (THE “ISSUE DATE”) AMONG THE 
ISSUER, TAIZHOU HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL INVESTMENT CO., LTD. (THE “COMPANY”) AND 
THE TRUSTEE (AS AMENDED AND/OR SUPPLEMENTED AND/OR MODIFIED FROM TIME TO TIME, 
THE “TRUST DEED”). 

DEAR SIRS, 

RE: OUR IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. [NUMBER] 

AT THE REQUEST OF OUR CUSTOMER, THE COMPANY, WE, BANK OF JIANGSU CO., LTD. 
TAIZHOU BRANCH (THE “ISSUING BANK,” “OUR,” “US” OR “WE”), HEREBY ISSUE OUR 
IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. [NUMBER] IN YOUR FAVOUR, AND FOR THE 
ACCOUNT OF THE ISSUER, IN RESPECT OF AND IN CONNECTION WITH THE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS SCHEDULED TO THE TRUST DEED (THE “CONDITIONS”) AND THE 
TRUST DEED. THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IS MADE AVAILABLE BY US 
FOR PAYMENT AGAINST OUR RECEIPT OF A DEMAND SUBSTANTIALLY IN THE FORM SET OUT 
IN APPENDIX A-1 PRESENTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF 
CREDIT (A “DEMAND”) STATING THAT (1) THE ISSUER HAS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH 
CONDITION 4(B) OF THE CONDITIONS (THE “PRE-FUNDING CONDITION”) IN RELATION TO PRE-
FUNDING THE AMOUNT THAT IS REQUIRED TO BE PRE-FUNDED UNDER THE CONDITIONS 
AND/OR FAILED TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED CONFIRMATIONS (AS DEFINED IN THE 
CONDITIONS) IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PRE-FUNDING CONDITION OR (2) AN EVENT OF 
DEFAULT (AS DEFINED IN THE CONDITIONS) HAS OCCURRED AND THE BENEFICIARY, AS 
TRUSTEE FOR ITSELF AND THE BONDHOLDERS, HAS GIVEN NOTICE TO THE ISSUER THAT THE 
BONDS ARE IMMEDIATELY DUE AND PAYABLE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OR (3) 
THE ISSUER HAS FAILED TO PAY THE FEES, COSTS, EXPENSES AND/OR OTHER AMOUNTS IT IS 
OBLIGED TO PAY UNDER THE CONDITIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE BONDS, THE TRUST 
DEED, THE AGENCY AGREEMENT (AS DEFINED IN THE TRUST DEED) AND/OR ANY OTHER 
TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS RELATING TO THE BONDS WHEN DUE AND SUCH FAILURE HAS 
CONTINUED FOR A PERIOD OF SEVEN DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE TRUSTEE DELIVERING ITS 
DEMAND THEREFOR TO THE ISSUER. 

SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, WE 
UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY UNDERTAKE TO YOU THAT, ON AND AFTER THE ISSUE 
DATE AND FOLLOWING RECEIPT BY US OF A DEMAND BY 6:00 P.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON A 
BUSINESS DAY, WE SHALL BY 10:00 A.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON THE FOURTH BUSINESS DAY 
AFTER THE BUSINESS DAY ON WHICH WE RECEIVE SUCH DEMAND (OR IF SUCH DEMAND IS 
RECEIVED AFTER 6:00 P.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON A BUSINESS DAY, THEN ON THE FIFTH 
BUSINESS DAY AFTER THE BUSINESS DAY ON WHICH WE RECEIVE SUCH DEMAND), PAY TO OR 
TO THE ORDER OF THE BENEFICIARY THE AMOUNT IN U.S. DOLLARS SPECIFIED IN THE 
DEMAND TO THE ACCOUNT SPECIFIED IN THE DEMAND. “BUSINESS DAY” MEANS A DAY 
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(OTHER THAN A SATURDAY, A SUNDAY OR A PUBLIC HOLIDAY) ON WHICH BANKS AND 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKETS ARE OPEN FOR BUSINESS IN HONG KONG, BEIJING, NEW YORK 
CITY AND LONDON. 

OUR AGGREGATE LIABILITY UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL 
BE EXPRESSED AND PAYABLE IN U.S. DOLLARS AND SHALL NOT IN ANY CIRCUMSTANCES 
EXCEED USD61,780,000 (THE “MAXIMUM LIMIT”), AN AMOUNT REPRESENTING ONLY (I) THE 
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE BONDS PLUS INTEREST PAYABLE FOR ONE INTEREST 
PERIOD (BEING SIX MONTHS) IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS AND (II) USD1,000,000 
BEING THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT PAYABLE UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF 
CREDIT FOR ANY FEES, COSTS, EXPENSES, INDEMNITY PAYMENTS AND ALL OTHER AMOUNTS 
PAYABLE BY THE ISSUER UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE BONDS, THE TRUST DEED, THE 
AGENCY AGREEMENT AND/OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT RELATING TO THE 
BONDS. 

SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, OUR 
OBLIGATION TO PAY TO YOU IS UNCONDITIONAL, IRREVOCABLE AND ABSOLUTE AND ANY 
DEMAND BY YOU UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE 
HONOURED WITHOUT ANY FURTHER ENQUIRY AS TO YOUR RIGHTS TO MAKE SUCH DEMAND. 

THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT TAKES EFFECT FROM THE DATE HEREOF 
AND SHALL REMAIN VALID AND IN FULL FORCE UNTIL 6:00 P.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON 28 
FEBRUARY 2024 (THE “EXPIRY DATE”) AND SHALL EXPIRE AT THE PLACE OF THE ISSUING 
BANK. AFTER THE EXPIRY DATE, OUR LIABILITY UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER 
OF CREDIT WILL BE IMMEDIATELY DISCHARGED RELEASED EXCEPT FOR ANY DEMAND 
VALIDLY PRESENTED UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT BEFORE THE 
EXPIRY DATE THAT REMAINS UNPAID. 

PAYMENT WILL BE EFFECTED AFTER OUR RECEIPT OF A DEMAND PRESENTED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, WHICH IS PRESENTED 
ON OR AFTER THE ISSUE DATE AND ON OR BEFORE 6:00 P.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON THE 
EXPIRY DATE. 

ANY DEMAND UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IS TO BE PRESENTED 
BY WAY OF AN AUTHENTICATED SWIFT PRESENTED BY OR ON BEHALF OF YOU AS TRUSTEE 
FOR THE BONDHOLDERS TO US (SWIFT: BOJSCNBNXXX) ON OR BEFORE 6:00 P.M. (HONG KONG 
TIME) ON THE EXPIRY DATE WITHOUT THE NEED TO PHYSICALLY PRESENT AN ORIGINAL OF 
THAT DEMAND AT OUR COUNTER, PROVIDED THAT IN THE EVENT THAT THE SWIFT SYSTEM IS 
NOT AVAILABLE FOR ANY REASON, YOU (THE BENEFICIARY) MAY INSTEAD PRESENT A COPY 
OF THE DEMAND TO US VIA FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION AT +86 523 8681 0072 AND SUCH 
DEMAND SHALL BE SIGNED BY YOU AS TRUSTEE FOR THE BONDHOLDERS AND ACCOMPANIED 
BY A COPY OF A LIST OF AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES OF THE TRUSTEE, FOLLOWED BY A 
STATEMENT VIA AUTHENTICATED SWIFT ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY ON WHICH THE SWIFT 
SYSTEM IS AVAILABLE STATING THAT THE LIST OF AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES PROVIDED IS 
VALID AND EFFECTIVE. IN THE CASE OF A PRESENTATION OF A DEMAND BY WAY OF FACSIMILE 
TRANSMISSION IN THE CIRCUMSTANCE STATED ABOVE, YOU SHALL ARRANGE FOR THE 
ORIGINAL DEMAND TO BE DELIVERED AS SOON AS REASONABLY PRACTICABLE THEREAFTER 
VIA COURIER AT OUR COUNTER AT OUR ADDRESS (AS SPECIFIED ABOVE) DURING OUR 
NORMAL BRANCH OPENING HOURS ON OR AFTER THE ISSUE DATE AND ON OR BEFORE 6:00 
P.M. (HONG KONG TIME) ON THE EXPIRY DATE. FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, THE DEMAND 
SHALL BE RECEIVED FOR ALL PURPOSES OF THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 
AND WE SHALL START PROCESSING THE DEMAND UPON RECEIPT OF THE DEMAND SENT TO US 
BY WAY OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION. 
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ONLY ONE DRAWING UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IS PERMITTED. 

ALL CHARGES ARE FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THE ISSUER AND, FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, 
ARE NOT FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THE BENEFICIARY. 

NOTWITHSTANDING THE MAXIMUM LIMIT, ALL PAYMENTS UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE 
STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE MADE IN U.S. DOLLARS AND FOR VALUE ON THE DATE 
SPECIFIED IN THE DEMAND IN IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE FUNDS WITHOUT ANY DEDUCTION 
OR WITHHOLDING ON ACCOUNT OF TAX, SET-OFF, COUNTER-CLAIM OR OTHERWISE. IN THE 
EVENT THAT ANY DEDUCTION OR WITHHOLDING IS REQUIRED BY LAW, THE ISSUING BANK 
SHALL PAY SUCH ADDITIONAL AMOUNTS AS WILL RESULT IN RECEIPT BY THE TRUSTEE FOR 
THE BONDHOLDERS OF SUCH AMOUNTS AS WOULD HAVE BEEN RECEIVED BY IT HAD NO 
SUCH DEDUCTION OR WITHHOLDING BEEN SO REQUIRED BY LAW. 

THE BENEFICIARY’S RIGHTS UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT MAY BE 
TRANSFERRED OR RE-TRANSFERRED IN WHOLE OR IN PART TO ANY ADDITIONAL OR 
REPLACEMENT TRUSTEE APPOINTED AS CONTEMPLATED IN THE TRUST DEED IN RESPECT OF 
THE BONDS SUBJECT ONLY TO AT LEAST 15 DAYS’ NOTICE HAVING BEEN GIVEN TO US BY OR 
ON BEHALF OF YOU AS TRUSTEE FOR THE BONDHOLDERS BY AUTHENTICATED SWIFT, OR IN 
THE EVENT THAT THE SWIFT SYSTEM IS NOT AVAILABLE FOR ANY REASON BY LETTER TO US 
AT OUR ADDRESS (AS SPECIFIED ABOVE), AND ACKNOWLEDGED BY US. WE SHALL PROVIDE 
SUCH ACKNOWLEDGMENT WITHIN 15 BUSINESS DAYS UPON OUR ACTUAL RECEIPT OF SUCH 
NOTICE. MULTIPLE TRANSFERS ARE PERMITTED, SUBJECT TO AS PROVIDED IN THIS 
PARAGRAPH. 

OUR OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITIES UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 
SHALL BE INDEPENDENT. THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IS NOT SUBJECT 
TO ANY CONTRACT, AGREEMENT, CONDITION OR QUALIFICATION. WE MAY NOT TRANSFER, 
ASSIGN OR NOVATE ANY OF OUR OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER 
OF CREDIT. 

NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER 
OF CREDIT AND ARTICLE 36 OF UCP600 (AS DEFINED BELOW), IN THE UNEXPECTED EVENT 
THAT WE ARE CLOSED WHEN YOU WISH TO PRESENT A DEMAND HEREUNDER ON THE DAY 
AND AT THE TIME A DEMAND IS ABLE TO BE PRESENTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS 
IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, WE AGREE THAT YOU CAN PRESENT THE 
DEMAND BY AUTHENTICATED SWIFT OR BY PRESENTING A COPY OF THE DEMAND VIA 
FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION AT +86 523 8681 0072 FROM THE DATE OF OUR RESUMPTION OF OUR 
BUSINESS, PROVIDED THAT IF WE ARE CLOSED ON THE EXPIRY DATE, THE EXPIRY DATE SHALL 
BE AUTOMATICALLY EXTENDED BY, AND SUCH PRESENTATION SHALL BE MADE WITHIN, FIVE 
BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF OUR RESUMPTION OF OUR BUSINESS. WE WILL 
PROMPTLY NOTIFY YOU OF SUCH RESUMPTION OF OUR BUSINESS. IN THE CASE OF A 
PRESENTATION OF A DEMAND BY WAY OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION IN THE CIRCUMSTANCE 
STATED ABOVE, YOU SHALL ARRANGE FOR THE ORIGINAL DEMAND TO BE DELIVERED AS 
SOON AS REASONABLY PRACTICABLE THEREAFTER VIA COURIER AT OUR COUNTER AT OUR 
ADDRESS (AS SPECIFIED ABOVE) DURING OUR NORMAL BRANCH OPENING HOURS. FOR THE 
AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, THE DEMAND SHALL BE RECEIVED FOR ALL PURPOSES OF THIS 
IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT AND WE SHALL START PROCESSING THE DEMAND 
SENT TO US UPON RECEIPT OF THE DEMAND BY WAY OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION. THE 
ABOVE UNEXPECTED EVENT ONLY REFERS TO THE CASE OF FORCE MAJEURE SPECIFIED IN 
ARTICLE 36 OF UCP 600. 

ANY SETTLEMENT OR DISCHARGE BETWEEN US AS ISSUING BANK AND YOU AS TRUSTEE FOR 
THE BONDHOLDERS AND BENEFICIARY SHALL BE CONDITIONAL UPON NO PAYMENT TO YOU 
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BY THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER PERSON ON THE ISSUER’S BEHALF BEING AVOIDED (BY VIRTUE 
OF ANY LAWS OR REGULATIONS RELATING TO BANKRUPTCY, INSOLVENCY, RECEIVERSHIP, 
LIQUIDATION OR SIMILAR LAWS OF GENERAL APPLICATION FOR THE TIME BEING IN FORCE) 
AND, IN THE EVENT OF ANY SUCH PAYMENT BEING SO AVOIDED, YOU SHALL BE ENTITLED TO 
RECOVER THE AMOUNT BY WHICH SUCH PAYMENT IS SO AVOIDED FROM US SUBSEQUENTLY 
AS IF SUCH SETTLEMENT OR DISCHARGE HAD NOT OCCURRED. 

EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT IT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THIS 
IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 
IS SUBJECT TO THE UNIFORM CUSTOMS AND PRACTICE FOR DOCUMENTARY CREDITS (2007 
REVISION), INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE PUBLICATION NO. 600 (“UCP600”). 

THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT, AND ANY NON-CONTRACTUAL 
OBLIGATIONS ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH IT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND 
SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, HONG KONG LAW. NO PERSON SHALL HAVE 
ANY RIGHT TO ENFORCE ANY TERM OF THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 
UNDER THE CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ORDINANCE (CAP. 623). WE AGREE THAT 
(1) THE COURTS OF HONG KONG SHALL HAVE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION TO SETTLE ANY 
DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF 
CREDIT AND (2) THAT THE COURTS OF HONG KONG ARE THE MOST APPROPRIATE AND 
CONVENIENT COURTS TO SETTLE ANY DISPUTE AND, ACCORDINGLY, THAT WE WILL NOT 
ARGUE THAT ANY OTHER COURTS ARE MORE APPROPRIATE OR CONVENIENT. IN CASE OF ANY 
DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF 
CREDIT, WE HAVE APPOINTED COGENCY GLOBAL (HK) LIMITED AT UNIT B, 1/F, LIPPO 
LEIGHTON TOWER, 103 LEIGHTON ROAD, CAUSEWAY BAY, HONG KONG AS OUR AGENT FOR 
SERVICE OF PROCESS. IF FOR ANY REASON SUCH AGENT SHALL CEASE TO ACT, WE WILL 
PROMPTLY APPOINT A SUBSTITUTE PROCESS AGENT AND NOTIFY THE BENEFICIARY OF SUCH 
APPOINTMENT WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SUCH CESSATION. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL AFFECT THE 
RIGHT TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW. 
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APPENDIX A-1 

FORM OF DEMAND 

To: BANK OF JIANGSU CO., LTD. TAIZHOU BRANCH (SWIFT: BOJSCNBNXXX) 

ADDRESS:  NO. 10 DONGJIN EAST ROAD 
TAIZHOU CITY, JIANGSU PROVINCE  
CHINA 

[DATE] 

Dear Sirs 

RE: DEMAND UNDER THE IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. [NUMBER] IN 
RESPECT OF THE USD60,000,000 2.6 PER CENT. CREDIT ENHANCED BONDS DUE 2024 (THE 
“BONDS”) ISSUED BY HUAXIN PHARMACEUTICAL (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED (THE 
“ISSUER”) 

The undersigned is a duly authorised person of Citicorp International Limited which is hereby making a demand 
on behalf of Citicorp International Limited as Trustee for itself and on behalf of the Bondholders (the 
“Beneficiary”) under your Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.[NUMBER] (the “Irrevocable Standby 
Letter of Credit”). Capitalised terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings given to them in the 
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit. 

1. This Demand is made in connection with the following: 

 The Issuer has failed to comply with Condition 4(b) (the “Pre-Funding Condition”) in relation to 
pre-funding the amount that is required to be pre-funded under the Conditions and/or failed to provide 
the Required Confirmations (as defined in the Conditions) in accordance with the Pre-Funding 
Condition. 

 An Event of Default (as defined in the Conditions) has occurred and the Beneficiary, as Trustee for the 
Bondholders, has given notice to the Issuer that the Bonds are due and payable in accordance with the 
Conditions. 

 The Issuer has failed to pay the fees, costs, expenses, indemnity payments and other amounts it is 
obliged to pay under the Conditions, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or any other 
transaction documents relating to the Bonds when due and such failure has continued for a period of 
seven days from the date of the Trustee delivering its demand therefor to the Issuer in accordance with 
the Conditions. 

2. We hereby demand you to pay USD[AMOUNT] representing the aggregate of (i) interest accrued up to the 
date when the Bonds cease to bear interest pursuant to the Conditions, (ii) the principal amount of the 
outstanding Bonds and (iii) all fees, costs, expenses, indemnity payments and other amounts in connection 
with the Bonds, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or any other transaction documents relating to 
the Bonds which is due and now outstanding. 

3. We hereby request you to pay the above amounts after you receive this Demand in accordance with the 
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit. 

4. The proceeds of the drawing under this Demand are to be credited to the following account: 

[Insert account details]
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FOR AND BEHALF OF 

 
CITICORP INTERNATIONAL LIMITED AS BENEFICIARY 
 
BY: 
 
NAME: 
TITLE: 
 



 

 

ISSUER 

Huaxin Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Limited 
Level 54, Hopewell Centre 

183 Queen's Road East 
Hong Kong 

GUARANTOR 

Taizhou Huaxin Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. 
Commercial Building One 

Yaocheng Road, Hailing District 
Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province 

People's Republic of China 

TRUSTEE 

Citicorp International Limited  
20/ F, Citi Tower, One Bay East 

83 Hoi Bun Road 
Kwun Tong, Kowloon  

Hong Kong 
 

LC PROCEEDS ACCOUNT BANK AND PRE-FUNDING 
ACCOUNT BANK 

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT 

Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 
10/F, Citi Tower, One Bay East 
83 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong 

Kowloon 
Hong Kong 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 
c/o Citibank N.A., Dublin Branch 

1 North Wall Quay 
Dublin 1, Ireland 

 

REGISTRAR 
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	The PRC government has no legal obligations under the Bonds or the Guarantee of the Bonds.
	The LC Bank’s ability to perform its obligations under the Standby Letter of Credit is subject to its financial condition.
	The Standby Letter of Credit is subject to a maximum limit and may not be sufficient to satisfy all payments due under the Standby Letter of Credit.
	The Standby Letter of Credit expires a month after the Maturity Date.


	TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS
	1 FORM, SPECIFIED DENOMINATION AND TITLE
	2 TRANSFERS OF BONDS
	Transfers of interests in the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

	3 GUARANTEE AND STATUS
	4 STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT AND PRE-FUNDING
	Only one drawing is permitted under the Standby Letter of Credit.
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	(ii) Breach of Other Obligations: the Guarantor or the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of their respective obligations under or in respect of the Bonds, the Deed of Guarantee or the Trust Deed (other than those referred to in Co...
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	(iv) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidi...
	(v) Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, created or assumed by the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries in respect of all or any part of its assets becomes en...
	(vi) Insolvency: the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts as and when such debts fall due, stops, suspends or t...
	(vii) Winding-up: an order of any court of competent jurisdiction is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Principal Subsidiaries (except for any voluntary s...
	(viii) Nationalisation: any step is taken by any person acting under the authority of any national, regional or local government with a view to the seizure, compulsory acquisition, expropriation, or nationalisation of all or any part of the assets of ...
	(ix) Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fu...
	(x) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for any of the Guarantor and the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of their respective obligations under any of the Bonds or the Trust Deed or the Deed of Guarantee; or
	(xi) Guarantee: the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect; or
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	(xiii) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of the PRC has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in this Condition 10(a).
	(i) Cross-Default:
	(ii) Security Enforced: a secured party takes possession, or a receiver, manager or other similar officer is appointed, of the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking, assets and revenues of the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries; or
	(iii) Insolvency: (A) the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, (B) an administrator or liquidator is appointed (or application for any such appointment is made) in respect of the...
	(iv) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of the LC Bank or any of its Material Subsidiaries; or
	(v) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of the relevant jurisdiction has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of Conditions 10(b)(ii) to Condition 10(b)(iv) (both inclusive).
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